
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet
26 April 2017

Time 5.00 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Executive

Venue Committee Room 3 - Civic Centre, St Peter's Square, Wolverhampton WV1 1SH

Membership
Chair Cllr Roger Lawrence (Lab)
Vice-chair Cllr Peter Bilson (Lab)

Labour

Cllr Claire Darke
Cllr Steve Evans
Cllr Val Gibson
Cllr Milkinderpal Jaspal
Cllr Andrew Johnson
Cllr John Reynolds
Cllr Sandra Samuels
Cllr Paul Sweet

Quorum for this meeting is five Councillors.

Information for the Public
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the democratic support team:

Contact Philippa Salmon
Tel/Email Tel: 01902 555061 or philippa.salmon@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Address Democratic Support, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square,

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from:

Website https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk
Email democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Tel 01902 555043

Please take note of the protocol for filming, recording, and use of social media in meetings, copies of 
which are displayed in the meeting room.

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public.

https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda
Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title

MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS

1 Apologies for absence 

2 Declaration of interests 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 8)
[For approval]

4 Matters arising 
[To consider any matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting]

DECISION ITEMS (AMBER - DELEGATED TO THE CABINET)

5 Outcome of Children's Services Ofsted Inspection and Ofsted Action Plan 
(Pages 9 - 24)
[To provide an update on the outcome of the recent Ofsted Inspection of Children’s 
Service and present the Action Plan that has been produced in response.]

6 Outcome of the Local Government Association Corporate Peer Review 
(Pages 25 - 58)
[To approve an Action Plan following the recommendations of the recent LGA 
Corporate Peer Review.]

7 Better Care Fund Section 75 Agreement (Pooled Budget 2017-18) & 
Additional Adult Social Care monies announced during the Spring 2017 
Budget statement (Pages 59 - 66)
[To agree to continue the Section 75 Agreement (Pooled Fund) and to delegate 
authority to approve the final terms of the proposed section 75 agreement.]

8 Connected Places Strategy Summary Document (Pages 67 - 96)
[To approve the document as an overarching strategy to inform the design and 
required outputs of all Connected Places projects as they come forward.]

9 Transportation Capital Programme - 2017/18 and future years (Pages 97 - 120)
[To approve a programme of capital funded projects to develop and maintain the 
transportation network for the financial year 2017/18 and future years.]

10 Heath Town Regeneration Project (Pages 121 - 134)
[To approve proposals which will progress the delivery of new build homes for the 
Heath Town project]



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

11 Long Term Empty properties back into use - proposed pilot (Pages 135 - 142)
[To approve proposals for a pilot scheme to further encourage the bringing back 
into use of long term empty residential properties.]

12 Adult Social Care Peer Challenge - Improvement Action Plan (Pages 143 - 
164)
[To agree the finalised Peer Review Action Plan and the final implementation 
stages of the Peer Review.]

13 People Directorate Commissioning Strategy (Pages 165 - 224)
[To agree a period of consultation on the draft commissioning strategy.]

14 Financial Support to Carers of Children Subject to Adoption, Special 
Guardianship or Child Arrangement Orders (Pages 225 - 236)
[To approve proposed changes in allowances for permanent carers for children and 
young people.]

15 Re-organisation of Educational Provision (Pages 237 - 244)
[To approve the commencement of informal consultation regarding the re-
organisation of educational provision.]



This page is intentionally left blank



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Meeting of the Cabinet
Minutes - 22 March 2017

Attendance

Members of the Cabinet

Cllr Roger Lawrence (Chair)
Cllr Peter Bilson (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Claire Darke
Cllr Steve Evans
Cllr Val Gibson
Cllr Milkinderpal Jaspal
Cllr Andrew Johnson
Cllr John Reynolds
Cllr Sandra Samuels
Cllr Paul Sweet

Employees

Keith Ireland         Managing Director
Mark Taylor          Director of Finance
Linda Sanders      Strategic Director for People
Kevin O’Keefe      Director of Governance
Ross Cook            Service Director - City Environment
Tim Clark              Communications Manager
Jaswinder Kaur     Democratic Services Manager
Philippa Salmon    Democratic Services Officer

Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title
1 Apologies for absence

No apologies for absence were received.

2 Declaration of interests
There were no declarations of interest submitted.

3 Minutes of the previous meeting
That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 22 February 2017 be approved as 
a correct record and be signed by the Chair.

4 Matters arising
There were no matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting.

Page 5

Agenda Item No: 3



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5 Approval to widen scope of the Black Country Joint Committee to include the 
Combined Authority and act as accountable body for the Land Remediation 
Fund
Councillor Roger Lawrence presented the report for approval and recommendation to 
Full Council. The proposals were to widen the scope of the Black Country Joint 
Committee, to incorporate the West Midlands Combined Authority into the 
Collaboration Agreement dated 7 May 2014, relating to the City and Growth Deals 
within the Black Country Executive Committee’s remit. Approval was also sought for 
the City of Wolverhampton Council to act as Accountable Body for the first tranche of 
£53 million Combined Authority Strategic Development Programme’s Land 
Remediation Fund to be allocated principally to the Black Country. 

Resolved:

That Council be recommended to:
1. Delegate to the Black Country Executive Joint Committee the power to make 

decisions relating to funding applications into and funding received through or from 
the West Midlands Combined Authority.

2. Approve the widening of the scope of the Black Country Executive Joint 
Committee Constitution by amending the current Annex A - Terms of Reference; 
Functions of Black Country Executive Joint Committee, as revised and included as 
Attachment 1 to the report.

3. Approve entering into the Black Country Executive Joint Committee Collaboration 
Agreement’s Deed of Variation, included as Attachment 2 to the report.

4. Approve the Council acting as Accountable Body for the first tranche of £53 million 
Combined Authority Strategic Development Programme’s Land Remediation Fund 
to be allocated principally to the Black Country (subject to approval by WMCA in 
March 2017) and delegate authority to the Cabinet Member for Resources in 
consultation with the Director of Finance to agree any extension to the role beyond 
the first tranche of funding.

5. Delegate to the Directors of Governance and Finance the drawing up of budgets, 
grant agreements and authorisation of payments to grant recipients subject to 
appropriate due diligence of claims submitted.

6 Budget Adjustment to reflect Adult Social Care Funding
Councillor Andrew Johnson sought approval to adjust the gross expenditure and 
income budgets to reflect additional Adult Social Care funding. The Chancellor had 
announced the new grants in the Spring Budget, the allocation for 2017/18 for the 
City of Wolverhampton Council was £6.402 million. The additional funding was 
welcome and a report would be presented to Cabinet at a later date to outline the 
planned use of the grant to ensure that the short term funding is used in a managed 
way, to create a longer term sustainable Adult Social Care budget.

Resolved:

1. That adjustments to the gross expenditure and income budgets to reflect the 
additional Adult Social Care funding in 2017/18 of £6.402 million be approved.

7 Review of Discretionary Housing Payment Policy
Councillor Andrew Johnson sought approval for a revised local policy for the award 
of Discretionary Housing Payments. Recent welfare reform changes had created 
reductions in benefit payments, including the restriction of Local Housing Allowance 
rates, the removal of the ‘spare room subsidy’ and the benefit cap. These changes Page 6



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

had seen an increased demand for financial assistance, subsequently the 
Government had increased the funding available under the Discretionary Housing 
Payment scheme. This draft policy sought to ensure that the Council’s spending on 
the payments would not exceed the funding available, whilst preserving the core 
aims of an award which was to safeguard vulnerable people and prevent 
homelessness whenever practicable.

Resolved:

1. That the Discretionary Housing Payment policy be approved.

8 Improving Outcomes within the Early Years
Councillor Val Gibson presented the Early Years Strategy for approval, following an 
extensive period of consultation that had shaped and influenced the strategy. The 
Early Years Strategy aimed to improve outcomes for children from conception to age 
five and their families. A number of amendments to the printed Strategy were 
proposed to make changes relating to a school readiness checklist, ensuring all early 
years providers deliver high quality experiences, accurate assessments of children’s 
starting points and appropriate support for children born in the summer months.

Resolved:

1. That the Early Years Strategy be approved, subject to the following amendments:
a. A footnote to be inserted on page 9 of the document to read ‘To support 

parents and practitioners, a school readiness checklist will be developed with 
parents and professionals and published alongside the strategy’

b. Additional text to be inserted on page 19 of the document to read ‘The city 
continues through the work of the early intervention service and the school 
improvement and standards team to ensure that schools, settings, 
childminders and all early year’s providers are delivering high quality early 
years experiences. An example of the excellence and success we strive for 
within all settings is modelled within the city’s seven nursery schools and this 
resource should be utilised to influence and support future developments 
across the range of early education provision. The Ofsted ratings for the city 
continue to rise annually; the figures for all providers within the city 
demonstrate this’.

c. Additional text to be inserted on page 33 to read’ Accurate assessment of 
children’s starting points was based on constant reflection about what was 
deemed typical for each child given their chronological age in months. Where 
we observed this to be most effective, staff entered into frequent discussion, 
within and between providers, to check and agree their judgments. This 
included the frequent sharing of information between parents, other pre-
school setting and health visitors’.

d. A footnote to be inserted on page 33 to read as ‘Particular regard needs to be 
given to those children born in the summer months and the impact this has on 
their development compared to their peers and appropriate support put in 
place to overcome any potential disadvantage’.

9 Community Safety and Harm Reduction Strategy 2017-20
Councillor Paul Sweet presented the refreshed Safer Wolverhampton Partnership 
(SWP) Community Safety and Harm Reduction Strategy 2017-20 for endorsement 
and to support its implementation. There was a statutory requirement for the SWP to 
have a plan in place to reduce crime and improve community safety for the city; the Page 7



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

current strategy expired on 21 March 2017. The strategic priorities had been 
refreshed and focused on reducing re-offending, violence prevention and reducing 
victimisation. The strategy was broad to ensure that there was flexibility to respond to 
emerging areas of concern. It was clarified that the data captured in the strategy was 
specific to people who were LGB (lesbian, gay and bi-sexual) as it had been taken 
from the Office for National Statistics, but locally the data that was captured related 
to people who were LGBT (lesbian, gay, bi-sexual and transgender). An amendment 
to the strategy was requested, to ensure this inclusivity was clear.

Resolved:

1. That the Community Safety and Harm Reduction Strategy 2017-20 be endorsed, 
subject to additional equalities detail regarding LGBT and disabilities and that its 
implementation be supported.

10 The Vision for Education 2030 - Shaping a city of learning
Councillor Claire Darke presented the City of Wolverhampton Council – Vision for 
Education 2030 for approval. The Vision bought together the ambitions of all strands 
of education and across all directorates of the Council. It encompassed the Council’s 
commitment to ensuring that Wolverhampton’s citizens had outstanding opportunities 
at every stage of their education. An addition to the document was requested to 
emphasise the culture of partnership working with academies and free schools.

The Leader extended Cabinet’s appreciation and thanks to Julien Kramer, who would 
be standing down in April from his role as Interim Director of Education.

Resolved:

1. That the City of Wolverhampton Council – Vision for Education 2030 be approved, 
subject to an amendment to emphasise partnership working with academies and 
free schools.

11 Exclusion of press and public
Resolved:

That in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business as 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information relating to any individual, 
information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual and/or information 
relating to the business affairs of any particular person (including the authority 
holding that information).

12 Senior Management Structure 2017
Resolved: 

That the recommendations be agreed as detailed in the exempt minutes.

Page 8



PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Celebrate the ‘Good’ overall judgement from the recent Ofsted Inspection of services for 
children in need of help and protection and note our excellent position in the West 
Midlands and the country.

2. Approve the Ofsted Action Plan which has been produced in response to 
recommendations from the inspection.

Cabinet Meeting
26 April 2017

Report title Outcome of Children’s Services Ofsted Inspection 
and Ofsted Action Plan

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Val Gibson
Children and Young People

Key decision No

In forward plan Yes

Wards affected All

Accountable director Linda Sanders, Strategic Director, People

Originating service Children and Young People

Accountable employee(s) Emma Bennett
Tel
Email

Service Director, Children and Young People
01902 551449
Emma.bennett@wolverhampton.gov.uk

 

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Strategic Executive Board                                 28 March 2017
Executive Team                                                 3 April 2017
Wolverhampton Safeguarding Children Board  21 June 2017

Page 9

Agenda Item No: 5

mailto:Emma.bennett@wolverhampton.gov.uk


PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 2 of 15

1.0 Purpose

1.1 This report provides an update on the outcome of the recent Ofsted inspection of 
services for children in need of help and protection and presents the action plan that has 
been produced in response to the recommendations.
 

2.0 Background

2.1 The Ofsted inspection commenced in Wolverhampton on 16 January 2017. The
inspection lasted for a period of four weeks and finished on 9 February 2017. 

2.2 Ofsted's Single Inspection Framework for inspecting services for children in need of help
and protection and reviewing Local Safeguarding Children Boards was launched in 
November 2013. Wolverhampton’s last inspection took place in June 2011 when the 
Local Authority was judged to be ‘good’ for looked after children and ‘adequate’ in 
relation to safeguarding. All 152 Local Authorities will be inspected under this framework 
by December 2017.  Ofsted are in the process of finalising a new inspection framework 
for children’s social care from 2018 onwards.

2.3 The inspections are conducted under section 136 of the Education and Inspections Act
2006. They focus on the effectiveness of local authority services and arrangements to
help and protect children; and the experiences and progress of children looked after,
including adoption, fostering, the use of residential care and children who return home.
The framework also focuses on the arrangements for permanence for children who are
looked after and the experiences and progress of care leavers. In addition, there is a
judgement on leadership, management and governance which addresses the
effectiveness of leaders and managers, the impact they have on the lives of children
and young people and the quality of professional practice. The inspection provides a 
separate judgement on the effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board.

3.0 Outcome of the Local Authority Inspection

3.1 The Ofsted team were in Wolverhampton over a period of four weeks and during that 
time they met a range of professionals from the local authority and partner agencies.  In 
addition, they met and spoke with a number of young people, parents and foster carers.  
They reviewed in detail 26 case files and met with the allocated social workers for these.  
In addition, the inspectors sampled a high number of case files – over 100, focussing on 
specific areas of work.  A range of information was provided to support our self-
assessment and to evidence the work we are doing in Wolverhampton.  The following 
table sets out the outcome from the inspection:

Children’s Services in Wolverhampton – overall judgement Good
Children who need help and protection Requires Improvement 

to be Good
Children looked after and achieving permanence Good
Adoption Performance Good
Experiences and Progress of Care Leavers Good
Leadership, Management and Governance Good

Page 10



PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 3 of 15

3.2 Putting our ‘Good’ rating into context, we are the second highest performing council 
across the wider West Midlands and so far, the only one in the West Midlands Combined 
Authority (WMCA) that has achieved ‘Good’. 11 of 14 councils in the wider West 
Midlands and six of the seven WMCA councils have now been inspected.

Full details of each of the sub judgements are below for the 14 West Midlands councils 
and the seven West Midlands Combined Authority councils.  Please note that the final 
column has a different status and is the outcome of a review rather than being a core 
determinant of the single inspection framework methodology.

 

Page 11



PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 4 of 15

Wolverhampton is one of 129 out of 152 councils to have been inspected and under the 
current framework in the West Midlands only Staffordshire is ranked higher.  The current 
position in terms of outcomes across the Country is:

Current Rating / 
Position

Number of 
Councils

% of those 
inpsected

% of all 
councils

Outstanding 2 1.6% 1.3%
Good 33 25.8% 21.7%
Requires Improvement 58 45.3% 38.2%
Inadequate 29 22.7% 19.1%
Not Published 7 5.5% 4.6%
Not Inspected 23 N/A 15.1%

3.3 Key headline findings include:
• Senior Managers, leaders and elected members are systematically driving 

improvements in services for children and families
• Corporate leadership is strong and effective
• There is a clear sense of vision and purpose
• The Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub provides a robust and effective service at the 

first point of contact
• Good and sustained improvements have been made across the whole range of 

services for children looked after
• The number of looked after children has been significantly reduced without 

compromising children’s safety
• There is a strong and effective virtual school, delivering positive outcomes for looked 

after children
• The local authority takes its responsibilities as a corporate parent very seriously
• Care leavers receive a good, individualised service which prepares them well for 

independence

Page 12



PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 5 of 15

3.4 In addition to the headline findings outlined above, the inspection report provides detailed 
feedback for each judgement.  This is summarised as follows:

3.4.1 The experiences and progress of children who need help and protection - requires 
improvement to be good
• Reconfiguration of early help services has improved the quality and timeliness of 

information sharing and increased opportunities for joint working
• Strengthening Family Workers are making a real difference in the lives of children and 

families
• Parents talk very positively about the help and support that they receive and the 

difference it makes to their families
• Good partnership working means that children who are at risk of significant harm are 

promptly identified and decisive action is taken to safeguard and protect them
• Thresholds are applied appropriately
• Child Protection Conferences and Core Groups are effective
• Emergency Duty Team is well resourced and provides an effective out of hours’ 

service 
• Arrangements to safeguard and protect children who go missing or are at risk of 

sexual exploitation are robust and well co-ordinated
• Good use is made of family group conferencing to enable families to understand the 

needs of their children better
• Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) arrangements are robust and 

well embedded
• Young people aged 16 and 17 who present as homeless are being well served
• High quality intensive family support is provided to try to prevent avoidable family 

breakdown
• Children and parents receive timely and well-targeted outreach support
• Robust strategic and operational arrangements are in place to identify, manage and 

reduce the risks associated with child sexual exploitation
• Children who are electively home educated are monitored effectively
• There is a high level of awareness of female genital mutilation
• Robust arrangements are in place to meet the challenge of and manage the risks 

associated with radicalisation
• Position of Trust meetings are well chaired and result in effective, well-co-ordinated 

and well managed responses 

3.4.2 The experiences and progress of children looked after and achieving permanence -  
Good
• Very child-centred approach to looked after children with a clear strategic vision, 

robust arrangements to monitor and track progress and some very sensitive and 
thoughtful work with individual children

• Vast majority of children looked after live in secure and stable homes
• Only those children who need it become looked after
• Areas of the service are particularly impressive including:

– the strength of the local authority’s partnership with the Children in Care 
Council

– the stable influence and expert guidance provided by Independent Reviewing 
Officers

Page 13



PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 6 of 15

– the widespread positive impact of the virtual school
– work that is being undertaken to reduce offending and re-offending
– permanency planning

• Children are listened to, their voices are heard and acted on
• Thresholds to care are well understood and consistently applied
• Quality and timeliness of court work has significantly improved
• Positive working relationships with Children and Family Court Advisory and Support 

Service and the local judiciary
• Impressive educational achievement for looked after children
• Sufficiency Strategy clearly sets out the challenges faced and the priorities for 

children’s social care
• Permanence reports appropriately assess and analyse children’s needs for lifelong 

security, provide a strong sense of each child’s unique identity and clearly reflect 
children’s wishes and feelings

• Local authority’s engagement with the Children in Care Council (CiCC) is anything but 
tokenistic

• CiCC - an impressive, well integrated, and influential group of young people

3.4.3 Adoption - Good
• The team undertakes a successful and creative range of family finding activity
• Adopters talked very positively about the helpful support that they received
• Inspectors saw good evidence of brothers and sisters being placed together
• Children and families receive good quality post-adoption support
• Creative use is made of the Adoption Support Fund to deliver bespoke packages of 

care
• Adopters talked very positively about the training they had received and valued the 

support and responsiveness of the adoption team
• Inspectors saw some particularly good examples of life-story, moving on work and 

later-life letters which were all sensitive, purposeful and child-centred

3.4.4 Care Leavers - Good
• Young people talk very positively about their Personal Advisors and the help and 

support, advice and guidance that they provide
• Personal Advisors are in touch with all care leavers, know them well and provide an 

effective wrap-around service
• Young people appreciate being involved in co-producing their pathway plans
• Every time that they meet young people, Personal Advisors ask them about their 

health and actively encourage and support them to make and keep medical 
appointments

• Care leavers are well supported to develop the skills they need to live independently 
and talk positively about the independent living course 

• The Care Leavers’ Forum has played a significant role in shaping the way in which 
the care leavers service has developed

• Care leavers told Inspectors that they feel valued and listened to
• Annual awards ceremony described as a ‘dazzling event’
• Care leavers are able to articulate clearly how, with the support of the Personal 

Advisors, their confidence has increased and appreciate that their support continues 
to be available until they are 25

Page 14



PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 7 of 15

3.4.5 Leadership, Management and Governance - Good
• Senior managers, leaders and elected members know themselves and their 

communities well and are driving service improvements for children and families
• Clear governance arrangements are in place, rigorous scrutiny and a range of 

effective strategic and operational partnerships
• Senior managers, leaders and elected members make good and effective use of 

performance management information
• Local Authority is ambitious, realistic and determined to achieve financial stability and 

improve outcomes
• Experienced, knowledgeable and highly committed group of senior managers has led 

children’s services well
• Good communication between senior managers, leaders and elected members as 

part of a ‘one council’ approach
• Partnership arrangements are strong
• Health and Wellbeing Board is appropriately focused on children and families
• Effective commissioning arrangements
• Local Authority is ambitious for LAC and takes its corporate parenting responsibilities 

very seriously
• Strong focus on participation means that care leavers and children looked after feel 

involved and listened to
• The local authority is keen to learn and open to challenge
• Complaints from children and families are taken seriously
• Senior managers have acted decisively to improve the quality and timeliness of court 

related work 
• Senior managers are rightly proud of their achievements in reducing staff turnover 

and increasing stability of the workforce
• The creation of six Advanced Practitioner roles reflects the local authority’s 

commitment to building resilience and succession planning as part of a conscious 
‘grow your own’ strategy

3.5 There were 11 recommendations for Children’s Services arising from the inspection.  
These were:

  1. Ensure that management oversight at the frontline is appropriately challenging 
and consistent, and that frontline managers are able to use the new case file audit 
tool effectively. 

  2. Strengthen the line of sight which senior managers, leaders and elected members 
have on frontline practice by including detailed information about children in need 
whose cases are being held by team managers, or managed on duty, prior to 
being allocated to a named social worker. 

  3. Ensure that children looked after who are living at a distance from Wolverhampton 
receive the same high level of health and educational support as children living 
closer to home. 

  4. Ensure that, when children and young people are placed with family and friends, 
social workers are clear about what actions must be completed to assess and 
formalise those arrangements in line with placement regulations. 

Page 15



PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 8 of 15

  5. Ensure that all assessments include a consistently robust analysis of risks and 
protective factors, resulting in child in need and child protection plans which are 
specific, measurable, and easy for children and parents to understand. 

  6. Ensure that greater prominence is given in case files to the thoughts, wishes and 
feelings of children and young people, so that the child’s voice is clearly recorded 
and understood. 

  7. Strengthen advocacy arrangements to ensure that children in need of help and 
protection and their parents, and children looked after, are enabled to make a 
meaningful contribution to child in need and child protection processes, and 
children looked after reviews. 

  8. Ensure that children looked after who would benefit from one have access to an 
independent visitor. 

  9. Ensure that all personal education plans are specific, measurable and easy for 
children and young people to understand. 

10. Ensure that all pathway plans include targets which are specific, measurable and 
written in such a way that there is no room for ambiguity about who needs to do 
what, by when, to ensure that care leavers are able to make a successful 
transition to independence. 

11. Ensure that once children are placed with adoptive families there is no 
unnecessary delay in applying for an adoption order.

3.6 In order to respond to the recommendations an action plan has been produced and is 
attached as Appendix One.  Implementation of this plan will be overseen by the 
Transforming Children’s Services Board and the Children and Young People 
Management Team.

3.7 A 2017-18 Children and Young People Plan is currently being developed which will 
outline the service priorities and actions for the next 12 months.  The actions from the 
Ofsted Plan will be included in the overall action plan. 

4.0 Outcome of the Wolverhampton Safeguarding Children Board Review

4.1     The judgement for the Wolverhampton Safeguarding Children’s Board was ‘requires 
improvement to be good’. 

4.2      Headline findings from the inspection include:
 The Board is well chaired and well led
 Governance arrangements are robust
 Partner agencies are well represented on the Board at a suitably senior level
 Attendance at Board meetings is good and a well-developed sub-group structure 

ensures that the work programme is delivered
 The website is attractive and easy to navigate, providing a wealth of useful 

information

Page 16



PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 9 of 15

 The Serious Care Review Sub-Group and the Child Death Overview Panel are well 
developed and effective.

 Robust strategic and operational arrangements are in place to safeguard and protect 
children and young people who go missing and/or are at risk of sexual exploitation

4.3 The Safeguarding Children Board inspection resulted in the following five 
recommendations:

1. Develop and maintain a comprehensive register of those risks which have the 
potential to impact negatively on the ability of partner agencies to safeguard and 
protect children and young people effectively.

2. Ensure that the Local Safeguarding Children Board has the right level of 
performance management information to challenge and hold to account partner 
agencies on the effectiveness of their safeguarding responsibilities.

3. Develop a coherent rolling programme of single and multi-agency audits to quality 
assure the work of partner agencies in safeguarding and protecting children and 
ensure that the results of Section 11 audits are moderated effectively.

4. Develop a robust training strategy which incorporates a system to evaluate the 
impact of training on frontline practice.

5. Further strengthen the annual report to ensure that it provides a clear picture of 
the effectiveness of partner agencies across all key safeguarding services, 
including the independent reviewing officer service, the work of the designated 
officer in managing allegations against professional and private fostering 
arrangements, as well as learning from serious case reviews and child deaths

4.4 The recommendations from the Wolverhampton Safeguarding Children Board (WSCB) 
inspection will be incorporated into the Board’s Strategic Plan and progress against this 
will be overseen by the Board.

5.0 Financial implications

5.1 There are no direct financial implications as a result of this report.

5.2 Any costs associated with the improvement plan will be contained within existing budgets 
within the overall approved budget for Children and Young People. 
[NM/22032017/Y]

6.0 Legal implications

6.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
[KO/12042017/J]

Page 17



PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Report Pages
Page 10 of 15

7.0 Equalities implications

7.1 There are no equality implications associated with this report.  The Single Inspection 
Framework includes equality and diversity issues as part of the inspection process.

8.0 Risk Implications

8.1 There are no risks associated with this report.

9.0 Environmental implications

9.1 There are no environmental implications associated with this report.

10.0 Human resources implications

10.1 There are no human resource implications associated with this report.

11.0 Corporate landlord implications

11.1 There are no corporate landlord implications associated with this report.

12.0 Schedule of background papers

12.1 Wolverhampton Ofsted Final Report

Page 18

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/local_authority_reports/wolverhampton/052_Single%20inspection%20of%20LA%20children%27s%20services%20and%20review%20of%20the%20LSCB%20as%20pdf.pdf
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/local_authority_reports/wolverhampton/052_Single%20inspection%20of%20LA%20children%27s%20services%20and%20review%20of%20the%20LSCB%20as%20pdf.pdf


OFSTED ACTION PLAN            Appendix One
Action Milestones Timescales Lead Officers Progress
Ensure that management 
oversight at the frontline is 
appropriately challenging and 
consistent, and that frontline 
managers are able to use the 
case file audit tool effectively

(RECOMMENDATION 1)

Bi-Monthly Audits to review 
practice

Quarterly dip sampling of 
supervision 

Bi-monthly audits

Quarterly dip sampling

All Heads of Service
Louise Haughton

Bi-monthly audit currently in 
progress, outcome report to 
be produced in April and 
presented to CYP 
Management Team

Next quarterly dip sampling 
process to take place in May 
2017

Strengthen the line of sight 
which senior managers, 
leaders and elected members 
have on frontline practice by 
including detailed information 
about children in need whose 
cases are being held by team 
managers, or managed on 
duty, prior to being allocated 
to a named social worker

(RECOMMENDATION 2)

Daily updates to be provided to 
the DCS and Service Director 

Children Service’s Dashboard 
presented to SEB/Cabinet 
Member on a monthly basis

28 February 2017

31st May 2017, monthly 
thereafter

Helena Kucharczyk Daily figures are provided to 
Service Director and DCS

ACTION COMPLETED

Ensure that looked after 
children who are living at a 
distance from Wolverhampton 
receive the same level of 
health and educational support 
as children living closer to 
home

(RECOMMENDATION 3)

Regularly review reports on out 
of city health assessments 

Quarterly Alison Hinds

Alison Hinds

CCG commissioned a new 
post in the trust that will 
undertake health 
assessments with LAC up to 
50 miles – leaving 
approximately 80 children 
where services will need to 
be spot purchased

Report regularly being 

P
age 19



Action Milestones Timescales Lead Officers Progress

Virtual Head report on education 
outcomes of children placed out 
of city

November 2017 Darren Martindale

produced and presented to 
LAC Health Steering Group

Additonal resource aimed 
specifically at children placed 
out of city

Ensure that when children and 
young people are placed with 
family and friends, social 
workers are clear about what 
actions must be completed to 
assess and formalise those 
arrangements in line with 
placement regulations

(RECOMMENDATION 4) 

Review permanency policy 
including the development of a 
flowchart to inform decision 
making 

Audit of all Child Protection 
cases where children are not 
living with their parents to clarify 
whether it is a private family 
arrangement or connected 
persons 

30 April 2017 Rachel Warrender
Louise Haughton
Alison Hinds

Julian Cunningham

Meeting has been set up to 
progress this work, to be 
completed by 30 April 2017

Ensure that all assessments 
include a consistently robust 
analysis of risks and 
protective factors, resulting in 
child in need and child 
protection plans which are 
specific, measurable and easy 
for children and parents to 
understand

(RECOMMENDATION 5)

Bi-Monthly Audits to review 
practice

Quarterly dip sampling of 
assessments

31 March 2018 Louise Haughton Dip sample of care planning – 
June 2017, outcome report to 
be available in July 2017

Conference call with Child 
and Family Training taken 
place highlighting what our 
current needs are, 
emphasising voice of the 
child as a key requirement.  
They are currently adjusting 
their programme of training to 
reflect this and will deliver 4 
cohorts by the end of March 

P
age 20



Action Milestones Timescales Lead Officers Progress
18

Ensure that greater 
prominence is given in case 
files to the thoughts, wishes 
and feelings of children and 
young people, so that the 
child’s voice is clearly 
recorded and understood

(RECOMMENDATION 6)

Bi-Monthly Audits to review 
practice

Quarterly dip sampling of 
assessments

31 March 2018 Heads of Service
Louise Haughton

Conference call with Child 
and Family Training taken 
place highlighting what our 
current needs are, 
emphasising voice of the 
child as a key requirement.  
They are currently adjusting 
their programme of training to 
reflect this and will deliver 4 
cohorts by the end of March 
18

Strengthen advocacy 
arrangements to ensure that 
children in need of help and 
protection and their parents, 
and children looked after, are 
enabled to make a meaningful 
contribution to child in need 
and child protection 
processes, and children 
looked after reviews

(RECOMMENDATION 7)

Test reporting on this and 
CiN/CP and LAC Management 
Teams to receive regular reports

Ensure all staff are aware of the 
revised process re. recording

31 March 2017

28 February 2017

Julian Cunningham
Alison Hinds

Julian Cunningham
Alison Hinds

Process has been changed – 
now embedded in a 
document so that it can be 
recorded and reported on

Staff have been briefed in 
relation to the need to 
facilitate advocacy 
arrangements where 
necessary

Ensure that children looked 
after who would benefit from 
one have access to an 
independent visitor

(RECOMMENDATION 8)

Ensure all staff are aware of 
referral process

Changes to be made to LAC 
review report to ensure this has 
been considered where 

31 March 2017

30 April 2017

Alison Hinds All staff have been briefed on 
the need to consider access 
to independent visitors

P
age 21



Action Milestones Timescales Lead Officers Progress
appropriate

Ensure that all personal 
education plans (PEP) are 
specific, measurable and easy 
for children and young people 
to understand

(RECOMMENDATION 9)

Guidance for social workers  and 
designated teachers on use of 
electronic PEP to include 
ensuring targets are easy for 
children and young people to 
understand 

To be measured through quality 
assurance of PEPs by COPE 
team

30 June 2017

Termly Audits

Alison Hinds Electronic PEP is being 
piloted

Termly audits are in place

Ensure that all pathway plans 
include targets which are 
specific, measurable and 
written in such a way that 
there is no room for ambiguity 
about who needs to do what, 
by when, to ensure that care 
leavers are able to make a 
successful transition to 
independence

(RECOMMENDATION 10)

Training to be offered to all staff 
in transition team to ensure 
improvement in pathway 
planning

Dip sampling of pathway plans 
to ensure improvement in 
practice

31 March 2017 Alison Hinds Workshop for transition team 
took place on 22 March 2017

Dip sampling to measure 
improvements in quality of 
pathway plans to be 
scheduled to assess the 
impact of training and 
improvement in quality

Ensure that once children are 
placed with adoptive families 
there is no unnecessary delay 
in applying for an adoption 
order

(RECOMMENDATION 11)

Adoption applications to be 
made 10 weeks after a child is 
placed in prospective adoptive 
household.

Annex A’s to be completed by 
the child’s social worker and 
lodged with the court at the 

20 March 2017 Alison Hinds ACTION COMPLETED

Dip samples to take place to 
ensure adoption applications 
and Annex A’s are being 
lodged at 10 weeks

P
age 22



Action Milestones Timescales Lead Officers Progress
same time

Care first activity to be utilised to 
ensure timescales are met

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet Meeting
26 April 2017

Report title Outcome of the Local Government Association 
Corporate Peer Review

Decision designation AMBER
Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Roger Lawrence
Leader of the Council

Key decision No

In forward plan No

Wards affected N/A

Accountable director Keith Ireland, Managing Director

Originating service Managing Director’s Office

Accountable employee(s) Matt Vins
Tel
Email

Project Manager
01902 556916
Matthew.vins@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

People Leadership Team
Place Leadership Team
Strategic Executive Board
Executive Team
Scrutiny Board

20 March 2017
20 March 2017
28 March 2017
3 April 2017
25 April 2017

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Approve the draft action plan arising from the recommendations within the Local 
Government Association (LGA) Corporate Peer Review final report.

2. Approve that the LGA conduct a follow up visit in February 2018 to assess the progress 
that the City of Wolverhampton Council has made with regards to the recommendations 
set out in the final report.

Recommendations for noting:

Cabinet is asked to note:

1. The outcome and issues raised in the LGA Corporate Peer Review final report.
2. This report will also be considered by Scrutiny Board on 25 April 2017.

Page 25

Agenda Item No: 6



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of the outcome of the recent LGA 
Corporate Peer Review and to consider the recommendations and action plan arising 
from it.

2.0 Background

2.1 Councils are increasingly looking for good practice, support and challenge to help them 
improve services for users while maintaining a balanced budget. As part of the process 
of ensuring the City of Wolverhampton Council is providing the best service, the LGA  
was invited to carry out a Corporate Peer Review which took place 30 January – 2 
February 2017.

2.2 A Corporate Peer Review allows external colleagues from across Local Government to 
assess the Council on a number of key points. These are as follows:

 Understanding of the local place and priorities – does the Council use this to set a 
clear vision

 Leadership of Place – does the Council, through members and officers and 
relationships with external stakeholders have an effective leadership of place

 Finance – does the Council have a financial plan to ensure long term viability that is 
being implemented

 Leadership and governance – is there effective political and managerial leadership, 
supported by good governance and decision making arrangements, that can respond 
to key challenges and enable transformation

 Capacity – is organisational capacity aligned to priorities and how does the Council 
influence and leverage external capacity

2.3 As part of the process the Peer Team spoke to more than 130 people, including a range 
of Council employees together with Councillors and external stakeholders and business 
partners. They gathered information and views from more than 40 meetings and 
additional research, reading and site visits, collectively spending more than 260 hours to 
determine their findings.

2.4 The final report is now complete and is attached as Appendix A.

3.0 Outcome of the Corporate Peer Review

3.1 The overall conclusion of the Peer Team was that:

‘The City of Wolverhampton Council has been on an impressive journey of improvement.
Since the last LGA Corporate Peer Challenge in 2014 it has recovered from a precarious
financial position, made a rapid transformation into a ‘Confident, Capable Council’, and 
set out a clear vision and agenda for the future. The progress is recognised and 
respected by a range of stakeholders, including staff and partners, and has helped 
significantly enhance the Council’s reputation. The extent and pace of transformation is 
notable and has rightly been recognised by external reviews and awards – including the 

Page 26



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

MJ Council of the Year Runner Up in 2016. The Council is now in a strong position to 
respond with confidence to both current and future challenges facing the City.’

3.2 Understanding of the local place and priority setting: The report praises the 
achievements made by the Council since the 2014 Corporate Peer Challenge and 
highlights how the Corporate Plan supports the long term Vision for the City by focusing 
the Council’s priorities and using technology to support evidence-based decision making. 
There is particular praise for the achievements in transforming LAC, partnership working 
with schools which has seen 95% rated Good or Outstanding and for enabling 
investment and regeneration in the City. It summarises that the Council has focused on 
improving its own reputation and ability to deliver in order to bring about wider change 
across the City.

3.3 Leadership of Place: The report highlights the Council’s role as a respected ‘leader of 
place’ both within the City, and on a regional level, and makes particular reference to the 
role of the Leader and Managing Director in the West Midlands Combined Authority 
(WMCA). It also praises the Council’s partnerships across the City of Wolverhampton, 
notably in achieving improved educational performance and for ‘place-shaping’ by driving 
investment and growth in the City Centre.

3.4 Organisational leadership and governance: The report highlights the strong corporate 
core of the Council with particular reference to the strength of management at SEB and 
the depth of understanding of the Council’s priorities across the organisation. It praises 
the improved Councillor/employee relationships since the 2014 review and evidences 
that these messages have been clearly communicated across the organisation. The 
additional reporting tools for management such as Qlikview were also seen as vital in 
monitoring performance across the organisation and the consistent Project Management 
approach and Business Reviews had created strong internal challenge which enhanced 
performance.

3.5 Financial planning and viability: The report widely praises the turnaround of the 
financial situation of the Council and references the Finance Peer Review (June 2016) 
which stated, ‘it is clear there has been a period of significant and rapid improvement that 
has helped to put the Council on a better financial footing’. It highlights that the Council 
has a good grip on the future financial situation and is exploring income generation and 
commercialisation whilst consulting and engaging with residents. It mentions that Yoo 
Recruit and WV Active has seen a more commercial approach taken to service delivery 
and that further opportunities to commercialise services should be regularly reviewed. 

3.6 Capacity to deliver: The report identified a ‘One Council’ ethos where cross 
departmental working and professional support from the corporate core was seen as the 
norm. It highlights the positivity and optimism amongst employees, particularly in the face 
of substantial challenges to budgets and staffing levels. It emphasises the commitment to 
creating a flexible, diverse workforce, and references the apprentice and graduate 
schemes as examples of planning for the future but suggests this work is accelerated to 
ensure that workforce planning meets the future requirements of the organisation. 

Page 27



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

4.0 Recommendations of the Corporate Peer Review

4.1 The overarching comment from the Peer Team was that the Council, after achieving a 
strong platform following significant transformation of the organisation, now needed to 
shift its narrative to how it is going to deliver the long-term ambitions set out in Vision 
2030. The subsequent recommendations tie into this theme, and focus on how the 
Council can leverage additional capacity through further engagement with partners and 
citizens across the City. The recommendations are noted below with further detail 
contained in the report (Appendix A):

1. Use the strong platform of a being a ‘Confident, Capable Council’ to unlock the next 
phase of your journey

2. Consider how you further utilise the ‘Wolves Workforce’
3. Strengthen the connection between city leadership and community leadership at a 

neighbourhood level
4. Develop a stronger and more consistent communication on the social value 

outcomes and impact for Wulfrunians
5. Continue the focus on strengthening corporate governance further – including the 

investment in performance management and scrutiny
6. Accelerate the pace and ambition on digital transformation to support the delivery of 

the City Vision aspirations of digital inclusion and ‘smart city’
7. Further develop the interrelationship between the financial strategy, future operating 

model and vision
8. Continue to ensure that opportunities for commercialism and shared services are 

constantly considered 

5.0 Financial implications

5.1 The LGA Corporate Peer Review identified that the Council has made major progress in 
achieving financial stability. Recommendations arising from the review will enable the 
Council to further improve upon its financial strategy and its communication of the 
strategy to residents and stakeholders. [MH/24032017/S]

6.0 Legal implications

6.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from report. [TS/16032017/Y] 

7.0 Equalities implications

7.1 There are no direct equalities implications arising from report.

8.0 Environmental implications

8.1 There are no direct environmental implications arising from report.

9.0 Human resources implications

9.1 There are no direct human resources implications arising from report.

Page 28



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

10.0 Corporate landlord implications

10.1 There are no direct corporate landlord implications arising from report.

11.0 Schedule of background papers

11.1 22 November 2016 – Overview of the LGA Corporate Peer Review (SEB)

29 November 2016 – LGA Corporate Peer Review (SEB)

10 January 2017 – LGA Corporate Peer Review (SEB)

17 January 2017 – LGA Corporate Peer Review (SEB)

23 January 2017 – Arrangements for LGA Corporate Peer Review (Leaders meeting)

2 February 2017 – Feedback presentation from the Peer Team

7 February 2017 – LGA Corporate Peer Review (SEB)

28 February 2017 – Final Feedback Report LGA Corporate Peer Review (SEB)

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Corporate Peer Challenge 
City of Wolverhampton Council  

 

30th January – 2nd February 2017 

 
Feedback Report  

 
 
 
 

 

Page 31



 

1 

 
Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

1. Executive Summary  

The City of Wolverhampton Council has been on an impressive journey of improvement.  
Since the last LGA Corporate Peer Challenge in 2014 it has recovered from a precarious 
financial position, made a rapid transformation into a ‘Confident, Capable Council’, and set 
out a clear vision and agenda for the future.  The progress is recognised and respected by 
a range of stakeholders, including staff and partners, and has helped significantly enhance 
the Council’s reputation.  The extent and pace of transformation is notable and has rightly 
been recognised by external reviews and awards – including the MJ Council of the Year 
Runner Up in 2016.  The Council is now in a strong position to respond with confidence to 
both current and future challenges facing the City.    
 
The Council has become a credible and respected ‘leader of place’.   It is seen as a key 
player that is influencing the debate and decision-making across both the Black Country 
and wider sub-region, including the West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA).  There is 
widespread recognition for the role of the Leader and Managing Director in driving the 
development of the Authority during its formative stages, and their current roles as lead 
member for transport and Monitoring Officer. The Council is also providing clear leadership 
through its direct investment and actions to support the physical regeneration of the City.  
 
As an organisation, the Council clearly benefits from strong leadership - both political and 
managerial – that is recognised by a range of stakeholders.  Supported by good internal 
communications, the leadership is driving a culture of professional discipline and a 
sustained focus on improvement across the organisation.   There is a commitment to 
strengthen and develop corporate governance further to ensure decision making is 
informed by high quality performance information and business intelligence, and benefits 
from timely scrutiny and challenge.  There is a clear ‘digital by design’ ethos and a wider 
transformation programme that is helping to improve services, cut bureaucracy and 
reduce cost.    
 
There is a genuine ‘One Council’ ethos where cross departmental working and 
professional support from a strong corporate centre is the norm.   Despite the scale and 
rapid pace of change over the past couple of years, and the inevitable uncertainty that 
can bring, people clearly enjoy working for the Council and feel involved and engaged. 
There is a genuine commitment and investment in talent development. Officers are 
positive, proud and enthusiastic advocates for both the organisation and city.  There is a 
sense of optimism, ambition and excitement about the future.  This is a real strength for 
the organisation. 
 
Given the risks and challenges the Council was facing, there has understandably been a 
focus during the past couple of years on decisive and deliberate interventions to improve 
services and stimulate investment in the City.  The emphasis has justifiably been on 
regenerating the city centre (as a catalyst for wider growth), transforming children’s 
services (to tackle rising demand) and improving education (to raise standards and 
expectations), while at the same time maintaining a focus on stronger financial 
management and organisational efficiency.  The sustained concentration on recovery and 
stabilisation has paid off.  It has created a strong platform from which to consider the next 
phase of evolution.  This is a pivotal point in the journey.   
 

Page 32

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

2 

The narrative now needs to shift from where the Council has come from to how it is going 
to deliver the longer-term ambitions set out in the City Vision and respond to new and 
emerging challenges.  The Council’s future approach is likely to need to focus more on 
collaboration, co-operation and co-production to design and deliver solutions.  This may 
require further consideration of how the Council can more effectively leverage and utilise 
the capacity of partners and citizens, the relationships with whom may need to evolve 
further to enable this.  A stronger and more consistent communication on the social value 
outcomes and impact for Wulfrunians will be needed – so there is a clear understanding 
of the interconnectivity between vision, financial strategy and the future operating model. 
That will also help strengthen the connection between the city leadership role of the 
council and the community leadership role of councillors.    
 

2. Key recommendations  

There are some observations and suggestions within the main section of the report that 
will inform further improvement and development.  In addition, many of the 
conversations onsite provided ideas and examples of practice from other organisations.  
The following are the peer team’s key recommendations to the Council.  They are 
focussed on supporting the continued development of the Council, having 
acknowledged the significant and impressive progress and achievements since the last 
Corporate Peer Challenge in 2014:  
 

1) Use the strong platform of a being a ‘Confident, Capable Council’ to unlock 
the next phase of your journey.  Shift the narrative from where the Council has 
come from and focus on how it will deliver the future vision and outcomes set out 
in the City Vision. The Council should be confident about considering its future 
purpose and the associated operating model and approaches required, which are 
likely to be different to what exists now.  
 

2) Consider how you further utilise the ‘Wolves Workforce’.  The recent focus 
has understandably been on improving what the Council does. There now needs 
to be more consideration of how the capacity of the City - including citizens, the 
voluntary and community sector, public sector partners, and other stakeholders - 
can be better harnessed to deliver shared outcomes through more collaboration, 
co-operation and co-production.  Leadership style, relationships and partnering 
approaches may need to evolve further to enable this. 

 
3) Strengthen the connection between city leadership and community 

leadership at a neighbourhood level.  Consider how the councillor role needs 
to change as the context of the place evolves.  Councillors will need to play 
different roles in their communities, and be able to demonstrate a clear ‘golden 
thread’ of benefits at WMCA, city and neighbourhood level.   
 

4) Develop a stronger and more consistent communication on the social 
value outcomes and impact for Wulfrunians, particularly in terms of the 
regeneration and inward investment.  Citizens need to appreciate the benefits to 
them of the physical improvements being made to the City.  Consider whether 
enough is being done to convey impacts and benefits for citizens and 
communities (people) as well as the city (place).    

Page 33

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

3 

 
5) Continue the focus on strengthening corporate governance further – 

including the investment in performance management and scrutiny.  You 
rightly see strong corporate governance as being critical to a high-performing 
council with the means to proactively identify issues and take remedial action.  
Consider how governance and decision-making can continue to be developed and 
strengthened as the organisation’s operating model evolves.  

 
6) Accelerate the pace and ambition on digital transformation to support the 

delivery of the City Vision aspirations of digital inclusion and ‘smart city’ in 
addition to using new technology and ‘digital by design’ ethos to reduce 
bureaucracy and cost across the organisation. Use digital as a proactive tool to 
drive change internally and externally. By its very nature the ‘digital transformation 
agenda’ is a dynamic agenda that needs to run at pace to be successful.   

7) Further develop the interrelationship between the financial strategy, future 
operating model and vision.  This should include a clearer strategic narrative 
about investment in regeneration, commercialisation, new ways of working and 
reducing demand on services as being the ways in which the organisation will 
deliver its priorities while remaining financially viable and sustainable.  
 

8)  Continue to ensure that opportunities for commercialism and shared services 
are constantly considered as part of future operating and service delivery models 
across the City Council, its partners and wider spheres of influence.     

 

3. Summary of the Peer Challenge approach  
 

The peer team  
 
Peer challenges are delivered by experienced elected member and officer peers.  The 
make-up of the peer team reflected the Council’s requirements and the focus of the 
peer challenge.  Peers were selected on the basis of their relevant experience and 
expertise and agreed with the Council.  The peers who delivered the peer challenge at 
the City of Wolverhampton Council were: 
 

 Dr Carolyn Wilkins OBE – Chief Executive, Oldham Council 

 Councillor Clyde Loakes (Lab) – Deputy Leader, London Borough of Waltham 
Forest 

 Councillor Alan Jarrett (Cons) - Leader, Medway Council 

 Ian Leivesley - Strategic Director Enterprise, Community & Resources, Halton 
Borough Council 

 Colin Maclean – Chief Executive, Community Links Bromley 

 Patricia McMahon – Adviser (Local Government Support), Local Government 
Association (LGA)   

 Paul Clarke – Programme Manager (Peer Challenge), Local Government 
Association (LGA)  

 

Page 34

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

4 

Scope and focus 
 
The peer team considered the following five questions which form the core components 
of all Corporate Peer Challenges.  These are the areas we believe are critical to council 
performance and improvement:   
 

1. Understanding of the local place and priority setting: Does the Council understand 
its local context and place and use that to inform a clear vision and set of priorities? 

 
2. Leadership of Place: Does the Council provide effective leadership of place through 

its elected members, officers and constructive relationships and partnerships with 
external stakeholders? 

 
3. Organisational leadership and governance: Is there effective political and 

managerial leadership supported by good governance and decision-making 
arrangements that respond to key challenges and enable change and 
transformation to be implemented? 

 
4. Financial planning and viability: Does the Council have a financial plan in place to 

ensure long term viability and is there evidence that it is being implemented 
successfully? 

 
5. Capacity to deliver: Is organisational capacity aligned with priorities and does the 

Council influence, enable and leverage external capacity to focus on agreed 
outcomes? 

The peer challenge process 
 

It is important to stress that this was not an inspection.  Peer challenges are improvement 
focussed and tailored to meet individual councils’ needs.  They are designed to 
complement and add value to a council’s own performance and improvement.  The 
process is not designed to provide an in-depth or technical assessment of plans and 
proposals.  The peer team used their experience and knowledge of local government to 
reflect on the information presented to them by people they met, things they saw and 
material that they read.  
 
The current LGA sector-led improvement support offer includes an expectation that all 
councils will have a Corporate Peer Challenge or Finance Peer Review every 4 to 5 years.  
The City of Wolverhampton Council had a Corporate Peer Challenge in December 2014 
and a Finance Peer Review in June 2016.  Where relevant to do so, findings from those 
previous peer challenges have been referenced in this report.   
 
The peer team prepared for this peer challenge by reviewing an extensive range of 
documents and information in order to ensure they were familiar with the Council and 
the challenges it is facing.  The team then spent four days onsite at the Council, during 
which they: 

 Spoke to more than 130 people including a range of council staff together with 
councillors and external partners and stakeholders. 

Page 35

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

5 

 Gathered information and views from more than 40 meetings and additional 
research, reading and site visits. 

 Collectively spent more than 260 hours to determine their findings – the 
equivalent of one person spending more than 7 weeks at the City of 
Wolverhampton.  

This report provides a summary of the peer team’s findings.  It builds on the feedback 
presentation provided by the peer team at the end of their on-site visit (30th January – 2nd 
February 2017).  In presenting feedback to the Council, they have done so as fellow local 
government officers and members, not professional consultants or inspectors.  By its 
nature, the peer challenge is a snapshot in time.  We appreciate that some of the 
feedback may be about things the Council is already aware of, is addressing, or is a work 
in progress. 

4. Feedback  
 

Understanding of the local place and priority setting:  Does the Council 
understand its local context and place and use that to inform a clear vision and 
set of priorities? 

 
The Council has a good understanding of the local context, a good grip on the current 
challenges, and has set out long term aspirations for the City.  These are informed by an 
increasingly sophisticated range of data and analysis including GIS, heat-maps and use 
of insight information.  This demonstrates the desire and determination to adopt a more 
intelligence-led approach to priority-setting, policy development and decision-making.  
The priorities set out in the Corporate Plan 2016-19 focussing on driving economic 
growth and building stronger communities make sense.  The Plan articulates a range of 
outcomes residents and businesses can expect to see and experience by 2019/20.  A 
longer term vision for the City is articulated in the Our Vision: Our City (Vision 2030) 
document, which was commissioned by the Council in consultation with the City Board.   
 
Since the Corporate Peer Challenge in 2014, the Council has made some decisive, 
deliberate and direct interventions to respond to known challenges and deliver against its 
priorities. The emphasis has been on regenerating the city centre (as a catalyst for wider 
growth), transforming children’s services (to tackle rising demand and cost pressures) 
and challenging school performance (to raise standards and expectations).  As a result 
there has been notable improvements and developments.  A focus on earlier intervention 
and prevention has helped significantly reduce the number of Looked after Children (from 
810 in 2013 to 635 in 2016).  Direct intervention through Interim Executive Boards (IEBs) 
and a stronger partnership with schools has helped increase the numbers of ‘good’ or 
‘outstanding’ schools (now 85%).  The creation of development ready sites and direct 
investment has enabled regeneration and inward investment into the City.    
 
The Council recognises the importance of an improved reputation of both Council and City 
to enable continued delivery against plans and the realisation of ambitions.   It has a stated 
priority to create a council that is ready and able to deliver change, and has worked hard 
on making this a reality.  A sustained focus on strengthening financial management and 
the continued transformation of the Council into a more professional and commercial 

Page 36

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

6 

organisation has helped increase trust, confidence and credibility across a range of 
stakeholders.  They now see a more confident and capable council, with a growing track 
record of delivery.   
 
The Peer Challenge in 2014 suggested community empowerment and co-production 
might need to be more prominent features of how the Council operates in the future.  
While recognising the raft of community consultation and engagement the Council has 
undertaken since then we think that, to an extent, this observation still stands.  There is 
likely to be a need for the Council to consider how its future approach can better harness 
the capacity of all partnerships and relationships – starting with citizens - to jointly own 
and deliver a clear set of shared outcomes.  This is about creating more of a ‘shared 
endeavour’ ethos so people can understand their role and contributions. Currently, the 
Corporate Plan and City Vision articulate what the Council will do, but there is little in 
either about expectations on citizens and what they can do for themselves to increase 
independence and decrease demand and reliance on the Council. Nor was it clear ‘how’ 
and ‘who’ from the City Board and wider partnerships would be leading on different 
aspects of the ‘City Vision’. 
 
There is a need for a stronger and more consistent communication on the social value 
outcomes and impact for ‘Wulfrunians’ – particularly in terms of the physical regeneration 
and inward investment.  Citizens need to appreciate the benefits to them of the physical 
improvements being made to the City.  The previous Corporate Peer Challenge 
questioned whether there was enough integration and linkage between the ‘People’ 
(social) and ‘Place’ (economic) focussed plans. There is still a need, we think, to consider 
whether enough is being done to convey impacts and benefits for citizens and 
communities as well as the city.    
 
Leadership of Place: Does the Council provide effective leadership of place 
through its elected members, officers and constructive relationships and 
partnerships with external stakeholders? 
 
The Council has been influential in driving leadership of place across the West Midlands 
and is considered to be a major player in the region.  There is widespread recognition for 
the role of the Leader and Managing Director in driving the development of the West 
Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) during its formative stages.  Both have key 
current roles as regional lead member for transport and Monitoring Officer respectively.  
There is a good understanding of the importance of the City within the Black Country 
sub-region and the Council’s participation and contribution in the Association of Black 
Country Authorities and Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) is recognised and well-
regarded.   
 
Within the City there are clearly well-established partnerships and relationships with a 
range of organisations, agencies and businesses.  Key private, public and voluntary 
sector partners – including the University, NHS Trust, Voluntary Sector Council, College, 
Police and business reps - come together as a City Board to consider and oversee plans 
to increase jobs and employment, improve educational outcomes, tackle health 
inequalities and reduce child poverty.  There is a strengthened partnership with schools 
that is helping to drive up educational attainment at various levels including Key Stage 1, 
Key Stage 2 and GCSE.  

Page 37

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

7 

 
The Council knows it has an important role in ‘place-shaping’, and has demonstrated 
clear leadership to drive investment and growth in the city.   It has delivered this through 
direct investment, which has acted as a catalyst for bringing forward regeneration 
opportunities.  Creating investment ready sites, providing a responsive planning system, 
pro-active marketing, and the offer of appropriate incentives have helped to bring about 
key developments and new jobs - including the i10 office development, continued 
development of the i54 enterprise zone, and the re-location of businesses such as 
Wiggle to the City.  Looking ahead, the Council has a clear intent to improve the city 
centre offer, and enhance the City’s train and tram links to Birmingham and the Black 
Country to exploit Wolverhampton’s USP of connectivity.      
 
The Council recognises that key to driving further growth is collaboration with the private, 
public and voluntary sectors.  Under the umbrella of the City Board it has established a 
business-led Economic Growth Board and an employer-led Skills and Employment Board 
– both of which have programmes of work based on collective delivery.  The Council has 
also set up the Wolverhampton Business Champions and is currently working with 
partners to explore the notion of a city budget and strategic economic plan for the city. 
The Council will want to consider how this collaborative approach can be applied across 
other service areas, and how relationships and leadership styles should evolve to enable 
more shared ownership of delivery, building on the buy-in to the city vision.  It may also 
want to consider whether it has a potential future role to lead on public service reform – 
possibly across the wider footprint of the Black Country or WMCA area – to bring about 
more radical co-design.  
 
We questioned whether there is sufficient connection between city leadership role of the 
council and the community leadership role provided by councillors at a more local 
neighbourhood level.  The role of councillors is changing.  Council leaders and cabinet 
members are increasingly focused beyond council boundaries, looking at conurbations 
and sub-regions.   At the same time there is scope to devolve responsibilities to local 
communities, and reset the relationship with, and expectations of, citizens.  Ward 
councillors will not only need to play different roles in their communities, but be able to 
illustrate a clear ‘golden thread’ and articulate the benefits at WMCA, City and 
neighbourhood level.   
 
Organisational leadership and governance: Is there effective political and 
managerial leadership supported by good governance and decision-making 
arrangements that respond to key challenges and enable change and 
transformation to be implemented? 
 
The Council clearly benefits from strong organisational leadership, both political and 
managerial.  This is based on good member/officer relationships.  While the personal 
involvement and drive of the Managing Director and Leader were cited frequently as 
being instrumental to the Council’s transformation, there is also a strength in depth with 
an accomplished and experienced strategic management team (SEB) and cabinet 
members who have a strong understanding of their portfolios.  The Corporate Peer 
Challenge in 2014 suggested a need for more informal and iterative engagement 
between the political and managerial leadership and this is now happening.    
 

Page 38

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

8 

The mechanisms for internal communication are ensuring staff feel informed, involved 
and engaged.  Ideas and suggestions are regularly sought from staff through initiatives 
such as 100:100.  The 2016 employee survey suggests nearly 80% of employees feel 
well-informed (up significantly from the 2014 score).   We heard about a range of 
channels that are helping to convey a consistent message about the financial challenge 
and direction of travel.  The ‘City People’ intranet, Core Brief, and regular briefings from 
the Managing Director were all mentioned positively.   
 
The Council recognises the importance of good corporate governance as a cornerstone 
of a high-performing organisation.  It is clearly committed to this and continues to invest 
to strengthen it further.  There have been recent developments to improve the quality of, 
and access to, performance management information.  The new ‘Qlikview’ system looks 
impressive and is providing managers access real-time information about service 
performance and financial management on a self-serve basis.  It is a notable 
development. We know there are already plans to develop the performance management 
approach further, with an increased focus on outcomes and impact, and more use of 
business intelligence and predictive analysis.   
 
Councillor-led scrutiny and challenge are seen as important elements of the overall 
governance culture of the organisation.   There is regular monitoring of the revenue 
budget by Cabinet, and involvement of Scrutiny Panels in examining savings proposals.   
The Audit and Risk Committee appears to be working well and is focussing more on 
strategic risks.  A recent review of the Overview and Scrutiny function will see an 
increase in the levels of support to the Scrutiny Board and Panels to enable more 
scrutiny reviews each year.  A refocussing of the work programme will enable more 
emphasis on strategic issues and increased engagement from cabinet members.  
Performance measures are also being introduced to enable the impact of the function to 
be better monitored, understood and communicated.  
 
The Council continues to invite regular external challenge to reality check plans and 
proposals, and test progress - as demonstrated by a number of external peer reviews 
commissioned during the past couple of years (e.g. Libraries Peer Challenge, a regional 
Adult Social Care Peer Challenge and LGA Finance Peer Review in 2016).   It is also 
committed to engaging and consulting residents and stakeholders – for example the 
annual budget consultation – as a means of receiving challenge and comments on 
savings and income generation proposals.   
 
There are well-developed business review practices and processes that are helping to 
support the C3 Transformation Programme to deliver improvement and efficiencies.  This 
includes a robust and comprehensive corporate project management approach and 
support from a corporate team and central resource (e.g. Business Review Share point 
site) which provides discipline, structure and consistency.  This is a good illustration of 
the strong corporate council, and culture of professional discipline and continuous 
improvement the leadership has worked hard to install across the Council.  It has been 
an essential part of the approach that has seen the Council recover from the key risks 
and challenges it was facing only a couple of years ago.   
 
The leadership’s focus and energy has rightly been on recovery and stabilisation.  This 
has enabled an impressive turnaround.  It is not surprising the underlying purpose and 

Page 39

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

9 

role of the Council and its operating model have not fundamentally changed during that 
time.  The previous Corporate Peer Challenge suggested there would be a need to 
develop the understanding about the future purpose of the organisation.  Now that much 
of the recovery work is done, or is being progressed, it may be timely to consider this 
further.  It is likely the Council will need to adopt a different role and approach in order to 
successfully realise the longer term vision during a period of ongoing austerity. 
 
Financial planning and viability: Does the Council have a financial plan in place to 
ensure long term viability and is there evidence that it is being implemented 
successfully? 

 
There is no doubt the financial situation has been stabilised over the past two years.  The 
recent Finance Peer Review (June 2016) stated, ‘it is clear there has been a period of 
significant and rapid improvement that has helped to put the Council on a better financial 
footing’.  We concur with that assessment.  It has been an impressive turnaround.  
However, the scale of the challenge remains significant.  The current projected budget 
gap of £54.6 million by 2019/20 is approximately 25% of the current base budget.  A 
report to Cabinet in October 2016 describes the extent of the financial challenge as being 
‘the most significant that the Council has ever faced.’   
 
The Council does, though, appear to have a good grip and continues to respond with 
confidence, whilst not being complacent.  Since the Peer Review, work has progressed to 
identify the proposals which will deliver the current projected budget deficit for 2017/18 of 
£23.5 million.  Budget reduction and/or income generation amounting to £13.5 million have 
been consulted on.  These (and other base budget revisions and savings of £10.0million) 
were due to be considered as part of the draft 2017/18 budget by Cabinet.  The 
consultation has involved engagement with a range of stakeholders including business 
community, voluntary sector, youth council, Over 50s forum, trade unions and local 
communities.   
 
The work continues to address the £30.4 million budget deficit currently forecast for 
2018/19 and 2019/20.  Commercialism and income generation are considered key facets 
of this.  Fees and charges are reviewed annually.  Beyond this the Council is clearly willing 
to embrace commercial approaches to generate revenue streams, with the i10 office and 
retail block, Yoo recruitment agency, and WV Active being examples of this.  A wholly 
owned housing company is a more recent example, albeit at an early stage in its evolution, 
with its commercial function and potential not yet fully established.  The Council should 
keep reviewing and defining what it means by ‘commercial’ and ‘income generating’ 
opportunities.  Both should be more than simply reducing internal subsidies. It has recently 
commissioned external consultancy support (Grant Thornton) to help identify other 
potential options for further exploration and consideration. The Council should continue to 
look at what other places are doing on this and ensure energy is not wasted on developing 
ideas that will never secure political buy in to deliver.  
 
The Finance Peer Review was undertaken in June 2016.  As such, many of the positive 
observations provided remain current – including strengthened in-year financial and 
budget management, and a well-respected corporate finance team supported by strong 
leadership. The current approach, attitude and assumptions regarding the overachieving 
and/or early delivery of budget reductions is still a potential issue. They may make it 

Page 40

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

10 

difficult to understand the true cost of providing services.  In terms of the level of reserves 
available (which the Peer Review suggested might provide opportunities to support 
change and transformation, in the form of ‘invest to save’), we know you have done work 
on this, including the review of specific reserves through a Scrutiny Working Group.    
 
The Peer Review suggested the Council take stock and reflect on its overall financial 
strategy.  This should include a clearer strategic narrative about investment to enable 
economic growth, commercialisation, new ways of working and reducing demand on 
services as being the ways in which the organisation will deliver its priorities while 
remaining financially viable and sustainable. The strategy needs to focus more on the 
future operating model and strengthen the connection between some of the facets of 
that, including: 
 

 A strategic approach to investment that better connects the outcomes of physical 
regeneration to the revenue budget (i.e. impact on revenue base of the growth in 
the council tax base, increased business rates income, and costs of borrowing) 
and the social value return on the investment.  
 

 New models of service delivery and partnership approach - identifying where in 
the system cost and benefits are realised so solutions are co-designed and 
outcomes are achieved in a cost effective way and help to reduce demand.  
 

 Changing the profile of demand now and in the future and reducing demand and 
reliance on services (e.g. adult social care) through changing thresholds, early 
intervention, prevention activity and building community capacity and resilience.  
 

 A continued and relentless focus on Value for Money (VfM) through procurement 
and commissioning (e.g. ensuring that whole life costs of care packages are part 
of the upfront consideration).   

 Opportunities for commercialism and shared services such as investing to create 
sustainable revenue streams, trading companies, property management and 
reviewing fees/charges are constantly considered. 

Capacity to deliver: Is organisational capacity aligned with priorities and does 
the Council influence, enable and leverage external capacity to focus on agreed 
outcomes? 
 
We experienced a genuine ‘One Council’ ethos where cross departmental working, and 
professional support from a strong corporate centre, is seen as the norm.   People 
clearly enjoy working for the Council and feel involved, empowered and valued.  There 
is a sense of optimism, ambition and excitement about the future.  It feels like a good 
and upbeat place to work.  This is impressive - and even more so when you consider 
the scale and rapid pace of change (the workforce has decreased in size by 29% since 
2012).  The staff we met were positive, proud to work for the Council and enthusiastic 
advocates for both the organisation and city.  This is an incredible asset for the 
organisation. 
 

Page 41

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

11 

The Council is obviously committed to creating a skilled, flexible workforce who have a 
‘can-do’ culture and demonstrate the organisation’s core behaviours (PRIDE). There is 
a clear commitment to diversity (approximately 22% of the workforce is from an ethnic 
minority background) and providing opportunities for younger people.  The investment in 
an apprenticeship scheme is notable – with some 121 planned opportunities in the next 
two years.  In addition, the Council participates in the National Graduate Development 
Programme, and has supported more than a dozen graduates in the last three years – 
many of whom have secured positions within the workforce after the completion of their 
placements.   
 
This is an impressive commitment to developing talent and creating a workforce profile 
that reflects the wider population of the city.  There is now a need to further develop and 
accelerate the work underway to support workforce planning and development ensuring 
it is informed by, and aligned with, the future requirements of the organisation.  The 
planned leadership development programme, core skills programme for managers and 
e-learning hub are all positive developments but are still a work in progress and at a 
relatively early stage.   As it progresses its thinking further the Council may wish to draw 
on the research and learning from the recent work (by LGA, SOLACE, PPMA and 
University of Birmingham) on defining the 21st century public servant (and 21st century 
councillor).    
 
While developing the Council’s workforce is obviously critical, so too is the need to 
consider how the capacity, knowledge and expertise of the wider ‘Wolves Workforce’ can 
be better harnessed and leveraged.  There is a willingness of partners, including the 
voluntary and community sector to do more in terms of contributing to the realisation of the 
outcomes articulated in the Corporate Plan and City Vision.  Visitors, businesses and 
citizens all potentially have a role too.  Councillors have an important role in harnessing 
community capacity and it is important the development of their roles is seen as part of the 
ongoing transformation of the organisation.   
 
The Council recognises the potential to further evolve its approach to outcome-based 
commissioning to better harness the capacity and expertise of delivery partners (current 
and potential), to enable more innovation and co-creation.  Earlier engagement about the 
problem or challenge, rather than fully formed specifications may need to become a more 
common feature.  There may also be scope to increase ‘commercial leverage’ to deliver 
benefits beyond the bottom line of cost and VfM – such as social value and contribution to 
wider strategic priorities and outcomes.  We know you are already beginning to embed this 
into approaches – e.g. the development of a City Charter (which sets out key principles 
that will underpin the commissioning and procurement activities of key partners in the City) 
and a requirement to deliver 10% social values from contracts valued £100k and over.     
 
There may also need to be a resetting of expectations as regards pace and partnerships.   
Relationships with some partners and providers may need to evolve further. There is an 
obvious willingness from the Council to work with others - it rightly appreciates it won’t be 
able to deliver its vision and priorities without the support, co-operation and capacity of 
others.  It is important that the Council allows sufficient time to nurture new relationships 
and approaches.  Some will take time to develop and mature.  Given the pace at which 
the Council has progressed there is a danger its’ expectations may be unrealistic and 
patience too limited.     

Page 42

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

12 

 
There has obviously been some good early progress on the use of new technology and a 
‘digital by design’ ethos that is helping to reduce bureaucracy and cost.  The introduction 
of Agresso to streamline the processes supporting finance, human resources and 
procurement was frequently cited as a key improvement.  We have already mentioned the 
introduction of Qlikview, and the drive for better insight information.  More developments 
are planned as part of the Digital Transformation Programme to support and enable mobile 
and agile working, and improve the functionality and transactional capability of the Council 
website.    All of this is undoubtedly helping to improve organisational performance and 
productivity.  But we questioned whether the transformation potential and pace is 
sufficiently connected to the wider city vision in terms of digital inclusion and the aspiration 
to be a ‘smart city’.  
 

5. Next steps  

 
Immediate next steps  
 
We appreciate the senior managerial and political leadership will want to reflect on 
these findings and suggestions in order to determine how the organisation wishes to 
take things forward.  
 
As part of the peer challenge process, there is an offer of further activity to support this. 
The LGA is well placed to provide additional support, advice and guidance on a number 
of the areas for development and improvement and we would be happy to discuss this.  
Helen Murray, Principal Adviser is the main contact between your authority and the 
Local Government Association (LGA). Her contact details are: Email 
helen.murray@local.gov.uk and Tel. 07884 312235  
 
In the meantime we are keen to continue the relationship we have formed with the 
Council throughout the peer challenge.  We will endeavour to provide signposting to 
examples of practice and further information and guidance about the issues we have 
raised in this report to help inform ongoing consideration.  
 
Follow up visit  
 
The LGA Corporate Peer Challenge process includes a follow up visit. The purpose of 
the visit is to help the Council assess the impact of the peer challenge and demonstrate 
the progress it has made against the areas of improvement and development identified 
by the peer team. It is a lighter-touch version of the original visit and does not 
necessarily involve all members of the original peer team. The timing of the visit is 
determined by the Council.  Our expectation is that it will occur within the next 2 years.  
 
Next Corporate Peer Challenge 

 

The current LGA sector-led improvement support offer includes an expectation that all 
councils will have a Corporate Peer Challenge or Finance Peer Review every 4 to 5 
years.  It is therefore anticipated that the Council will commission their next Peer 
Challenge before January 2022.   
 

Page 43

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:helen.murray@local.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Appendix B
LGA Corporate Peer Review 

30 January – 2 February 2017
Action Plan

Ref Recommendation Detail Actions Timescale Responsibility
1 Use the strong 

platform of being 
a ‘Confident, 
Capable Council’ 
to unlock the 
next phase of 
your journey.

Managing Director
Keith Ireland

Shift the narrative from where 
the Council has come from and 
focus on how it will deliver the 
future vision and outcomes set 
out in the City Vision. The 
Council should be confident 
about considering its future 
purpose and the associated 
operating model and 
approaches required, which are 
likely to be different to what 
exists now.

The Corporate Comms Team will 
lead on the creation of a forward plan 
road map of key future milestones. 
This will be highlighted internally and 
externally with key stakeholders to 
demonstrate how the Council will 
deliver the City Vision.

The Council to launch a ten year city 
centre prospectus at MIPIM to 
include major announcements on i9, 
Westside and Springfield Brewery. 

Take out a supplement in the MJ to 
showcase the transformation of the 
City of Wolverhampton Council. The 
Council will also attend the LGA 
conference in Birmingham to 
demonstrate its future vision and 
operating model.

Two year programme of events to 
market the City has been developed 
by the City Economy and Corporate 
Communications teams. 

May 2017

March 
2017

July 2017

April 2017

Corporate 
Comms
Ian Fegan

Investment
Richard Nicklin

Corporate 
Comms
Ian Fegan

Corporate 
Comms
Ian Fegan

P
age 45



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Update the Council’s Corporate Plan. 
Work is ongoing to fully embed an 
outcome based approach to 
performance which will form the basis 
for the Council’s performance 
framework and future service 
delivery.

The Council will invest in new ways of 
delivering public services following 
the recent senior management 
restructure which has created the 
post of Service Director, Public 
Sector Reform. This will work at a 
regional level to explore new ways of 
working to improve service outcomes 
and efficiencies. 

September 
2017

August 
2017

Performance 
Manager
Helena 
Kucharczyk

Managing 
Director
Keith Ireland

2 Consider how 
you further 
utilise the 
‘Wolves 
Workforce’.

Strategic 
Executive Board

The recent focus has 
understandably been on 
improving what the Council 
does. There now needs to be 
more consideration of how the 
capacity of the City - including 
citizens, the voluntary and 
community sector, public sector 
partners, and other 
stakeholders - can be better 
harnessed to deliver shared 
outcomes through more 
collaboration, co-operation and 
co-production. Leadership style, 

Review the City of Wolverhampton 
Council’s approach to local 
consultation and engagement by 
developing a set of corporate 
standards and policies that are 
consistent to deliver this. To embed 
the responsibility of community 
engagement within an existing role in 
the insight and performance team.

Build on 2016 “Care and the Local 
Economy” initiative and implement 
“Careers Into Care” partnership with 
City voluntary and community sector, 

September 
2017

March 
2018

Corporate 
Comms
Ian Fegan

Skills
Angela 
McKeever

P
age 46



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

relationships and partnering 
approaches may need to evolve 
further to enable this.

care services employers and training 
providers to make care a career of 
choice.

Build on the recognition of voluntary 
and community groups through the 
Queens Award for Voluntary Service 
and other honours. 

Explore potential to work more 
collaboratively with partners through 
OPE initiative. Review existing assets 
across the City and understand 
whether new service delivery models 
could be created.

Review additional ways to encourage 
volunteering across the City.

Ongoing

March 
2018

December 
2017

Business 
Management
Laura Phillips

Strategic 
Projects
David Moore

Community 
Involvement
Sam Axtell

3 Strengthen the 
connection 
between city 
leadership and 
community 
leadership at a 
neighbourhood 
level.

Managing Director
Keith Ireland

Consider how the councillor role 
needs to change as the context 
of the place evolves. 
Councillors will need to play 
different roles in their 
communities, and be able to 
demonstrate a clear ‘golden 
thread’ of benefits at WMCA, 
city and neighbourhood level.

Grow Elected Member awareness 
and contribution to development of 
adult social care community offer, 
children’s services community hubs, 
public health and well-being place-
based initiatives and commissioning.

Continue to review the Councillor 
Development and IT Advisory Group 
to ensure that Councillors receive the 
right training to be able to support 
their communities.

March 
2018

December 
2017

Service 
Directors – 
People

Democratic 
Services 
Julia Cleary

P
age 47



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

SEB to lead on understanding the 
most effective ways of linking 
communities to their local Councillors 
and to the Council’s Vision. 

Provide support and training for 
Councillors in the use of social media 
and other digital media to be able to 
engage more effectively with their 
communities. The Council will use the 
example of Councillor Phillip 
Bateman, LGIU Communicator of the 
Year Award Winner 2016, as an 
example of best practice.

April 2018

July 2017

Managing 
Director
Keith Ireland

Corporate 
Comms
Tim Clark

4 Develop a 
stronger and 
more consistent 
communication 
on the social 
value outcomes 
and impact for 
Wulfrunians.

Corporate Comms
Ian Fegan

This is particularly in terms of 
the regeneration and inward 
investment. Citizens need to 
appreciate the benefits to them 
of the physical improvements 
being made to the City. 
Consider whether enough is 
being done to convey impacts 
and benefits for citizens and 
communities (people) as well as 
the city (place).

Need to review Rep Tracker survey 
questions to ensure it is more 
relevant and easy to understand for 
customers. Be more specific to 
developments.

Add supplementary question to Rep 
Tracker to see where respondents 
are hearing about specific 
regeneration projects.

Develop a specific – mainly digital – 
campaign such as ‘Changing City, 
Changing Lives’ or Wolverhampton 
for Everyone which focuses on VOX 
pops with local people and the 
benefits of local developments.

March 
2017

March 
2017

September 
2017

Corporate 
Comms
Ian Fegan

Corporate 
Comms
Ian Fegan

Corporate 
Comms
Shelley Jones

P
age 48



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Develop a content strategy which 
capitalises on current themes in 
communications / PR around user 
generated content, digital first and 
improved story-telling.

Make better use of Google analytics 
in our evaluation of communication to 
see search trends for the City of 
Wolverhampton.

Customer first narrative. Refresh to 
focus on local people and more 
around what is being delivered. Be 
more bullish about Council’s 
involvement in projects to ensure 
clear connection.

Exploit the full benefits of the new 
customer engagement platform. 
Improved segmentation supported by 
digital channels and review content to 
make it more accessible.

Recognise and support the role of the 
wider organisation in engaging with 
local people through consultation.

Promote the opportunities and the 
benefit for citizens as part of a wider 
communications strategy for the 
Smart City agenda

April 2017

June 2017

March 
2017

September 
2017

June 2017

Ongoing

Corporate 
Comms
Tim Clark

Corporate 
Comms
Shelley Jones

Corporate 
Comms
Tim Clark

Corporate 
Comms
Ian Fegan

Corporate 
Comms
Ian Fegan

City Economy
Keren Jones

P
age 49



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Communicate the wider benefits and 
how they will be achieved once the 
refreshed City Strategic Economic 
Plan is completed.  

Engage with City people, partners 
and stakeholders to co-produce 
“Shaping Futures, Changing Lives” 
People Services Commissioning 
Strategy 

Improve relationship with citizens and 
providers for better commissioning 
and market-position analysis through 
developing web-based 
communications

Extend development of adult social 
care community offer, children’s 
services community hubs, public 
health and well-being place-based 
initiatives

Ongoing

July 2017

Dec 2017

March 
2018

City Economy
Keren Jones

Commissioning
Paul Smith

Commissioning
Paul Smith

Service 
Directors – 
People

5 Continue the 
focus on 
strengthening 
corporate 
governance 
further – 
including the 
investment in 

You rightly see strong corporate 
governance as being critical to 
a high-performing council with 
the means to proactively 
identify issues and take 
remedial action.
Consider how governance and 
decision-making can continue 

Rollout further functionality of 
modern.gov to improve transparency 
and monitoring of decisions. Notably:

 Track and evaluate actions 
and recommendations from 
Scrutiny Panels

April 2017 Democratic 
Services
Julia Cleary

P
age 50



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

performance 
management and 
scrutiny.

Governance
Kevin O’Keefe

to be developed and 
strengthened as the 
organisation’s operating model 
evolves.

 Modern.gov Web Library to 
host relevant background 
information for Councillors

 Workflow for executive and 
scrutiny meetings increasing 
openness and transparency

Re-structure Scrutiny Annual 
Planning Event and further alignment 
of agenda setting meetings to result 
in more relevant workplans for Panels 
with clearly defined objectives and 
performance measures.

From May 2017 Democratic Services 
will provide administrative support for 
Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny Panels 
to allow Scrutiny Officers to focus on 
scrutiny functions.

A political awareness course is to be 
developed to ensure employees 
understand the political structure at 
the Council and how decisions are 
made.

The Forward Plan template has been 
revised to ensure a comprehensive 
forward plan can be prepared which 
will provide greater transparency on 
the decisions to be made by the 
Executive of the Council.

June 2017

June 2017

May 2017

May 2017

August 
2017

March 
2017

Democratic 
Services
Julia Cleary

Democratic 
Services
Julia Cleary

Democratic 
Services
Jas Kaur

Democratic 
Services
Jas Kaur

P
age 51



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Through the Constitution Review 
Group the Constitution will be 
refreshed so that it is a logical and 
ordered document that reflects 
accurately the practices of the 
Council, supports the better 
governance of the Council and 
incorporates best practice.

A record of decisions, for all meetings 
of the Executive and Council are to 
be published by the following day of 
the meeting having taken place to 
provide greater transparency on the 
decisions made by the Council in a 
timely manner.

November 
2017

March 
2017

Democratic 
Services
Jas Kaur

Democratic 
Services
Jas Kaur

6 Accelerate the 
pace and 
ambition on 
digital 
transformation to 
support the 
delivery of the 
City Vision 
aspirations of 
digital inclusion 
and ‘smart city’.

City Economy 
Keren Jones 

In addition to using new 
technology and ‘digital by 
design’ ethos to reduce 
bureaucracy and cost across 
the organisation. Use digital as 
a proactive tool to drive change 
internally and externally. By its 
very nature the ‘digital 
transformation agenda’ is a 
dynamic agenda that needs to 
run at pace to be successful.

Agree the framework for a smart City 
strategy.

Develop and deliver a Smart City 
action plan and project pipeline 
together with key partners.

Run a smart city competition to draw 
out innovate projects and initiatives.  
To be sponsored and promoted by 
the City Board.

March 
2017

Ongoing

Ongoing

City Economy
Keren Jones

City Economy
Keren Jones

City Economy
Keren Jones

P
age 52



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

ICT
Andy Hoare

Build on current success and pace in 
extending use of telecare to 
transform care service delivery

Business continuity - Maintain and 
update as required new on-line 
incident management and business 
continuity planning tools for the 
Council.

Use digital technology to provide a 
matching service to bring together 
young people between the ages of 16 
to 21 with prospective employers in 
Wolverhampton based on skills and 
opportunities.

Provide an on-line citizen portal to 
encourage the public of 
Wolverhampton to adopt a healthy 
lifestyle through engagement with 
Public Health health programmes and 
facilitating access to Healthy Lifestyle 
Advisors and programmes.

Use of digital technology to 
rejuvenate Wolverhampton’s Library 
service and also opening up access 
to the service from locations that 
don’t have a physical library building.

March 
2018

March 
2018

October 
2017

August 
2017

2017-2018

Adults
David Watts

Public Health 
Ros Jervis

ICT 
Andy Hoare

ICT 
Andy Hoare

ICT 
Andy Hoare

P
age 53



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Provision of digital self-service kiosks 
and end points in public buildings, 
such as the Civic Centre and 
Libraries, and extending these digital 
self-service opportunities to non-
public buildings such as 
supermarkets.

Use digital signage across the city to 
signpost people to events, promotion 
of opportunities, provide interactive 
maps etc.

Use hackathons and community 
digital engagement events with 
partners across the city to explore the 
‘art of the possible’ with regards to 
delivering digital solutions that 
harness the ‘internet of things’.

Provide a unified digital access 
platform for the general public to 
access and transact Council services 
with the ambition of providing a 
unified gateway to access all public 
services in Wolverhampton, the Black 
Country and the West Midlands.

August 
2017

October 
2017

October 
2017

2017-2019

ICT 
Andy Hoare

ICT 
Andy Hoare

ICT 
Andy Hoare

ICT 
Andy Hoare

7 Further develop 
the 
interrelationship 
between the 

This should include a clearer 
strategic narrative about 
investment in regeneration, 
commercialisation, new ways of 

Consideration has been given to the 
narrative used to convey both the 
medium term and long term strategy. 
As a result, the Financial Plan has 

Ongoing Strategic 
Finance
Claire Nye

P
age 54



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

financial 
strategy, future 
operating model 
and vision.

Strategic Finance
Mark Taylor

working and reducing demand 
on services as being the ways 
in which the organisation will 
deliver its priorities while 
remaining financially viable and 
sustainable.

been revised to better reflect the 
strategic narrative.  

Strategic narrative around outcomes 
has been used during budget 
consultation.

Outcome based planning work is now 
underway and will enable better 
linkage of resources to Corporate 
Plan objectives. This will enable us to 
use the financial strategy to be seen 
more as an integrated part of how the 
council delivers its vision and 
priorities. 

The Demand Management project 
work is well underway and will be 
used to influence future budget 
setting.

Reducing demand - Continued  
implementation of  new Early 
Intervention model including the 
development of a targeted specialist 
support service that is reducing 
demand and improving attainment for 
Looked After Children living in 
Wolverhampton

Use impower analysis to support 
continued transformation of adult 

February 
2017

Ongoing

Ongoing

March 
2018

March 
2018

Strategic 
Finance
Claire Nye

Insight and 
Performance
Helena 
Kucharczyk

Strategic 
Finance
Mark Taylor

CYP
Emma Bennett

Adults
David Watts

P
age 55



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

social care services and public health 
and well-being services

Continue to develop a City Budget 
which will inform the SEP. This will 
take into account all public sector 
income and expenditure across the 
City.

December 
2018

Public Health
Ros Jervis

Finance
Claire Nye

8 Continue to 
ensure that 
opportunities for 
commercialism 
and shared 
services are 
constantly 
considered.

Commercial 
Services
Andy Moran

This is as part of future 
operating and service delivery 
models across the City Council, 
its partners and wider spheres 
of influence.

The Council has undertaken a review 
of the opportunities for income 
generation and this has identified a 
number of projects which have 
recently commenced including:

 Schools Trading Company
 Advertising
 Energy white label company

The assessment of commercial 
opportunities and ideas is being built 
into the Verto project management 
system to provide a framework for 
consistent evaluation, business case 
and implementation

The Council has joined a number of 
collaborative groups including the 
LGA Advanced Commercial Group

Finalise the Verto business case 
process

April 2017 Commercial 
Services
Andy Moran

P
age 56



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Develop an overall Commercial 
Strategy 

Develop a standard governance and 
administrative model 

Deliver agreed Action Plan to 
implement “Shaping Futures, 
Changing Lives” People Directorate 
commissioning strategy

Update Market Position Statements 
to support better investment 
decisions and actions within the care 
sector in the City

Develop “WV Care and Health 
Partnership” to lead investment in 
new community-based models within 
an overall accountable care system 
to drive efficiencies and improved 
citizen experience through more 
effective partnerships

Use opportunities agreed as part of 
Black Country to develop shared 
service initiatives e.g. Care Services 
Emergency Duty Team, WMCA 
mental health plans.

July 2017

July 2017

March 
2018

March 
2018

March 
2018

March 
2018

Commissioning
Paul Smith

Commissioning
Paul Smith

People
Linda Sanders

People
Linda Sanders

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet Meeting
26 April 2017

Report title Better Care Fund Section 75 Agreement 
(Pooled Budget 2017-18) & Additional 
Adult Social Care monies announced 
during the Spring 2017 Budget statement

Decision designation AMBER
Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Sandra Samuels 
Cabinet Member for Adults

Key decision Yes

In forward plan No

Wards affected All

Accountable director Linda Sanders Strategic Director - People

Originating service Commissioning, People

Accountable employee(s) Paul Smith Head of Strategic Commissioning
Tel:  01902 555318
Email:  
paul.smith@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

People Leadership Team
Strategic Executive Board                              
                                                                                                                                                                                               

12 April 2017
11 April 2017

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Note and receive the report proposing the use of the additional non-recurring monies 
announced during the Spring 2017 budget statement.

2. Agree to renew the Section 75 Agreement (Pooled Fund) with NHS Wolverhampton 
Clinical Commissioning Group (“WCCG”) for 2017-18.

3. Delegate authority to approve the final terms of the proposed Section 75 Agreement to 
Cabinet members for Adults, Public Health and Well Being and Resources, (Cllrs. Paul 
Sweet, Sandra Samuels OBE and Andrew Johnson) in consultation with Strategic 
Director for People and Director of Finance.

Page 59

Agenda Item No: 7



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 The purpose of the report is to:

 Provide Cabinet with an update report regarding renewal of the Better Care Fund Section 
75 Agreement (s75 Pooled Budget) with NHS Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning 
Group (“WCCG”) for 2017-18 and use of the additional Adult Social Care grant 
announced in the Chancellor’s Spring 2017 budget announcement.

 Seek Cabinet approval to renew the Section 75 Agreement (Pooled Fund) with NHS 
Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group (“WCCG”) for 2017-18.

 Seek Cabinet delegation of authority to approve the final terms of the proposed Section 
75 Agreement to Cabinet members for Adults, Public Health and Well Being and 
Resources, (Cllrs. Paul Sweet, Sandra Samuels OBE and Andrew Johnson) in 
consultation with Strategic Director for People and Strategic Director of Finance.

2.0 Background

2.1 Adult Social Care funding has received both greater political and public attention at a 
national level during the last quarter of 2016/2017. This has culminated in an alignment 
between the additional Social Care grant announced during the Chancellors Spring 2017 
budget announcement and updated policy guidance in relation to the improved Better 
Care Fund (BCF).

2.2 On 1 March 2017 Council approved the revenue budget for 2017/18. Subsequently, on 8 
March, in the Spring Budget, the Chancellor announced additional funding for Adult 
Social Care amounting to £2 billion nationally over a 3 year period. The allocation for 
2017/18 for the City of Wolverhampton Council is £6.402 million, however this tapers 
significantly over the following two years. 

2.3 One of the conditions attached to the grant is that it needs to be aligned with the Better 
Care Fund pooled budget through section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 (s.75). 

3.0 Better Care Fund Progress

3.1 Local Better Care Fund plans are subject to national conditions and guidance. Local 
plans are monitored through NHS England and there are strict timelines regarding 
submission of plans for both regional and national assurance of plans to take place.

3.2 National Conditions for 2017-19 

In 2017-19, NHS England will require that BCF plans demonstrate how the area will meet 
the following national conditions: 

• Plans to be jointly agreed; 
• NHS contribution to adult social care is maintained in line with inflation;
• Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services, which may 

include 7 day services and adult social care; and 
Page 60



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

• Managing Transfers of Care 

3.3 Local BCF plans would normally be fully developed and submitted well in advance of the 
start of a new fiscal year to enable implementation to commence at the start of the year. 
There has been an absence of planning guidance and agreed timelines from NHS 
England to enable local plans to be fully developed in preparation for submission.

3.4 On 31 March 2017 the DH and DCLG published the 2017-19 Integration and Better Care 
Fund Policy Framework. A draft plan is required to be submitted by the 9 May 2017 for 
regional and national assurance to take place.

3.5 A S.75 agreement is already in place for 2016-17. Council officers and Wolverhampton 
Clinical Commissioning Group have been developing the plan to refresh the s.75 
agreement for 2017-18. With the condensed timescale for submission it will be necessary 
for signing of the detailed submission to be appropriately delegated and a further report 
to be provided to Cabinet at a later date advising of the detailed revised s.75 pooled 
budget.  

4.0 Additional Adult Social Care grant (Spring 2017 budget statement Announcement)

4.1 The Local Government Finance Settlement includes New Better Care Fund monies of 
£1.173 million for 2017-18.  In addition to this an additional £6.402 million was 
announced in the Spring Budget to support adult social care.  The final conditions are 
expected in April, but draft conditions were circulated in March which are detailed below:

4.2 The 2017-19 Integration and Better Care Fund also makes reference to these funds in 
that:

4.3 The new BCF grant will be paid directly to local authorities via a Section 31 grant from 
the Department of Communities and Local Government.  The Government will attach a 
set of conditions to the Section 31 grant, to ensure it is included in the BCF at local level 
and will be spent on adult social care.  The final conditions will be issued in April.  
However, a draft has been shared with areas in March.  The draft conditions of use of 
the Grant can be summarised as:

1. Grant paid to a local authority under this determination is to be spent on adult social 
care and used for the purposes of meeting adult social care needs, reducing 
pressures on the NHS - including supporting more people to be discharged from 
hospital when they are ready - and stabilising the social care provider market.  

2. A recipient local authority must:

a. pool the grant funding into the local Better Care Fund, unless the authority has 
written Ministerial exemption;

b. work with the relevant Clinical Commissioning Group(s) and providers to meet 
National Condition 4 (Managing Transfers of Care) in the Integration and 
Better Care Fund Policy Framework and Planning Requirements 2017-19; and

Page 61



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

c. provide quarterly reports as required by the Secretary of State.

3. The Government has made clear that part of this funding is intended to enable local 
authorities to quickly provide stability and extra capacity in local care systems. Local 
authorities are therefore able to spend the grant, including to commission care, 
subject to the conditions set out in the grant determination, as soon as plans have 
been locally agreed.

4.4 In terms of the wider context, the funding is also intended to support councils to continue 
to focus on core services, including to help cover the costs of the National Living Wage, 
which is expected to benefit up to 900,000 care workers.  This includes maintaining adult 
social care services, which could not otherwise be maintained, as well as investing in 
new services, such as those which support best practice in managing transfers of care.  

The Council is required to pool these funds into the BCF which are 

Funding Source 2017-18 allocation £000
New Better Care Fund 1,173
Additional funds (Spring Budget) 6,402
Total 7,575

4.5 Scheme proposals

It is currently proposed to allocate the funds broadly as detailed in the table below. A 
more detailed plan will be developed and agreed through the BCF governance process 
as required in draft condition 2 above.

Scheme Estimated allocation £000 Notes 
Behaviour 
Change/Demand 
Management 
programme 
implementation

- Intensive change 
programme on 
hospital 
discharge

- Developing the 
Community Offer 

800 - Non-recurring spend 
with implementation 
timeline spanning two 
financial years.

- Any recurring spend to 
be met through service 
redesign.

Reconfiguration of Older 
People’s service activity

- management of 
existing cost 
pressures 
(including 

6,775

- Recurring commitment

Page 62



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Scheme Estimated allocation £000 Notes 
National Living 
Wage)

- Additional home 
care reablement 
including twin 
tracking the 
externalisation of 
in house 
provision with 
development of 
independent 
sector home care 
reablement 
capacity

- Enhancement of 
step down (extra 
care)

- To extend use of HARP 
for six months to 
31/3/18 and create a 
managed twin track 
transition period (non-
recurring)

- Pump prime additional 
capacity with invest to 
save evaluation and 
potential re-
configuration of spend 
within the BCF for any 
continuation

Total 7,575

4.6 Detailed Implementation Plans are being developed and will be shared and monitored by 
BCF Board and will also be provided to the Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing board 
on a quarterly basis.

4.7 There may still be further guidance and performance monitoring requirements published 
that may inform financial allocations and priorities.

5.0 Financial implications

5.1 The value of the pooled fund for 2016-17 was £56.8 million revenue; of which 
£21.6 million related to council funded services and £35.1 million related to CCG 
funded services. The fund also includes £2.4 million capital grant which is 
managed by the council.

5.2 The draft BCF revenue pooled fund for 2017-18 is still being developed and agreed. 
Agreement can only be finalised once the minimum allocations have been released by 
NHS England to the CCG and the CCG are in agreement with the use of the additional 
social care grant announced in the Spring 2017 budget.

5.3 The CCG will be required to make a minimum contribution to the budget. Their 
allocation will also include an NHS transfer to social care (previously Section 256 
funding). In 2016-17 this was £6.4 million, however, the level for 2017-18 is yet to be 
confirmed.

Page 63



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5.4 The Council’s minimum contribution includes the section 256 funding mentioned 
above which is a transfer from the CCG. The Council’s contribution will also need to 
include the £7.6 million of grants detailed in paragraph 4.5 of this report as well as the 
Disabled Facilities grant (capital funding).

5.5 The S.75 will make provision for risk sharing arrangements for any overspend/ 
underspends across the pooled fund.   The risk share has previously been agreed on 
the basis of the partners contributions to the overall fund. For 2016-17 the Council’s 
share of risk was 38%, however the risk share may alter as a result of contributions to 
the fund for 2017-18.

5.6 Once detailed schemes and budgets have been agreed by partners this will enable the 
plan to be signed off through the delegated authority being sought through this report.
[AS/13042017/Y]

6.0 Legal implications

6.1 Under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006, NHS bodies may enter into 
arranegements with local authorities in relation to NHS functions and the health functions 
of local authorities.

6.2      The Council may therefore enter into an agreement with Wolverhampton Clinical 
Commissioning Group under S.75 of the NHS Act 2006 or renew an exisiting agreement.

6.3      Legal advice will be required in respect of the specific terms of the agreement.
[TS/13042017/Q]

7.0 Equalities implications

7.1 Current proposals are developed at a high level. This report seeks approval for 
delegation to enter in to a new financial agreement with WCCG and provides broad 
areas on which additional social care grant is proposed to be used. Where required the 
detailed proposals will have individual equalities analysis undertaken. 

8.0 Environmental implications

8.1 There are no specific environmental implications identified, however any detailed plans 
will considered in their own rights as they are scoped for implementation.

9.0 Human resources implications

9.1 There are no specific human resources implications identified, however any detailed 
plans will considered in their own rights as they are scoped for implementation.

10.0 Corporate landlord implications

10.1 There are no specific human resources implications identified, however any detailed 
plans will considered in their own rights as they are scoped for implementation.

Page 64



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

11.0 Schedule of background papers

11.1 Budget Adjustment to reflect Adult Social Care Funding, report to Cabinet, 22 February 
2017 and Full Council, 1 March 2017.

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet Meeting
26 April 2017

Report title Connected Places Strategy Summary 
Document

Decision designation AMBER
Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor John Reynolds
City Economy

Key decision No

In forward plan Yes

Wards affected All

Accountable director Keren Jones, City Economy

Originating service City Economy

Accountable employee(s) Ruth Taylor
Tel
Email

Senior Regeneration Officer 
01902 555635
ruth.taylor@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Place Leadership Team             3 April
Strategic Executive Board         11 April

Recommendation for action or decision:

Cabinet is recommended to approve:
1. The Connected Places Strategy summary document for distribution.

Recommendations for noting:

Cabinet is asked to note:
1. The progress of a number of Connected Places projects and work streams that have 

emerged as a consequence of the strategy’s development.

Page 67

Agenda Item No: 8

mailto:ruth.taylor@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To present Cabinet with a summary of the Connected Places Strategy and an overview 
of project development.

1.2 To seek Cabinet approval for the Connected Places Summary document.

2.0 Background

2.1 A high quality public realm can have significant impact on the economic life of urban 
centres and should be an essential part of any successful regeneration strategy. The 
Council is in dialogue with an increasing number of developers and investors who want 
to bring forward new developments and an improved offer. They all reinforce the need for 
a well designed public realm in the city centre. Creating a public realm that is pleasant, 
clean and feels safer not only has a sound economic rationale, but also fosters civic pride 
and provides a range of social and health benefits for local residents. 

2.2 A report was presented to Cabinet on 16 September 2015, which outlined a new people 
centred approach for public realm improvements in Wolverhampton city centre. At the 
meeting Cabinet agreed to commission the following strategy documents:

 Connected Places Strategy
 Car Parking Strategy

2.3 In December 2015 engineering and design consultants Aecom were commissioned to 
draw up a city centre Car Parking Strategy. They were required to assess parking supply 
and demand, and make recommendations about future provision in the city centre. As 
part of this work Aecom was also commissioned to develop a supporting data and 
analytical tool to assess the adequacy of the supply of parking as new regeneration 
schemes are brought forward and demand changes. This work was completed in 2016. 
Through this mechanism the Council is able to make a robust evidence based 
assessment of the changing car parking requirements in the city centre. The tool enables 
the Council to determine the optimum location, quantum and type of car parking required 
as the regeneration of the city centre takes place as well as the ability to model the 
supply and demand of car parking resulting from new development and policy changes.

2.4 In March 2016, transport consultants JMP were commissioned to produce a Connected 
Places Strategy and delivery plan for the City centre. The focus was on providing a 
framework to bring forward schemes to improve the city centre environment for 
pedestrians and cyclists thus improving the experience for shoppers, visitors and 
workers. As part of this commission JMP were tasked with conducting extensive baseline 
research to determine how public realm enhancements could be implemented in a way 
that would underpin economic growth in the city. Part of this research included a series of 
consultation events with the public and internal and external stakeholders. A delivery 
plan was also proposed which will help steer priorities and suggests a programme of 
project delivery over short, medium and longer term timescales.

Page 68



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

2.5 Final drafts of both strategy documents were submitted in September 2016 and a variety 
of further detailed stakeholder consultations have since been undertaken.

3.0 Connected Places Strategy 

3.1 The Connected Places Strategy sets out the vision, key themes and delivery 
recommendations. It sets the context for a suite of supporting document, guides and 
technical reports, including the Car Park Strategy, Baseline Report, Materials Guide and 
summary document that together make up the Connected Places Programme. 

3.2 Extensive baseline work has identified the following as “key drivers for change” which the 
strategy seeks to address;

 The City centre needs a high quality public realm to make the City more attractive 
to people coming in to visit, work, learn and live, thereby helping to drive 
investment.

 There is a need to accommodate the additional demand for movement as a result 
of growth in and a shift towards non car based modes of travel. To achieve this, 
the environment for walking and cycling needs to be improved.

 Improvements to the walking and cycling environment will support the City’s 
priority of encouraging healthier lifestyles.

 Better connectivity between the city’s key assets and destinations needs to be 
achieved in order to attract people to visit and move around the city.

3.3 The Connected Places strategy sets out the following vision:

To create vibrant spaces that connect people to a thriving city centre retail and visitor 
offer driving jobs, opportunity and growth. 

More broadly, the Connected Places Strategy will make significant contribution to the 
delivery of the City of Wolverhampton’s 2030 vision by contributing to the creation of;

A city centre we are all proud of, with outstanding, vibrant, connected public spaces 
encouraging healthier lifestyles trough walking and cycling, and further boosting growth 
and investment.

3.4 There are eight key objectives necessary to fulfil this vision.

 Ensure safety at all times
 Make the city centre a fun and enjoyable place to spend time in
 Improve the cleanliness and quality of the public realm in the city centre
 Minimise negative impact of vehicles 
 Enhance the city’s rich heritage and culture
 Introduce more trees, greenery and open spaces
 Make the city centre easier to navigate and raise awareness of what’s on offer

Page 69



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 Ensure the city centre is accessible for all by all modes, with appropriate parking 
provision

3.5 Eight cross cutting themes are identified, which will underpin the objectives and vision. 
The themes are listed below:

 Identity
 Events
 Wayfinding
 Safety
 Car Parking
 Management and maintenance
 Digital technology

3.6 The Connected Places Strategy will provide a future blueprint for all public realm works 
across the city centre whether delivered by the Council or other partners and 
stakeholders. By adopting the vision, objectives and themes the Council can ensure that 
public realm interventions are coordinated and consistent. In this respect, the strategy is 
an essential component in the city centre’s regeneration as it will create the appropriate 
platform for development. 

3.7 The Connected Places Strategy summary document is attached at appendix 1. The 
Strategy and its delivery plan are supported by a suite of technical documents.

3.8 It will be delivered through a range of mechanisms including;

 Major development schemes e.g. Interchange, Westside, City Learning Quarter, 
Canalside Quarter, Molineux Quarter

 Cross cutting projects rolled out across the whole city centre e.g. the City of 
Wolverhampton Council’s approach to way finding, the “leaves and light” initiatives

 Campaigns and partnerships e.g. a partnership approach to events
 The planning process and guidance e.g. new developments being brought forward by 

independent investors, developers, businesses and individuals
 Maintenance and management regimes e.g. the city centre public realm design guide

 

4.0 Connected Places projects progress

4.1 The Connected Places Strategy sets out a number of physical projects and work has 
already begun on developing and delivering these, with the aim of securing external 
funding for their implementation. A summary of these projects is listed below;

Springfield Campus Link – This project covers improvements to the pedestrian and 
cycling route between Springfield Campus, the Interchange and wider City centre as a 
response to the need to improve the safety and pedestrian experience for students 
travelling to and from the West Midlands Construction University Technical College 
(WMCUTC) and other educational establishments on the site. Works to deliver phase 1 

Page 70



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

which links the campus and Wednesfield Road began in November 2016 and was 
completed at the end of March 2017. The works have been wholly support by Black 
Country Local Enterprise Partnership (BCLEP) funding. Phase 2 which will link 
Wednesfield Road to the Interchange is currently being drawn up and funding is being 
sought from the Black Country LEP and European Regional Development Fund.

Westside Link – With the exciting and transformational Westside leisure scheme there is 
a need to ensure that the pedestrian links between strategic regeneration sites and the 
city centre core are strengthened and made more attractive. A route which has been 
identified as an early priority is Victoria Street, Queen Square and Lichfield Street. A 
project focussed on this area would offer the opportunity to improve important links 
between the city centre retail core, Westside and the City’s principle cultural venues. 
Proposals for a major public realm and highway improvements scheme in this area are 
currently being developed and discussions are ongoing with partners such as House of 
Fraser, Benson Elliot and Urban & Civic to build a business case for the project for 
external funding. Baseline surveys and consultations have already been undertaken in 
the area following the temporary closure of Queen Square and Victoria Street during the 
summer 2016.

Royal Hospital / St Georges- With proposals for the housing development on the Royal 
Hospital site progressing consideration is being given to how to improve the connectivity 
across the Ring road through to the city learning Quarter and wider City centre. Scoping 
work is being undertaken in consultation with the HCA and other key strategic partners in 
the part of the City centre.

 Molineux Quarter – A feasibility study has been produced to explore options for 
enhancements to the Molineux Subway; the creation of a new event space on St Peters 
car park and the introduction of a surface-level crossing. The project is being scoped as 
a response to requests by the University and Football club to improve the walking and 
cycling routes from the Molineux Quarter into the City Centre. The University and 
Football club are fully engaged in the consultation on options and the way forward for the 
wider public realm improvements in the quarter.

5.0 Next steps 

5.1 The final section of the strategy outlines governance, phasing and delivery options for 
public realm interventions. This section addresses the following areas:

 Delivery issues and interdependencies
 Governance arrangements
 Phasing and Delivery timetable

5.2 It is anticipated that the delivery plan will evolve over time as developments come 
forward and priorities or funding streams change.

5.3 As part of delivery, all projects and work streams will be managed by the Connected 
Places Board, Keeping the City Moving Board and City Centre Programme Board. 

Page 71



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

6.0 Financial implications

6.1 There is a capital budget for the Springfield Campus Link of £600,000 in 2016/17 which 
is fully funded from Local Growth Fund Grant. Feasibility work around the Molineux 
Quarter (£33,000), ring road environmental improvements (£25,000) and Westside Link 
project (£40,000) are being funded through the regeneration reserve to develop the 
proposals to a sufficiently detailed stage that is required to attract external investment.

6.2 There are currently no Council capital resources allocated for this project within the 
Connected Places programme. The strategy forms the essential technical basis to make 
robust bids to a range of external funding bodies to secure resources to deliver the 
improvements identified [ES/06042017/V]  

7.0 Legal implications

7.1 There are no immediate legal implications arising from this report. However in due 
course there may be a number of statutory processes to complete with regard to the 
formal arrangements around any proposals in and around the City Centre and associated 
‘traffic regulation orders’. [RB/04042017/N]

8.0 Equalities implications

8.1 This report is supported by an Equality Analysis which highlights that any adverse 
impacts which are identified through extensive consultation will be addressed and any 
future risks mitigated against as far as possible through high quality design and 
management. The proposal will be supported by a full Equality Analysis as the scheme is 
developed, that will allow all stakeholders to negotiate a process that will comply with the 
Public Sector Equality Duty as created by Section 149 of the Equality Act. Councillors 
can therefore be confident that this report complies with their present responsibilities and 
that the process outlined will also allow the Council to use its influence in a way 
described by the Act and Duty. Through the preparation of detailed design principles 
there is an opportunity to clearly convey principles of good design that promotes equality 
and accessibility.  

9.0 Environmental implications

9.1 The development of a robust strategy and delivery plan will ensure the delivery of an 
improved sustainable environment focused on improving the connectivity of places and 
creating a legible environment conducive to walking and cycling, which will encourage 
modal shift and contribute to the reduction in carbon emissions. 

10.0 Human resources implications

10.1 There are no human resource implications from this paper. 

Page 72



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

11.0 Corporate Landlord implications

11.1 There are no known Corporate Landlord implications for this paper, but as the proposals 
develop, Corporate Landlord will be involved in the process as required.

12.0 Schedule of background papers

12.1 City Centre Public Realm (Amber) – Cabinet, 15 September 2015

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



1

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our vision for a better-connected city centre

Connected Places

P
age 75



Connected Places Strategy 2

“A high-quality public environment can have a significant impact on the 
economic life of urban centres and should be an essential part of any 
successful regeneration strategy. As towns increasingly compete with 
one another to attract investment, the presence of good parks, squares, 
gardens and other public spaces becomes a vital business and marketing 
tool: companies are attracted to locations that offer well-designed, well-
managed public places and these in turn attract customers, employees 
and services. A pleasant and well-maintained environment increases the 
number of people visiting retail areas.” (2003, The Value of Public Spaces, 
Cabe Space)

With changing consumer habits, a thriving city centre is one that offers 
a wider experience than shopping. It has attractive cultural venues, 
restaurants and cafes, live events and streets. To create a dynamic 24-
hour economy, a city centre needs to be a place where people chose to 
live, as well as visit. 

The City of Wolverhampton Council is in dialogue with an increasing 
number of developers and investors who want to bring forward this type 
of offer. They all reinforce the need for a well-designed public realm in the 
city centre. 

This Connected Places Strategy, outlines the vision, strategy and 
priorities for a people centred approach to improving Wolverhampton’s 
city centre’s streets and public spaces. Creating a public realm that 
is pleasant, cleaner and feels safer not only has a sound economic 
rationale, but also fosters civic pride and provides a range of social and 
the health benefits for local residents. 

More broadly, the Connected Places Strategy will make significant 
contribution to the delivery of the City of Wolverhampton’s 2030 vision by 
contributing to the creation of:

“A city centre we are all proud of, with outstanding, 
vibrant, connected public spaces encouraging 
healthier lifestyles through walking and cycling, and 
further boosting growth and investment”.

Creating the buzz

wolverhampton.gov.uk

P
age 76



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 3

Who needs to be involved in Connected Places?

The regeneration of a city is a complex process, involving many actors. 
The Connected Places Strategy is supported by a substantial evidence 
base and a delivery programme that has been put together with the help 
and support of a wide range of private and public sector partners with a 
stake in the city. 

The City of Wolverhampton Council has a key role in ensuring a coherent 
approach that results in a high-quality experience from arrival to 
departure for everyone who lives, works and visits the centre of the City 
of Wolverhampton.

“The city centre is undergoing massive change. All told, 
there is £1 billion pounds worth of investment on site of in 
the pipeline. This will transform the city centre experience for 
residents, visitors and office workers. We want the city centre 
to become a destination of choice for those who want a day 
out to enjoy Wolverhampton’s growing and distinct cultural, 
leisure, retail and hospitality offer. We want to create a buzz 
and vibrancy - the place to meet and greet business contacts, 
enjoy a drink and a meal before going to the theatre or a 
concert at the newly re-furbished Civic Halls. We also aspire to 
be a city of learning – and recognise the need for students to 
feel both inspired and safe as they walk between the University 
Campus, the City Centre Learning Quarter and the new 
Springfield Brewery Built Environment Campus and the bus 
and railway station.”

Cabinet Member for City Economy

P
age 77



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 4

Connected Places objectives and themes

There are seven key objectives that drive the Connected Places 
Strategy. 

The City of Wolverhampton want a city centre that is:

• a celebration of our rich heritage and cultural assets, as well as 
enhancing it with more trees and shrubs on streets and open spaces

• enjoyable and fun to spend time in

• a better experience for pedestrians and cyclists

• accessible for all, by all forms of transport

• Safe, and feels safe, at all times

• clean, tidy and well cared for

• embracing innovation through the intelligent use of digital and smart 
technologies

These themes will be delivered through a range of mechanisms, 
including:

• Major development schemes e.g. Interchange, Westside,  
City Learning Quarter, Canalside Quarter, Molineux Quarter

• Cross cutting projects rolled out across the whole city centre  
e.g. the City of Wolverhampton Council’s approach to way finding, the 
“leaves and light” initiatives

• Campaigns and partnerships e.g. a partnership approach to events

• The planning process and guidance e.g. new developments being 
brought forward by independent investors, developers, businesses 
and individuals

• Maintenance and management regimes  
e.g. the city centre public realm design guide 

The remainder of this strategy sets out the details of each theme, the 
assets and opportunities that can be built upon, as well what the City of 
Wolverhampton Council and its partners plan to do next.

To deliver these objectives the Connected Places delivery 
framework consists of seven themes:

• Identity • Safety

• Events • Management and maintenance

• Way-finding • Digital and smart

• Car-parking

P
age 78



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 5

The Connect Places Framework for Implementation

P
age 79



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 6wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 6

The Spatial Hierarchy is comprised of three district space 
elements. These are, in order of importance: 

City Core and Key Connections

 
City Centre Streets

 
Ring Road

Source: Invest in Wolverhampton Prospectus, CBRE

Hierarchy of Streets 

P
age 80



A number of projects are already emerging as priorities in the 
delivery of the strategy, these include:  

 Springfield Campus Link 
Creating a safe and accessible walking and cycling route 
between the Springfield Campus, the Interchange and 
the city centre.

 Timescale: 0-3 years

 Westside Link 
Creating and improved pedestrian experience between 
the new Westside development and the city centre core, 
by removing traffic and upgrading the public realm. 

 Timescale: 0-3 years

 Molineux Quarter Link 
The ambition is to realise a unique opportunity to 
connect the football club and university to the city centre 
through improved ring road crossings.

 Timescale: 0-3 years

 Royal Hospital and St George’s Link 
Strengthening the connectivity between the new city 
centre residential developments and the improved retail 
and markets offer.

 Timescale: 3-6 years

wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 7

Source: Invest in Wolverhampton Prospectus, CBRE

Connected Places Projects

P
age 81



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 8

Why this theme? 

Understanding local distinctiveness is key to creating successful places. 
Visitors are often surprised by the quality of Wolverhampton’s historic 
buildings, structures and other heritage features that enrich the urban 
landscape. The many small streets, such as Blossom’s Fold and Farmer’s 
Fold, are a reminder of Wolverhampton’s proud past as a “staple town” 
of the wool trade. There are prominent landmarks, such as the Chubb 
Building and Sunbeam Factory, converted for other uses, but providing a 
strong visual reminder of Wolverhampton’s prominence during the industrial 
revolution.

Our place narrative continues to evolve. The City of Wolverhampton has 
ambitious plans for the future, particularly in the city centre, with over 
£1 billon of development on site of in the pipeline. There is a new-found 
confidence in fostering enterprise, creativity, innovation and learning.

The assets and opportunities we will build on.

• Heritage: Within the ring road there are four Conservation Areas, at the 
heart of which is the distinctive St Peter’s Church, situated in an elevated 
position, that marks the very beginning of Wolverhampton as a place. A 
valued cultural asset, St Peter’s is surrounded by historic gardens and a 
high concentration of listed buildings. 

• Meeting places: The city centre has a number of established places 
where people congregate, such as like Queen’s Square with the 
renowned “Man on a Horse” statue.

 
 
 
 
 
 

• Linkages: Wolverhampton benefits from a significant number of cultural 
and leisure destinations, all of which are in easy walking distance of 
each other. Opportunities exist to improve the main routes between key 
destinations, both old and new. For example, Victoria Street, at 18 metres 
wide, has sufficient space to become an attractive boulevard linking the 
Manders retail core with the new Westside Leisure Scheme.

• Public Art: We believe that public art works best when embedded in 
the narrative and physical urban fabric of the place itself. There are many 
subtle, small scale, examples already, such as the historically significant 
Saxon cross in St Peter’s gardens, the carvings at the top of the Art and 
the Lady Wulfruna stature at the entrance to St Peter’s Church.

• Illumination: The 2013 “Enchanted City – Out of Darkness Event” was 
initially a one-off public art and event programme designed to enable local 
people to literally see the beauty of their city in a new, and different, light. 
It demonstrated how landmark buildings can be highlighted in unusual 
and creative ways, and, when supported be events and live performance, 
illumination can act as a magnet for local people and local visitors.

Identity

Connected Places objectives and themes

P
age 82



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 9

What next?

We will:

• Ensure that Connected Places Strategy forms a central component of the 
single investment plan for the city centre. 

• Work with English Heritage to bring forward an enhancement scheme 
for the historic heart of the city centre around St Peter’s Church and 
Gardens. 

• Enhance the views and physical connections between key landmarks e.g. 
the Grand Theatre, Art Gallery, St Peter’s Church and Civic Halls.

• Use major development schemes such as Interchange, Westside Leisure 
Area and the Learning Quarter to create new squares, focal points and 
meeting places. 

• Bring forward key schemes that strengthen pedestrian links between key 
regeneration projects. For example, a scheme called the Westside Link 
to connect the £5million refurbished Mander’s shopping centre with the 
Urban and Civic led £55million cinema, restaurant and leisure centre. 
The proposals include wider and attractive boulevards softened with new 
trees and appropriate urban planting. 

• Use “Leaves and Light” to campaign for creative and playful illumination 
and greening across the city exploiting the many opportunities that exist 
for the city’s landmark buildings and public art features. The campaign will 
also promote the installation of living green walls and well-placed pocket 
parks.

• Work with the Canal and River Trust to open up access and visibility 
for the canal, effectively creating new urban parkland and bringing the 
associated heritage buildings back to life.

Connected Places objectives and themes

P
age 83



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 10

Why this theme? 

Public consultation has made it clear that local people want a city centre that 
is fun and interesting, with unexpected areas of delight and places to play 
for people of all ages. This includes city centre festivals and events that the 
whole city can participate in. 

The assets and opportunities we will build on.

• Animation: The established City Centre Christmas Light Switch On, held 
in Queen’s Square attracted 5,000 people in 2016. Alongside this, the 
Wolverhampton BID company’s first Fun Fest in June 2016 provided free 
daytime activities for children and an evening 80’s themed festival with 
major headline artists, again attracting thousands of people. 

• Design: Whilst there are already some central spaces for events in areas 
of high footfall, there is not enough open, flat, clutter free, space. This 
means the ability to deliver large scale events is limited. There is the 
opportunity to address this through new development schemes.

• Evening and night time: Fundamental to a strong night time economy 
is a safe and attractive environment that reflects people’s mode of arrival 
and departure on route to the key night-time attractions. Particularly 
important are the routes between the key evening and night time venues, 
carparks, the station and hotels. 

Events

Connected Places objectives and themes

P
age 84



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 11

Connected Places objectives and themes

What next?

We will:

• Create safe and attractive environments that encourage people to stay 
longer in the evening and visit the city at night, starting with schemes 
for the immediate surrounds of each of our cultural and learning 
venues. This will include allowing cultural events, art exhibitions and the 
hospitality offer to spill out into the outside public domain.

• Work with the developers, Urban and Civic, to create a high quality 
public realm in the Westside leisure area, with additional events space 
and providing pedestrian safety and comfort that will enhance both the 
day and the new evening and night-time offer.

• Consideration will be given to improving the routes people take at 
the end of the working day, or arrival in the evening. This includes the 
sighting of activities that will encourage them to stop and dwell longer 
on route.

• Attention will be given to addressing the practical barriers to hosting 
outdoor events in new regeneration schemes. This includes installing 
utilities such as electricity and water, making it easier for pop up festivals 
and live events to take place.

P
age 85



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 12

Connected Places objectives and themes

Why this theme?

Whilst the city centre benefits from being compact and walk-able, the design 
of the public realm has not kept pace with change. Even, where change has 
occurred, the design of the public realm has often been overly deterministic. 
In particular, the ring road, in its current configuration, creates a visual and 
mental barrier for many pedestrians. The aim of the Connected Places 
way-finding theme, is to encourage innovative ways to build connections 
between the central area and the outer quarters and zones.

The assets and opportunities we will build on.

• A design led approach: There is an opportunity to reinforce the city’s 
identity and image through a co-ordinated approach to way-finding. The 
style should reinforce local character, reference the city’s unique heritage 
and cultural offer, as well as embrace a more contemporary feel.

• Sign placement: We now have an in-depth understanding of pedestrian 
movement and flows across the city centre and the places where new 
visitors need guidance on the route to take. We have also identified where 
new connections need to be created, and where barriers to movement 
are the greatest, and need to be addressed.

• Gateways: Important gateway projects, such as the Interchange, are 
already being implemented for those travelling by rail, bus or metro. 
Accurate and clear road signage and electronic information is an 
important tool to ensure legibility by motorists and visitors to the city, not 
just in the city centre but also on approach roads further afield.

Way finding

P
age 86



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 13

Connected Places objectives and themes

What next?

We will:

• Implement a co-ordinated, phased approach to improving way finding 
across the city, improving signage, the visual appearance, the quality and 
accuracy of information. The design will take account of the need to have 
distinct identity for the city centre.

• We will use our detailed research to design the new routes that are 
needed, as new development comes forward. This includes exploring 
options for better connectivity across the ring road at critical points, such 
as the housing led Royal Hospital site, the Westside link to Chapel Ash 
and a new northern ring road crossing between the City Centre and the 
Molineux Quarter.

• Opportunities will be explored for removing visual clutter and a more 
strategic approach to planting and landscaping around the ring road.

P
age 87



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 14

Connected Places objectives and themes

Why this theme?

The Council and its partners want to ensure that the city centre is served by 
the right type and standards of car parks, in the right place and at the right 
price. Affordable and good quality parking is a key competitive advantage 
when seeking to attract business occupiers in a city centre location, and we 
already know that the availability of parking and active travel incentives have 
influenced recent business decision on whether a company choses to locate 
within the city centre.To get to that position needs and flexible and phased 
approach as new developments come forward. We need to find new ways 
in which the parking offered can be adequately aligned to the needs of all 
stakeholders, as they change over time. 

The assets and opportunities we will build on. 

• Car park supply: Currently the city centre is over supplied with poor 
quality, surface level car parks and a significant amount of on street 
parking.This is set to change with the development and refurbishment 
of a select number of premium city centre multi-storeys within the ring 
road and further opportunities on the periphery of the ring road.This will 
reduce vehicle movements in the core of the city centre and enable us to 
transform unnecessary road space and creating new boulevards. 

• Improved car parking facilities: The newly refurbished Civic Centre 
car park is an exemplar of the style and scale of multi-story parking that 
should be delivered and street bays will continue to be provided within 
the ring road. At Interchange, the extended and refurbished carpark 
nearly doubles the capacity of previous carpark. At Westside, the 
proposal is to bring forward a 600 space multi storey carpark to replace 
the inefficient surface level carparking currently situated across each of 
the development parcels. This quality and density of parking is required to 
underpin the type of leisure led mixed use development being delivered.

• Car park design: We have researched and produce technical 
documents for the on the important design changes required to improve 
and modernise car parking facilities in the city centre.

• Long and short stay: The scale of city centre development planned 
for the future presents an opportunity over the longer-term to rationalise 
the offer. Short say parking will tend to be located within the ring road 
to service shoppers and leisure visitors. More of the long stay will be on 
the fringe of the city, with good quality pedestrian connections or public 
transport links park and ride sites. 

• Payment: The Council has committed to a more customer focused 
approach for the car parks it owns and manages. This includes, offering 
a better choice to people about how they pay for parking, including by 
card, on-line reservations and payment and payment on departure not 
arrival.

Car parking

P
age 88



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 15

Connected Places objectives and themes

What next?

We will:

• Plan and provide provision in a flexible and responsive way, as major 
development plans are firmed up and start to be implemented. Proposals 
will be informed by a robust evidence base we have been compiling. 

• Firm up on proposals for new multi-storey carparks, based on the 
location of key strategic regeneration sites and new traffic management in 
the city centre.

• Encourage proposals to come forward for 4-5 multi-storey carparks on 
the fringe of the ring road, in the longer-term. These should be managed 
to accommodate the high demand for office and commuter parking 
during the week, and lower demand evenings and weekend.

• Work with event organisers and the business community to co-ordinate 
and manage car parking demand, including providing better quality 
information for visitors planning their stay in the city.

• Ensure that new parking facilities are designed in line with best practice 
and Council standards. This includes the Council’s own car park provide 
adequate cycle storage and clear signage.

• Give attention to the design and provision for specialist needs such as 
taxis and disabled spaces.

• Use new technology to offer “frictionless parking provision” which will 
give motorists complete confidence of the ease of parking through the 
provision of real time information. This includes capitalising on new 
technology to advise drivers where vacant spaces are located as they 
drive through key gateways.

 

• Consult in the benefits of setting up a “parking association” for the city 
centre to assist in co-ordinating the offer to the public cross private and 
public car parking operations.

• Consider payment regimes that support the demand for people working 
in the city and visiting the city in the evening.

P
age 89



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 16

Why this theme?

Whilst levels of crime in public spaces can often be exaggerated, the fear 
of crime is a significant issue in many urban areas. When a place gains a 
poor reputation for safety, it can be difficult to reclaim a good reputation 
once branded. Currently, the number of people in Wolverhampton’s centre 
dwindles outside daylight trading hours which contributes to a belief it is not 
a safe place to be. 

The assets and opportunities we will build on.

• Lighting: Good lighting is essential for a city and can also be used to 
aid way-finding and add visual interest. New regenerations schemes 
coming forward provide opportunities to significantly improve on current 
standards around design and luminosity.

• City centre living: Our regeneration schemes include opportunities to 
create strong residential communities that will help to generate vitality in 
the evening and help with passive surveillance. New leisure, eating and 
entertainment uses, such as those planned for Westside will also help to 
add vibrancy and footfall during the evening.

• Crossing the ring road: The ring road creates a significant physical and 
psychological barrier around the town. improving crossing opportunities 
and facilities for pedestrians and cyclists is seen as a priority.

What next?

We will:

• Develop a cohesive approach for replacement and new lighting as part of 
the regeneration process, ensuring that visual clutter is reduced.

• Encourage development that includes active frontages, including uses 
that can spill out into the street.

• Ensure there are strong and attractive pedestrian connections between 
new city centre housing and the heart of the city centre, such as those 
planned for the Royal Hospital site, the converted Sunbeam Factory, the 
Canalside Quarter and Chapel Ash.

• Improve crossings on the northern section of the ring road to better 
connect West Park, Stafford Street, the University Northern Campus and 
the Molineux Stadium.

• Explore opportunities to soften the harsh environment of the ring road.

Safety

Connected Places objectives and themes

P
age 90



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 17

Why this theme?

Realising the full economic and social beenfit from a good, well designed 
public realm also relies heavily on how it is managed and maintained. A well 
maintained, high quality public realm pays a key part in attracting investment 
into the city.

The assets and opportunities we will build on.

• Surveys: Highways maintenance is safety led and undertaken in 
compliance with statutory guidance, with all carriageways and footways 
being inspected frequently, to ensure that they are safe and attractive and 
that repairs are undertaken quickly to reduce worsening of the situation.           

• Street cleaning: Street cleaning ensures the city is tidy and ready for 
business, it also provides the opportunity to identify any defects. The 
Wolverhampton Bid has supported the council the services by providing 
additional street washing and gum clearance mainly undertaken at night.

• Materials: The City of Wolverhampton Council has produced a Public 
Realm Design and Materials Guide setting our standards for materials 
and street furniture.  This includes a complementary mix of unit sizes 
and advocates the use of hazard paving materials at pedestrian crossing 
points, whilst also emphasising that these should take account of the 
specific context. The design guide covers a visually comprehensive range 
of street furniture to use in the city centre.

What next?

We will:

• Undertake regular inspections to identity and address defects at the 
earliest opportunity.

• Endeavour to maintain quality by avoiding repairs that patch with tarmac, 
where other materials have been used.

• Ensure that in sensitive historic areas the highest quality materials are 
used.

• Ensure public realm design will support effective cleaning and litter-
free streets, and the ease at which replacements can be sourced will 
inference the design decisions.

• Where possible, remove pedestrian guardrails to reduce visual clutter and 
create a more inclusive environment.

• Give meticulous attention to Council led maintenance schemes, and also 
encouraged in private led schemes, in line with the Public Realm and 
Materials Design Guide.

Maintenance and Management

Connected Places objectives and themes

P
age 91



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 18

Why this theme? 

Wolverhampton aims to be a Smart City. In order to remain competitive 
in the digital age, Wolverhampton must champion for modern digital 
infrastructure to be regarded as having the same criticality for investment as 
transport infrastructure. Our concept of a truly connected smart city includes 
digital, as well as physical, social and economic connections. 

The assets and opportunities we will build on.

• digital connectivity: A priority for the council and partners alike is to 
secure the necessary investment in broadband, WI-FI and other digital 
networks

• A three year programme is being developed for the introduction of Ultra 
Low emission vehicle (ULEV)charging points for both taxi and public 
charging with a view to a longer term programme covering other parts of 
the city. Charging points will be located on street and within Council and 
selected private car parks. Smart technology will incorporated into the 
infrastructure to allow easy booking and payment.

What next?

We will:

• Commission an independent study to set out how we can achieve a full 
fibre solution for the city centre area action plan area, as well as improving 
wifi connectivity.

• Encourage take up and demand from residents, business, visitors and 
learners.

• Identify other opportunities to capitalise on smart technology in city centre 
development projects and public services in the city centre.

Digital and smart

Connected Places objectives and themes

P
age 92



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 19

Connected Places objectives and themes

P
age 93



wolverhampton.gov.uk Connected Places Strategy 20

Wider Implications

The intention is that the principles themes set out 
in this strategy have a strong influence on our city 
development plans and also the service plans 
across visitor, cultural, enterprise and environment 
services. 

We also recognise the limitations of the 
Connected Places strategy. It is impossible to 
bring about transformational chance of any scale 
without simplification of traffic management within 
the city centre. As well as the construction of a 
railway station and extension fo the Metro line, 
further work with partners including Transport 
for West Midlands, National Express and taxi 
drivers will need to determine the best approach 
about changes to traffic management and vehicle 
access should be phased.

P
age 94



P
age 95



WCC 1508a  04/17

wolverhampton.gov.uk   01902 551155
 WolverhamptonToday     @WolvesCouncil     WolverhamptonToday

City of Wolverhampton Council, Civic Centre, St. Peter’s Square, 
Wolverhampton WV1 1SH.

You can get this information in large print, Braille, audio or in another 
language by calling 01902 551155 or order online here.

For more information on our work visit:

P
age 96



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet Meeting
26 April 2017

Report title Transportation Capital Programme – 2017/18 
and future years

Decision designation AMBER
Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Steve Evans, City Environment

Key decision Yes

In forward plan Yes

Wards affected All

Accountable director Ross Cook, City Environment

Originating service Transportation

Accountable employee(s) Gwyn James
Tel
Email

Bob Willis
Tel
Email

Head of Strategic Transportation
01902 555755
Gwyn.james@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Head of Operational Transportation
01902 555790
Bob.willis@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Keeping the City Moving Board
Place Leadership Team
Strategic Executive Board

16 March 2017
3 April 2017
11 April 2017

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Agree the list of projects for development and implementation as part of the 
Transportation Capital Programme 2017/18 and future years, as set out in appendices B 
and C.

2. Authorise the Head of Strategic Transportation and the Head of Highways Network to 
proceed with development work for each project on the list including surveying, site 

Page 97

Agenda Item No: 9

mailto:Gwyn.james@wolverhampton.gov.uk
mailto:Bob.willis@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

investigation, options appraisal, feasibility analysis, traffic modelling, detailed design, 
statutory advertising and public consultation, as appropriate.

3. Approve the projects marked ‘Approve’ in the ‘Approval’ column of appendix B for 
implementation, subject to the availability of funding.

4. Authorise the Cabinet Member for City Environment, in consultation with the Service 
Director, City Environment to approve, through an Individual Executive Decision Notice, 
implementation of the projects on the list marked ‘IEDN’ in the ‘Approval’ column of 
appendix B, subject to the satisfactory outcome of public consultation, availability of 
funding and any other relevant considerations.

5. Authorise the Cabinet Member for City Environment, in consultation with the Service 
Director, City Environment to approve, through an Individual Executive Decision Notice, 
the bringing forward of projects from appendix C to appendix B and thereafter to approve 
them for implementation during 2017/18 subject to the satisfactory outcome of public 
consultation, availability of funding and any other relevant considerations.

6. Agree to receive further reports at the appropriate times in order to obtain the necessary 
authority to construct the projects marked ‘Cabinet’ in the ‘Approval’ column of appendix 
B.

7. Authorise the Director of Governance to serve all necessary notices in respect of the 
projects listed in appendix B and, subject to there being no unresolved objections, make 
traffic regulation orders as required.

8. Authorise the Director of Finance to enter into funding agreements with the various 
funding bodies to receive grant funding in respect of the projects included in the report.

9. Approve the delegation of authority to the Cabinet Member for City Environment and the 
Cabinet Member for Resources, in consultation with the Strategic Director for Place and 
Director of Finance to approve capital budgets for transport schemes upon receipt of a 
grant offer letter. 

Recommendations for noting:

The Cabinet is asked to note:

1. The expenditure and progress made in delivering the projects in the Transportation 
Capital Programme during 2016/17, as set out in appendix A.

2. The Council’s continuing success in bidding for additional funding and delivering new 
projects through the Highway Maintenance Challenge Fund, the Local Pinch Point Fund, 
the Access to Growth Fund, the Managing Short Trips programme and more recently the 
National Productivity Investment Fund.

Page 98



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To seek approval to a programme of capital funded projects to develop and maintain the 
transportation network for the financial year 2017/18 and future years, subject to 
available resources and annual review.  Cabinet is also asked to note the expenditure 
and progress made in delivering the projects in the Transportation Capital Programme 
during 2016/17.

2.0 Background

2.1 The Council’s transportation capital programme includes separate allocations each year 
for the development of the highways network and for capital maintenance of the existing 
network. The programmes are predominantly funded by Central Government via annual 
grant allocations from the Department for Transport (DfT), known as the Integrated 
Transport Block Grant and the Highways Maintenance Block Grant. These grants are 
supplemented by Council prudential borrowing and third party funding secured through 
planning obligations or agreements through section 278 or section 38 of the Highways 
Act. 

2.2 In recent years the level of grant funding available to highway authorities via the annual 
block grants has been significantly reduced. At the same time there has been a 
corresponding increase in the funding available through competitive bidding processes, 
either directly from DfT (e.g. Local Pinch Point Fund, Local Sustainable Transport Fund, 
Highway Maintenance Challenge Fund) or via other organisations (e.g. Local Growth 
Fund, managed by the Black Country Local Enterprise Partnership). 

2.3 This report seeks approval to a list of projects for implementation during the financial year 
2017/18 and a further list of projects for which development work should be authorised 
with a view to implementation in future years subject to funding availability. 

2.4 This approach recognises the need to develop a ‘pipeline’ of future projects by 
undertaking the initial work that might be necessary to get projects ‘shovel ready’. Such 
work might include traffic modelling, feasibility, site investigation, detailed design and 
public consultation, among other activities. This enables the programme to be flexible, 
dynamic and able to respond to changing circumstances in terms of funding availability; 
this is particularly the case in the current climate where transport governance and future 
funding arrangements are in the process of review.

2.5 This approach also allows better management of budgets with the ability to bring forward 
alternative projects to accommodate any slippage within the programme or to react to 
changed circumstances or new funding opportunities. This flexibility and ‘pipeline’ 
approach has allowed the Council to bid successfully for a number of major projects and 
secure more than £55 million in additional external funding for transport projects in 
Wolverhampton since 2012.

2.6 The priority given to each scheme will depend on a number of factors including the 
results of public consultation, liaison with the Cabinet Member, ward councillors, accident 

Page 99



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

records, highway condition survey data, etc.  There will also be progress reports 
submitted to councillors at least annually to provide an update on the work completed; 
review the priorities for future work; add further projects to the List of Projects for 
Development; and seek the necessary approvals for the development and delivery of 
projects as required. 

2.7 The programme has been developed to take account of a number of ‘key transport 
priorities’ for the City of Wolverhampton that have been developed in conjunction with the 
Council’s regional partners to support the regeneration of the city and the wider 
Combined Authority agenda. These include the Stafford Road, Willenhall Road and 
Birmingham Road corridors; improvements to the ring road and arterial route network; 
further development of the city’s cycle network; and enhancing the public realm in the city 
centre.

2.8 The Interchange project is now well under way and includes redevelopment of the railway 
station and extension of Midland Metro to the station. The project is being delivered with 
external partners and falls outside the Transportation Capital Programme but it remains a 
key transport priority for the city.

2.9 The projects undertaken during 2016/17, and the anticipated outturn on each, are set out 
in the table at appendix A. Councillors are requested to note the successful delivery of 
the Transportation Capital Programme this year.

2.10 The proposed projects that form the Transportation Capital Programme for 2017/18 are 
set out in appendix B, while the projects for development for future years are set out in 
appendix C.  The estimated cost of each scheme is indicated, although costs will be 
refined as each scheme progresses through the feasibility/design/consultation process. 
There is an intentional ‘over-programming’ of projects to reflect the reality that some 
projects will inevitably be delayed due to unexpected circumstances or changes to 
priorities. The various work programmes, and the individual projects which make up 
those programmes, will be managed within the available resources for the relevant 
financial year and in accordance with the Authority’s developing priorities. 

2.11 Plans A to D at the back of this report show the locations of many of the key projects 
included in the programme. Plan A shows projects undertaken during 2016/17, as 
appendix A. Plan B aligns with appendix B and shows this year’s projects. Plan C shows 
projects for development in future years, in accordance with appendix C. Plan D is a 
composite ‘all years’ plan. There is also a plan titled ‘Cycle Strategy’ which illustrates how 
proposed cycle improvement projects link with the existing cycle network.

3.0 Proposed delivery programme

3.1 The right hand column in appendix B indicates the approval status of each scheme in the 
programme. 

 Projects marked ‘Approve’ indicates that Cabinet is requested to approve the 
project for implementation (or to confirm approval in the case of projects that were 
previously approved); this category typically applies to projects where a separate 

Page 100



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

consultation with local residents/businesses is not required because they do not 
involve any significant change to the network. 

 Projects marked ‘IEDN’ are generally those which require a public consultation 
exercise to be undertaken before the design can be finalised and therefore this 
report seeks delegated authority to the Cabinet Member for City Environment, in 
consultation with the Service Director, City Environment to approve 
implementation through an Individual Executive Decision Notice.

 Projects marked ‘Cabinet’ are those for which a separate report is intended to be 
brought to Cabinet at the appropriate time, seeking approval to implement the 
project. These are generally projects with a high value (in excess of £1.0 million) 
or a high public profile.

3.2 Cabinet is requested to approve the projects in appendix C for development in 
anticipation of them being implemented in future years. ‘Development’ may include 
surveying, site investigation, options appraisal, feasibility analysis, traffic modelling, 
detailed design, statutory advertising and public consultation, among other activities. 
Approval is also requested to delegate authority, by means of an IEDN, for projects in 
appendix C to be brought forward into 2017/18 if necessary to respond to changes in 
priorities and provide the necessary flexibility in the programme.

3.3 Delivery of the programme will be achieved using a combination of the Council’s own 
employees and external contractors.

3.4 Employees will seek to deliver the programme in the most cost effective way and 
minimise the impact on communities and highway users by, wherever possible, co-
ordinating maintenance projects with those for developing and improving the highway 
network. 

3.5 The programme contains nine separate components of which five relate to network 
development and four are capital maintenance. These are as follows: 

(i) Network Development

3.6 Local Growth Fund. The programme includes a number of major projects funded (or 
intended to be funded) through the Local Growth Fund’s ‘Access to Growth’ and 
‘Managing Short Trips’ packages. These projects aim to unlock growth and development 
through investment in transport infrastructure. The fund is managed by the Black Country 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP). New Access to Growth projects referred to in this 
report include the proposed Wolverhampton to Willenhall Metro Extension and Stafford 
Road M54 to Springfield Lane.

3.7 Highway Improvement Programme. This category includes projects that will have a 
significant impact on the network in reducing congestion and improving access to 
regeneration and development sites, thereby helping to encourage economic growth. 
Such projects tend to be medium to large in scale and significant in both cost and benefit 
terms. They are funded primarily through the IT Block grant, supplemented in some 
cases by developers’ contributions or individual project grants direct from DfT. This 
section also includes one project, A4124 Traffic Signal Upgrades, that is the subject of a 
successful bid to the recently introduced National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF).

Page 101



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3.8 Local Safety Programme. This programme has been a major contributory factor in the 
reduced number and severity of road traffic personal injury accidents in Wolverhampton; 
from more than 1000 in 2001 to 440 in 2016. The programme is developed using a 
prioritisation process in which each location is assessed on a range of factors including 
accident history, traffic flow, vehicle speeds and community surroundings. Potential 
projects are included in the programme based on issues that have been identified, often 
by local residents and businesses, as traffic management or road safety concerns. 
However, the list of projects requested is extensive and the prioritisation process means 
that some locations may remain on the list for many years.

3.9 Cycling Programme. This is a programme of minor projects to assist cyclists and 
promote cycling. Many of the projects are identified through liaison with local cycling 
groups and the City Council’s Cycle Forum and all accord with the adopted Cycle 
Strategy. 

3.10 Safer Routes to Schools Programme. This programme contains projects which are 
developed in conjunction with schools with the aim of tackling road safety concerns, 
reducing traffic congestion, improving air quality, and localised on-street parking 
problems.  The programme contributes to the Council’s objectives in relation to tackling 
child obesity and improved fitness by encouraging children to walk and cycle to school 
rather than being driven to school.

(ii) Capital Maintenance

3.11 Capital Maintenance of Classified Roads. This programme involves reconstruction and 
resurfacing of classified (A, B and C class) roads and is funded primarily from the 
Highway Capital Maintenance Block Grant for highways. The priority given to each 
scheme will depend on a number of factors including condition survey data, maintenance 
records, visual inspections, customer complaints and ward councillor requests. The 
approach accords with the Council’s Highway Asset Management Plan. The programme 
will be managed within the available resources each financial year and in accordance 
with developing priorities. This programme has been boosted during the past two years 
by the Council’s successful bid to the Highway Maintenance Challenge Fund (see 3.15 
below).

3.12 Capital Maintenance of Unclassified Roads. This programme covers the ‘minor’ roads 
in the network and includes both carriageway and footway resurfacing. As with classified 
roads, the projects to be implemented each year will depend on the availability of funding 
and the relative priority of each scheme. Included within the programme are a number of 
projects for re-paving worn out footways and pedestrian areas within the city centre core 
retail area, such as Dudley Street, Lichfield Street and Victoria Street. These projects will 
build on the work already undertaken to enhance the city centre public realm and make 
the retail core a more attractive, vibrant place for shoppers and visitors.

3.13 Highway Structures. The Council is responsible for approximately 120 bridges, subway, 
footbridges and retaining walls, which are inspected on a two year cycle. Defects 
identified are then programmed to be dealt with, where practical, from this budget. Larger 

Page 102



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

projects such as bridge strengthening or replacement will usually require separate 
funding and will involve applying for specific government grants.

3.14 Other Programmes. The Disabled Access programme is a package of measures to 
improve the accessibility of our footway network for users with physical or sensory 
disabilities. The Street Lighting Replacement Programme is developed using the 
established street lighting prioritisation process for replacing worn out columns and 
upgrading to new energy efficient lighting. Non-highway Structures relates to 
maintenance work on bridges that are within the Council’s ownership and therefore not 
funded from Transportation budgets but the work is nevertheless managed through the 
Transportation Capital Programme.

3.15 The programme for capital maintenance of classified roads has received a substantial 
boost from the Highway Maintenance Challenge Fund. Wolverhampton submitted a 
successful joint bid to DfT with the other Black Country authorities for the ‘West Midlands 
Classified Network Renewal Project’. Wolverhampton’s share of the award is £5.9 million 
spread over a three year period, 2015/16 to 2017/18, with the bulk of the money being 
available in years 2 and 3. The money is in addition to the Highway Capital Maintenance 
Block grant and allows the Council to make significant progress in addressing the 
backlog of highway maintenance work on the classified road network. The Council has 
submitted two bids for the second tranche of the Local Highways Maintenance Challenge 
Fund. The projects have been included in the capital programme in Appendix B for 
implementation, subject to the availability of funding and confirmation of a successful bid 
outcome

3.16 This year’s programme includes one flood relief project to address persistent flooding of 
properties at Waterhead Brook, Underhill. The brook is on the boundary with 
Staffordshire and the project will be promoted in partnership with Staffordshire County 
Council. It is expected to be funded primarily through central government grant funding 
available to deal with local flooding issues.

3.17 The capital expenditure on the reconstruction and resurfacing of roads and footways, as 
part of a planned Asset Management programme, has the effect of reducing the need for 
reactive maintenance and hence the pressure on the Council’s revenue budget for 
maintaining the highway network. It has also been shown to reduce the number (and 
cost) of insurance claims against the Council.

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 The Capital Programme 2016/17 to 2020/21 quarter three review and 2017/18 to
2021/22 budget strategy was approved by Council on 1 March 2017. The Transportation
capital programme (Network Development programme and Capital Maintenance
programme) is made up of a series of individual projects and programmes of works
totalling £38.8 million over the period of 2016/17 to 2021/22. For 2017/18 the approved 
budget is in the region of £9.1 million.

4.2 These budgets are funded from a range of sources including Prudential Borrowing, DfT
Integrated Transport and Highways Capital Maintenance block grants, section 278 /
section 38 funding as well as DfT grants for individual major projects. DfT Integrated

Page 103



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Transport allocations available for use across the workstreams are held within the
Highway Improvements workstream until projects are developed against this and the 
other workstreams. Similarly, DfT Highways Capital Maintenance block allocations are 
held against the Maintenance of Unclassified Roads workstream until projects are 
developed against this and the other workstreams.

4.3 The programme is predominately funded from DfT grant, developer contributions and 
other external grants. However, the Council utilises borrowing to fund a number of 
development projects either as match funding or in relation to the inclusion of ‘spend to 
save’ investment work programmes.

4.4 This report focuses on development projects for 2017/18 and future years and the 
anticipated outturn for 2016/17. Appendix A provides the latest forecast for 2016/17 
indicating a total outturn of £13.3 million against an approved budget of £16.1 million. 
The details of the final outturn position, along with any associated slippage will be 
reported to Councillors as part of the Capital programme Outturn 2016/17 and Quarter 
one 2017/18 report. 

4.5 The proposed package of projects shown in the table at Appendices B and C will be 
developed and managed within the resources available and further developed over the 
period 2017/18 to 2018/19. Cost estimates will be refined as projects are developed to 
produce a detailed design and identification of other costs such as service diversions.  As 
indicated in paragraph 2.10, there is an intentional ‘over-programming’ of projects to 
reflect the reality that some projects will inevitably be delayed due to unexpected 
circumstances or changes to priorities.  Over-programming aims to ensure that, as far as 
possible, the resources available are fully utilised.

4.6 It should be noted that Appendices B and C include a number of schemes that are 
subject to recent additional grant confirmation or are awaiting a confirmed grant offer. 
These are not currently assumed in the approved capital programme and are in addition 
to the budget allocation provided above in 4.1. These schemes include;  

 Two Highway Maintenance Challenge Fund (Tranche 2) bids which have recently 
been submitted relating to schemes at Oxbarn Avenue / Waterstones Road and 
Arthur Street bridge. Works are expected to total in the region of £1.4 million. 
Both bids, if successful, could secure up to £1.3 million of grant funding and be 
supported by local contributions in the region of £100,000. 

 Flood defence works at Waterhead Brook which are subject to a grant funding 
application, potentially securing £45,000 of grant funding supported by a local 
contribution of £30,000. 

 The A4124 Traffic Signal Upgrades scheme which has attracted National 
Productivity Investment Funding of £500,000 and the Wolverhampton to 
Willenhall Metro and Stafford Road M54 to Springfield Lane schemes that have 
attracted £250,000 of Local Growth Funding under the Access to Growth 
programme.
[TT/06042017/V]

Page 104



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 Under section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 the Council, as the highway authority, is under 
a duty to maintain public highways.

5.2 Where appropriate, legal advice will be obtained in respect of the various projects as and 
when they become operational in respect of matters arising under the Highways Act 1980, 
the Town and Country Planning Acts and other relevant legislation.
[RB/28032017/T]

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 Equalities assessments will be undertaken for projects and programmes as appropriate 
and in accordance with City Council policies and agreed protocols. Full and detailed 
consultation will be undertaken before projects are commenced and in the event of 
objections being received, these will be taken into consideration and the scheme 
modified if appropriate.

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 The work programmes set out in this report generally have environmental benefits. Many 
of the Network Development projects are aimed at reducing congestion and hence air 
pollution. Other projects will improve environmental safety for highway users. The 
‘carbon footprint’ associated with carrying out this work is considered to be offset by the 
benefits that will be achieved.

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 The delivery of the programme as proposed will fully commit the existing employee 
resources available to support the Transportation Capital Programme.

9.0 Corporate landlord implications

9.1 The programme includes a line for ‘Non highway structures’ which relates to 
strengthening and maintenance of structures owned by the Council but not part of the 
adopted highway. The structures (bridges and/or retaining walls) form part of the 
Corporate Landlord portfolio but the work will be managed by employees within the 
Strategic Transportation Service and, for convenience, is included within the 
Transportation Capital Programme.

10.0 Schedule of background papers

10.1 Report to Cabinet, 20 April 2016, “Transportation Capital Programme – 2016/17 and 
future years”.

Page 105



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX A
Projects undertaken during 2016/17

Programme/Scheme Title Ward Estimated 
Outturn 
2016/17

£000
Network Development

Wolverhampton & West Midlands Major Projects
Wolverhampton Interchange (highway improvements) St Peter’s 25
i54 Access N/A 140
UTC Major Scheme Various 9

LGF Access to Growth
Coach Link St Peter’s 93
Bilston Urban Village Access Bilston East 2,186
Springfield Campus to Interchange connectivity Heath Town 650
City North Gateway (Stafford Road Corridor) modelling and 
scheme development

Bushbury Nth/ 
Oxley/ Bushbury 
Sth & Low Hill/St 
Peter’s

160

City East Gateway (Willenhall Road Corridor) modelling and 
scheme development

Heath Town, East 
Park

140

A4123 Birmingham Road Corridor modelling and scheme 
development

Blakenhall, Spring 
Vale, Ettingshall

30

Pinfold Bridge, Wednesfield W’field South 600

LGF Managing Short Trips
National Cycle Network 81 route enhancements St Peter’s, Park, 

Tett Regis, Oxley
650

City Centre and Ring Road cycling improvements St Peter’s 625
i54 to Science Park cycle route Bushbury Sth & 

Low Hill, Bushbury 
North

450

Highway Improvement Programme
City Centre Transport and Movement Enhancements St Peter’s 229
Wobaston Road Corridor Bushbury N/Oxley 67
UTC Wireless Telecommunications Various 54
Raglan St Sainsburys s278 works St Peter’s 3
Birmingham New Road/Shaw Road Spring Vale 1,450
Compton Park access road and cycle route Park 14
Bus infrastructure improvements Various 34
New Cross area parking management Heath Town, W’field 

South
14

Roadworks information Various 18
Alfred Squire Road/Neachells Lane traffic signals upgrade W’field South 135
Ring Road/Snow Hill traffic signals upgrade Blakenhall/St 

Peter’s/Ettingshall
80

Elgin CCTV application All 15
Common database software upgrade All 21

Page 106



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Advance design of future projects Various 110

Local Safety Programme
Perton Road area Tett Wightwick 8
Penn Road/Manor Road Penn 51
Linden Lea Tett Wightwick 2
Wolverhampton Road East crossing Blakenhall 3
Stafford Street toucan crossing Bushbury Sth & 

Low Hill, St Peter’s
15

Darlington St pedestrian & cycle improvements St Peter’s 5
Stafford Road Five Ways Island Bushbury Sth & 

Low Hill, St Peter’s
19

Great Hampton Street St Peter’s 2
Urgent Works/TRO’s/Signs/Guardrails/Markings Various 60

Cycling Programme
Cycle Route Improvements Various 20
Cycle Parking Various 6

Safer Routes to School
School gate parking Various 30
Windmill Crescent Tett Wightwick 31

Total 8,254

Capital Maintenance
Capital Maintenance of Classified Roads
Bath Road Park 83
Bridgnorth Road Tettenhall 

Wightwick
94

Bushbury Lane Bushbury South & 
Low Hill

172

Bushbury Road Heath Town 59
Penn Road Penn 43
Ring Road St. Andrews and St. Peters St. Peters 219
Waddensbrook Lane Wednesfield South 132
Warstones Road Merry Hill 52
Stafford Road Bushbury South & 

Low Hill
1,650

Wednesfield High Street Wednesfield South 86
Birmingham New Road Springvale 218
Oxford Street Bilston East 34
Pothole Fund Various 110

Capital Maintenance of Unclassified Roads
Brooklands Parade and roads off East park 680
Baker Avenue Springvale 15
Newhampton Road East Park 46
Little Brickkiln Street St. Peters 7
Dudley Street St. Peters 40
Bilston Street St. Peters 165
Darlington Street St. Peter’s 42

Page 107



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Thin surface treatment Various 660

Highway Structures
Highway structures, strengthening and maintenance (rolling 
programme)

Various 120

Hordern Road Bridge strengthening Tett Regis/Park/St 
Peter’s 120

Tettenhall Road Bridge parapet repairs Tett Wightwick 27

Other Capital Maintenance Programmes
Disabled access Various 60
Street lighting replacements Various 120

Total 5,054

Page 108



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX B
Projects for Implementation in 2017/18

Key to ‘Approval’ column
Prior: Projects that have been previously approved for implementation
Approve: Cabinet is requested to approve these projects for implementation in this report
IEDN: Cabinet is requested to delegate authority to the Cabinet Member for City Environment 

and the Service Director for City Environment to approve these projects for 
implementation following the consultation process

Programme/Scheme Title Ward Estimated 
scheme 

total
£000

Estimated 
spend 

2017/18 
£000

Approval

Network Development Projects

LGF Access to Growth
City North Gateway (Stafford Road 
Corridor) modelling and scheme 
development

Bushbury Nth/Oxley/ 
Bushbury Sth & Low 
Hill/St Peter’s

270 110 Prior

City East Gateway (Willenhall Road 
Corridor) modelling and scheme 
development

Heath Town, East 
Park

680 250 Prior

A4123 Birmingham Road Corridor 
modelling and scheme development

Blakenhall, Spring 
Vale, Ettingshall

150 120 Approve

Pinfold Bridge, Wednesfield W’field South 800 200 Prior
Wolverhampton to Willenhall Metro study Heath Town, W’field 

South
150 150 Approve

Stafford Road M54 to Springfield Lane Bushbury North 6,000 2,500 IEDN

LGF Managing Short Trips
i54 to Science Park cycle route Bushbury Sth & Low 

Hill, Bushbury North
500 50 Prior

Highway Improvement Programme
Birmingham New Rd/Shaw Rd junction 
improvement

Spring Vale 1,550 100 Prior

Ring Road St John’s widening St Peter’s 370 250 Prior
UTC wireless communications Various 500 50 Prior
Sainsbury’s development highway 
improvements

Graiseley 350 30 Prior

New Cross area parking management Heath Town 150 70 Prior
Advance design of future projects (rolling 
programme)

Various 80 /year 80 Approve

Bus infrastructure improvements (rolling 
programme)

Various 30 /year 30 Approve

Traffic signs replacement (rolling 
programme)

Various 30/year 30 Approve

Ring road and city centre signage review St Peter’s 400 100 Prior
Ring Road environmental and safety 
improvements 

Various 250 IEDN

Page 109



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Bus lane enforcement, Phase 4 Various 60 60 IEDN
Arterial routes improvements All 2,000 1,000 IEDN
Cannock Road/Raynor Road CCTV Bushbury Sth & Low 

Hill
30 30 Approve

Ring Road/Snow Hill traffic signals 
upgrade

Blakenhall/St 
Peter’s/Ettingshall

110 30 Prior

Newhampton Road West/Hunter Street 
traffic signals upgrade

Park/St Peter’s 80 80 Approve

A4124 traffic signal upgrades (NPIF) Heath Town / W’field 
South

550 550 Approve

Local Safety Programme
Urgent Works/ TRO’s/Signs/Guardrails/ 
Markings (rolling programme)

Various 50/year 50 Approve

Great Hampton Street St Peter’s 20 20 Prior
Wolverhampton Road East crossing Blakenhall 70 70 IEDN
Malthouse Lane/Stockwell Road area Tett Regis 20 20 IEDN
High Street, Tettenhall (s106 funding) Tett Wightwick 20 20 IEDN
Wergs Road/Yew Tree Lane Tett Regis 10 10 IEDN
Mill Lane Tett Wightwick/ 

Regis
10 10 Approve

Hilton Road 20mph zone Spring Vale 20 20 IEDN
Vehicle actuated speed warning signs All 30 30 Approve
Stafford Street toucan crossing Bushbury Sth & Low 

Hill, St Peter’s
120 110 Approve

Pinfold Street/Dudley Street/Nettlefold 
Way tiger crossings

Bilston East 100 100 Approve

Sun Street guard railing Heath Town 10 10 Approve

Cycling Programme
Cycle Route Improvements (rolling 
programme)

Various 30/year 30 Approve

Cycle Parking (rolling programme) Various 10/year 10 Approve

Safer Routes to Schools
School gate parking (rolling programme) Various 10 /year 10 Approve
Castlecroft Road zebra crossing (between 
Bhylls Lane & The Avenue)

Tettenhall 
Wightwick/ Merry 
Hill

30 30 IEDN

Woden Avenue Heath Town 20 20 IEDN
Bushbury Hill School, Old Fallings Lane Bushbury Sth & Low 

Hill, Fallings Park
10 10 IEDN

Capital Maintenance Projects

Classified Roads
Bilston Road (Ring Road to Cullwick 
Street)

Ettingshall/East Park 690 690 IEDN

Birmingham New Road (Parkfield Rd to 
Spring Rd)

Ettingshall/Spring 
Vale/Blakenhall

540 540 Approve

Black Country Route (Coseley Road to 
Oxford St)

Bilston East 320 320 IEDN

Page 110



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Penn Road (Stubbs Rd to Coalway Rd) Graiseley/Blakenhall 70 70 Approve
Coalway Road Penn/Graiseley 430 430 Approve
Ring Road St John’s St Peter’s/Blakenhall 110 110 Approve
Three Tuns Lane Bushbury North 160 160 Approve
Waterloo Road St Peter’s 110 110 IEDN
Chapel Ash/ Compton Rd (Part) Graiseley/Park 220 220 IEDN
Lower Street Tettenhall Regis 90 90 IEDN
Neachells Lane/ Alfred Squire Road 
Junction

W’field South 50 50 IEDN

Millfields Road Ettingshall 190 190 IEDN

Unclassified Roads - Carriageways
Thin surface treatment (rolling 
programme)

Various 660/year 660 Approve

Red Lion Street St Peter’s 50 50 IEDN

Unclassified Roads - Footways
Dudley Street St Peter’s 880 300 Prior
Queen Square St Peter’s 310 50 Prior
Lich Gates St Peter’s 120 120 IEDN
Exchange Street St Peter’s 140 140 IEDN
Brooklands Parade and roads off East Park 580 50 Prior
Bushbury Lane Bushbury South & 

Low Hill
350 350 Approve

Hall Park Street Ettingshall 50 50 IEDN
Uplands Avenue and roads off Merry Hill 100 100 IEDN
Woodhouse Road Tettenhall Regis 50 50 IEDN
Grove Lane Tettenhall Wightwick 170 170 IEDN
Warstones Road and Oxbarn Avenue Graiseley/Penn/ 

Merry Hill
720 720 IEDN

Highway Structures
Highway structures, strengthening and 
maintenance (rolling programme)

Various 100/year 100 Approve

Compton Bridge resurfacing Tett Wightwick 30 30 Approve
Tettenhall Road Bridge parapet repairs Tett Wightwick 120 90 Approve
Arthur Street Bridge Bilston East 660 660 Approve
Wightwick Bridge strengthening Tett Wightwick 30 30 Approve

Other Capital Maintenance 
Programmes
Disabled Access (rolling programme) Various 60 /year 60 Approve
Street lighting replacements (rolling 
programme)

Various 350 /year 100 Approve

Non highway structures Various 480 150 Approve
Waterhead Brook flood alleviation Fallings Park 80 80 Approve

Page 111



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX C
Projects for Development for Future Years

Programme/Scheme Title Ward Estimate
£000

Network Development Projects

LGF Access to Growth
Cannock Road/Cross Street North junction improvement Bushbury Sth & Low Hill/ 

Heath Town
2,000

Wolverhampton Science Park access Bushbury Sth & Low Hill 1,500

Highway Improvement Programme
City Centre wayfinding St Peter’s 60
Cannock Road/Raynor Road CCTV Bushbury Sth & Low Hill, 

Fallings Park
30

Birmingham New Rd/Lawnswood Av junction improvement Spring Vale/ Blakenhall 800
Birmingham New Road/Spring Road junction widening Spring Vale 1,500
Ring Road/ Snow Hill traffic signals upgrade Blakenhall/St Peter’s/ 

Ettingshall
110

New Hampton Road/Hunter Street traffic signals upgrade Park/St Peter’s 80

Local Safety Programme
Lunt Road Bilston East 60
Penn Road/Marston Road junction Graiseley/Blakenhall 90
Amos Lane W’field South/ Heath Town 20
Stafford Road/Oxley Moor Road junction Oxley 60
Third Avenue/Raynor Road Bushbury Sth & Low Hill 30
Northycote Lane Bushbury North 150
Safety cameras upgrade Various 90
Henwood Road Tett Wightwick 30
Spring Road/Manor Road Ettingshall/Spring Vale 10
Kitchen Lane W’field North 40
White Oak Drive Tett Wightwick 40
Mill Lane Fallings Park 30
Lonsdale Road Graiseley 20
Wood Road Tett Wightwick 20
Greenfield Lane Bushbury North 20
Legs Lane Bushbury North 20
Barnard Road W’field North 40

Cycling Programme
Wednesfield Road/Wednesfield Way Wednesfield South 100
A4123 Birmingham Road/Birmingham New Road Blakenhall/Spring Vale/ 

Ettingshall
800

Oxbarn Avenue/Warstones Road Graiseley/Penn/Merry Hill 120
Kempthorne Avenue/Third Avenue Bushbury Sth & Low Hill 140

Safer Routes to Schools
Bushbury Lane/Collingwood Road Bushbury North 30
Griffiths Drive/Peacock Avenue W’field North 20
The Lunt/Holy Trinity Bilston East 40

Page 112



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Ripon Road Bushbury Sth & Low Hill 50
Walter Road Bilston East 30
Bradley Lane Bilston East 20

Capital Maintenance Projects

Classified Roads
Anchor Road/ Biddings Lane/Shaw Road Bilston East 170
Birches Barn Road Graiseley 250
Birmingham New Road (Parkfield Rd to Spring Rd) Spring Vale/ Blakenhall 790
Black Country Route (Coseley Road to Oxford Street, 
eastbound) Ettingshall/Bilston East 450

Blackhalve Lane Fallings Park 180
Broad Lane Park/Merry Hill 210
Cannock Road (Park Lane to Blackhalve Lane) Fallings Park 250
Chapel Ash Park/Graiseley 120
Coalway Road Graiseley/Penn/Merry Hill 580
Henwood Road (Service Road) Tett Wightwick 20
High Street, Wednesfield (Alfred Squire Road To Well 
Lane) W’field South 40

Lower Street (Aldersley Road to Tettenhall Road) Tett Regis 80
Millfields Road (Coseley Rd to Village Way) Ettingshall 130
Mount Pleasant Bilston East 170
Ring Road footways St Peter’s 710
Rookery Street/Wolverhampton Road Heath Town/W’field South 250
Springhill Lane Merry Hill/Penn 60
Stafford Road (Vine Island to M54) Bushbury North 530
Stafford Street (Cannock Rd to Ring Road, Inbound) Heath Town 120
Stowheath Lane (part) East Park 70
Tettenhall Road Park 550
Willenhall Road, Bilston Bilston North/Bilston East 190
Wobaston Road Bushbury North/ Oxley 220

Unclassified Roads - Carriageways
Fern Leys Tett Wightwick 10
Merridale St West Graiseley 70
Hilton Street Heath Town 60
Highfields Road, Bilston Bilston East 90
Moseley Rd (part) Bilston North 30
Dunstall Road (part) St Peter’s 170
The Crescent Bilston East 30
Barnhurst Lane/Pendeford Avenue Oxley/Tett Regis 430
Broad Lanes Bilston East 180
Bushbury Lane (Elston Hall Lane to Legs Lane) Bushbury North 400
Hordern Road St Peter’s/Park 330
Hunter Street St Peter’s/Park 30
Kitchen Lane W’field North 280

Northycote Lane/Legs Lane/Underhill Lane Bushbury North/ Fallings 
Park 650

Old Fallings Lane (Cannock Road to Ruskin Road) Bushbury Sth & Low Hill/ 
Fallings Park 230

Vicarage Road Penn 180

Page 113



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Brooklands Parade East Park 90
Woodstock Road East Park 30
Laburnum Road (part) East Park 20
Mountford Lane Bilston North 70
Waterhead Drive highway drainage Fallings Park 30
Thornley Street St Peter’s 30
Westbury Street St Peter’s 30
Waterloo Road St Peter’s/Park 320
Ranelagh Road Blakenhall 20
Trysull Rd/Oxbarn Avenue junction Merry Hill/Graiseley 40
Ward Street Ettingshall 10

Unclassified Roads - Footways
Queen Square St Peter’s 310
Exchange Street St Peter’s 140
Victoria Street St Peter’s 510
Wenlock Avenue/Minsterley Close Merry Hill 50
Ruskin Road Fallings Park 160
Pinfold Lane Penn 280
Finchdene Grove Tett Wightwick 40
Planetary Road (part) W’field South 70
Woodhouse Road, Tettenhall (part) Tett Regis 30
Braden Road Penn 200
Rosemary Avenue Blakenhall 30
Spondon Road Wednesfield North 30
Woodstock Road/Hurstbourne Cres and roads off East Park 140
Silverton Way/Coleman Avenue W’field South 20
Darlington Street St Peter’s 170
Lichfield St (Princes Sq – Railway Dr) St Peter’s 350

Highway Structures
Barnhurst Lane Bridge strengthening Tett Regis/Oxley 500

Page 114



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

P
age 115



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

P
age 116



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

P
age 117



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

P
age 118



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

P
age 119



T
his page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet Meeting
26 April 2017

Report title Heath Town Regeneration Project

Decision designation AMBER
Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Peter Bilson
Housing and City Assets

Key decision Yes

In forward plan No

Wards affected Heath Town

Accountable director Lesley Roberts

Originating service Place

Accountable employee(s) Sangita Kular
Tel
Email

Jane Trethewey
Tel
Email

Housing Development Officer 
01902 553362
sangita.kular@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Service Lead – Housing Development
01902 555583
Jane.trethewey@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Housing Board
Place Leadership Team
Corporate Landlord Board
SEB

22 March 2017
27 March 2017
19 April 2017
11 April 2017

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Approve the amended delivery proposals for the Heath Town regeneration project through a 
combination of 

a. direct development of the affordable units through the HRA (Housing Revenue 
Account), 

b. disposal of sites by competitive tender or through direct disposal with District Valuer 
valuations to private developers for market housing development.

Page 121

Agenda Item No: 10

mailto:sangita.kular@wolverhampton.gov.uk
mailto:Jane.trethewey@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

2. Approve the delegation of authority to the Cabinet Member for Housing and City Assets 
together with the Director of Governance or Strategic Director: City Housing to agree the 
details of disposal of sites at Heath Town at a value to be determined by the District Valuer 
or by competitive tender.

3. Approve the delegation of authority to the Cabinet Member for Housing and City Assets 
together with the Strategic Director: City Housing to agree the details of appropriation of 
General Fund sites within the Heath Town Masterplan area to the HRA for delivery of Council 
housing, at a value to be determined by the District Valuer.

4. Delegate authority to the Director of Governance to execute legal agreements in respect of 
the Heath Town Regeneration as required.

5. Delegate authority to the Cabinet Member for Housing and City Assets in conjunction with 
the Strategic Director: City Housing for the approval of any minor variations to the project 
required for its delivery.

6. Require that a minimum of 25% of the houses within the Heath Town development will be 
affordable and that the existing Multi Use Games Area (MUGA) and the Grosvenor Street 
open space will be upgraded.

Recommendations for noting:

The Cabinet is asked to note:

1. Progress on Phase 1 of the demolition works, and enabling works for Phase 2 of the 
demolition works.

2. Improvements proposed for the green field at Grosvenor Street.

3. Progress on Wolverhampton Homes’ £35 million Investment Programme for the Heath 
Town estate.  

4. The on-going discussions with Black Country Make Community Investment Company 
around providing access to a small site on a leasehold basis for the development of 
community build homes on the Heath Town estate.

Page 122



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the activity undertaken to deliver 
the regeneration of the Heath Town estate so far and seek approval of specific proposals 
which will progress the delivery of new build homes for the Heath Town project.  

2.0 Background

2.1 Cabinet Resources Panel on 4 October 2016 approved the procurement of a developer 
to deliver the Heath Town Masterplan proposals for the redevelopment of sites around 
the Heath Town estate. The process was initiated in 2016 and a number of developers 
expressed interest. However, after the pre-qualification stage, all but one developer 
withdrew from this process. The reasons given were that the property values in this 
locality do not support the potential risks associated with a scheme of this size on a 
brownfield site. Employees have now reviewed the alternative routes for delivery of the 
Masterplan vision for Heath Town.  

2.2 The Heath Town estate regeneration proposals have been through a lengthy refinement 
process. This has included land and property surveys, financial viability studies, phasing 
plans, engagement with residents and stakeholders, decanting, demolition and estate 
investment. In addition, soft market testing was undertaken with developers, and legal 
documents drafted. 

2.3 This supported the procurement process to select a developer to deliver 362 units, of 
which just over 25% would be affordable. However, on the Council issuing its invitation to 
the market, interest from developers proved inadequate to allow the process to proceed.  
Of eight initial expressions of interest, a single bidder remained. This leaves the Council 
without a competitive process.

2.4 Investment is being considered in the green field at the end of Grosvenor Street. 
Previous consultation exercises have highlighted the need for a small football pitch for 
young children, and officers will be consulting with the local community on this further.  

2.5 The planned works to enable targeted demolition are continuing on the estate. The first 
phase of enabling works is complete and the demolition works are near completion.  
Designs for the second phase of enabling works have been approved and contractors 
are on site. The process to appoint the demolition contractor for Phase two will start 
shortly.  

2.6 Investment works to improve the retained blocks on the estate have been designed, and 
the first phase submitted for planning approval by Wolverhampton Homes. These will see 
the appearance of the estate transformed over the next four years, with the safety and 
security of blocks upgraded, external improvements to deck access blocks and 10-storey 
tower blocks.  Work to improve the stair towers, lift enclosures and take away the upper 
level link walkways is also included in this programme. This programme of works will 
invest £35 million to improve the existing buildings and areas of the estate. 

Page 123



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

2.7 Officers are continuing discussions with Black Country Make Community Investment 
Company regarding their aspirations to develop community build homes.  A small site 
has been identified subject to BCM providing details, including a business plan, of their 
proposals.  If this information is not forthcoming and the work is not programmed in the 
timescales required, this site will be brought back into the overall masterplan proposals.

3.0 Options

3.1 Employees have reviewed the potential options available to continue the programme of 
regeneration on Heath Town, addressing the issues of risk and value that have 
prevented a traditional procurement approach from succeeding. 

3.2 Continue with a single bidder
The Council could progress with the sole bidder remaining in the procurement process.  
Guidance covering market failure requires a switch to a negotiated procedure, with the 
validity of scheme costs to the Council based upon benchmark data in the absence of a 
competitive process. This would require many inputs broken down in detail, to test value 
for money. Best consideration for land disposals would be assessed through the District 
Valuer valuing the land. This is likely to be a complex and time consuming process to 
conclude. It also carries a risk that the final position of the sole bidder may not be 
acceptable to the Council, as they are likely to seek full commercial advantage.   

3.3 Seek a Joint Venture arrangement 
Joint Venture (JV) partnerships deliver development through parties putting in their land 
assets, finance and expertise into a scheme, and then sharing the risks and profits 
arising.  As low property values and below ground risks have led to the limited interest in 
this scheme, risk and cost sharing may be of interest to developers. However, there are 
no guarantees that this will lead to an arrangement that delivers the best scheme, and 
reduces costs to the Council.  It is also likely that the legal agreements required to 
establish a JV will be complex to negotiate to conclusion.

3.4 Deliver directly through the HRA and disposal of sites to private developers
The original proposal divided the development into tranches for delivery but with just one 
developer, spreading the activity over five years.  The planned development can be split 
between direct delivery of Council housing on HRA land by the Housing Development 
Team, and disposal of some sites for private development to more than one developer.

3.5 This approach allows private developers to take on some of the more marginal sites 
along with other sites on the estate that are more viable.   Any affordable housing 
requirement would be delivered by the Council and funded through the HRs making the 
private sale element more attractive to developers.

3.6 The more viable private sites can be disposed of, with conditional contracts of sale to 
ensure that development proceeds in a timely fashion. This option allows delivery of the 
Masterplan to progress with similar assumptions and layouts to those anticipated through 
the previous procurement process, and which have been subject to extensive 

Page 124



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

consultation.  The Council and other developers will benefit from the detailed information 
and layout plans already prepared.

3.7 The Council’s capital investment proposals for block improvements have been designed. 
Some works to improve the front of the deck assess properties has been undertaken at 
Hobgate Road and residents have provided very positive feedback.  The first phase of 
this work will start on the maisonettes on Wednesfield Road in April 2017.  Council 
employees are working closely with Wolverhampton Homes to ensure that once the 
phasing has been agreed on the new build, this work complements the investment 
programme on the retained blocks.

4.0 Planning

4.1 The advice from Planning is that a single application could be made for outline planning 
permission covering the whole of the Heath Town development area. As the Council will 
be landowner when the planning permission would be granted, there cannot be a S106 in 
place to secure affordable housing. There will be planning policy requirement for open 
space enhancements and provision of a minimum of 25% affordable housing. These can 
be required by conditions on the planning permission. However, because conditions are 
less robust than a S106, Cabinet is requested to pass a resolution requiring that:

 a minimum of 25% of the houses within the Heath Town development will be 
affordable, and that;

 The existing MUGA and the Grosvenor Street open space will be upgraded.   

5.0 Phasing and Timescales 

5.1 The masterplan proposals will be reviewed, altering the proposed phasing of 
development across the estate. Previously, the project was broken down into tranches to 
allow a developer to start on the cleared sites whilst the enabling works were taking 
place. As the project has progressed, the enabling works on Hobgate Road will complete 
within the next two months which means this site will be clear for housing development. 
This site can be brought forward for development earlier than programmed. 

5.2 Subject to approval of the new delivery approach, detailed delivery timescales for the 
project can be established. These will be designed to dovetail with the investment 
programme in the retained stock, following on from the first phase of works planned to 
start on the deck access blocks on Wednesfield Road in April. It is proposed that the 
Duke of York site also starts early, as a visible site facing a main arterial route into the 
city. This is also where Wolverhampton Homes delivery starts the programme of stock 
investment works. It is anticipated the entire Heath Town development programme be 
delivered over five years with a later commencement, due to extending the timing of the 
delivery and sale of some of the market units, to assist in reducing the sales risk on the 
market sales units within the Chervil Rise location.

Page 125



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

6.0 Masterplan Review  

6.1 Council employees have reviewed the Heath Town Masterplan proposals in response to 
feedback from developers. It is proposed to alter the tenure mix of the development, 
and focus more keenly on areas with greater sales potential. This assumes the delivery 
of a larger proportion of affordable homes on the estate, including Council homes and 
Shared Ownership. The total number of new homes has been revised downwards, 
removing some units located in more marginal sites, for example neighbouring tower 
blocks. This ensures that sales risk and costs are reduced.

6.2 While the demolition of garages and walkways is opening up the estate, the impact of the 
21-23 storey blocks imposes upon some areas, potentially overwhelming the proposed 
new houses. Originally, Hobgate Road site proposals included market sale housing, but 
further consideration has concluded that this is not a good site for market sales resulting 
in a change to some of the house types and tenure now proposed on this site. Housing 
will be delivered by the Council, which will include bungalows in the unit mix. As part of 
the review, it is likely that Qualcast Road will be sold separately to a private developer for 
market sale housing as this is a more viable site. This is a site that can be delivered 
quickly as it is a cleared site and ready for housing development.

6.3 Following the unsuccessful outcome of the procurement process, the Council has 
commissioned advice from Faithful and Gould, and an associated architectural firm, to 
provide an additional commentary on the Masterplan and its commercial implications. 
This advice, funded by DCLG grant, will be used to further refine and finesse the overall 
approach.

7.0 Viability analysis

7.1    A financial analysis of the proposed development has been broken down into the three 
tranches of proposed delivery for review, as shown on the plan at Appendix 1. They are as 
follows:

 Tranche 1 Council development
 Tranche 2 Third Party Developer
 Tranche 3 Third Party Developer

7.2 Tranche 1 Council Development - Hobgate Road and Chervil Rise 

7.2.1 To meet any planning conditions for affordable housing, it is proposed that the Council 
uses HRA capital to develop the Hobgate Road and Chervil Rise locations, with the profile 
of units shown in the table below totalling 126 units. 

Page 126



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Table 1 Profile of HRA Units

7.2.2 The proposal to concentrate any affordable housing requirement with these areas 
maximises the development potential and viability of the other sites to make them more 
attractive to private developers.

7.2.3 Construction of the Council homes will commence around September 2018 after the 
demolitions and ground works have been completed.

7.2.4 Construction costs are estimated to be around £10.5 million based upon the current 
information on below ground conditions, as well as any planning requirements. It does not 
include demolition works, professional fees and any appropriations from the General Fund 
to the HRA. 

7.3 Tranches 2 and 3 Third Party Developers 

7.3.1 These developments comprise a mix of private sale units and market rent with all the 
affordable units accommodated within the Council development. There is also potential to 
include some shared ownership units within one of these tranches. The Council intends to 
apply to the HCA for grant funding to support the delivery of shared ownership units. 

Table 2 –  Profile of Tranche 2 Private Development Potential Units

Masterplan 
Location

Number of 
units

Unit type

Inkerman Street 9 Four bed three-storey terrace units
Across the site 42 Three bed three-storey terrace units
Duke of York Site 65 Two bed apartments
Chervil Rise 10 Two bed two storey Shared ownership, Chervil 

Rise, to be built out in Tranche one as 
shown in Table 2

Masterplan Location Number 
of units 

Unit type

Hobgate Road 21 Two bed two storey terrace units 
6 Four bed three storey terrace  

Chervil Rise 26 One bed flats 
55 Two bed two storey terrace

Across the site 18 Two bed bungalows Level two and three

TOTAL 126

Page 127



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Chervil Rise 9 Three bed three storey Shared Ownership, 
Chervil Rise, built out in Tranche one as 
shown in Table one

TOTAL 135

Table 3 – Profile of Tranche 3 Private Development Potential Units

Masterplan Location Number of Units Unit type

Qualcast Road, Wyrley Street, 
Alma Street

14 Three bed three-storey terrace 
houses

Qualcast Road 33 Two bed apartments
Qualcast Road, Wyrley Street, 
Alma Street

16 Four bed three storeys semi-
detached houses

Qualcast Road, Wyrley Street, 
Alma Street

38 Three bed semi three storey 
houses

TOTAL 101

7.4.2 The viability analysis indicates that the sites are marginally viable at current prices, 
however with little or no land value, taking into consideration below ground conditions, 
planning requirements and current price construction costs. It is anticipated that the 
Council would not receive a capital receipt for the land sale.

7.4.3 If the District Valuer, as part of the sale process, determined a higher value for the market 
sale units, it would still be unlikely to deliver a capital receipt for the land upon transfer, 
unless various aspects of the expenditure were subject to a value engineering exercise, 
such as construction costs and professional fees. 

7.4.4 The locations for the provision of these units have been determined by attempting to 
reduce the risk on market sales for the private developers by mixing some of the marginal 
sites along with the viable areas for sale, but equally to achieve a successful delivery of 
housing in the locality.  Consideration could be given to providing a greater number of 
market rent units, however this would have an impact on the viability of the proposal.  

7.4.5 To reduce the risk for private developers, we will work with the Skills Team and Business 
Engagement Team based at the Growth Hub to what offer can be developed for 
employers linked to the Wolves@Work pledge to provide support with recruitment and 
retention whilst also ensuring that new staff are provided with up-to-date information on 
new housing being developed in the North East of the city.  The Heath Town Regeneration 
project will be highlighted as part of this offer.  

Page 128



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

8.0 Risk analysis 

8.1   Financial Viability Risk - Given that the analysis of the Heath Town estate proposals 
indicates a marginal position due to static sales values, combined with the continued 
increase in construction costs, this emphasises the need for consideration of the 
programming of newbuild proposals for private developers and the mix of market sales to 
rental assumptions. These must consider the phasing of sites with best and least best 
viability profiles, to balance and manage cash flow effectively. The programme must also 
reflect the geographical location of sites to avoid overloading the market in some areas, 
which may impact upon sale values. This analysis must consider the wider competition in 
the development market in the city.

8.2   Sales and Marketing Risk - Heath Town Ward has limited new build activity for the sale 
market at present, with local newbuild proposals being more focussed upon the 
affordable housing, such as the Accord development on Woden Road. Co-ordination will 
be required taking into account the timing of other sale developments in the locality to 
avoid undermining values. 

9.0 Financial implications

9.1 The cost for the delivery of Council housing on the Heath Town estate was previously 
approved by Cabinet, with £10m from the HRA Capital Programme allocated for the new 
build programme here. An increase to the budget will be required to reflect the larger 
number of HRA units now proposed. Once the increased budget requirement has been 
clearly defined the HRA Business Plan will be updated to reflect this. Any required 
budget approvals will be included in later reports.

9.2     The land to be taken forward for disposal for private development has no assumptions 
made for any capital receipt, further analysis of the financial viability of the site is 
required. The values achievable for the Council will be low for the sale of any land within 
the Heath Town area. The Council to date has not placed any values against any of the 
proposed land for disposal or appropriation, which will be determined by the District 
Valuer at a later date, but within three months of the land transfer.
[JM/06042017/P]

  
10.0 Legal implications

10.1 The disposal route for Council owned sites to WV living has been established for other 
parts of the WV Living programme, ensuring that appropriate market value is achieved, 
and the transfer of assets is appropriately handled.

10.2 Appropriation of some sites from the General Fund to the HRA will be required in order to 
enable the development of the Council housing on some sites, for example the former 
Longley School site in the centre of the estate. 

Page 129



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

10.3 Disposal of the Qualcast Road and associated sites (details in Table 4) to a third party 
developer will be handled by a competitive tender process, to ensure that best 
consideration is achieved under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
[RB/05042017/B]

11.0 Equalities implications

11.1 This report has positive implications for the Council’s Equal Opportunities Policy as the 
implementation of the Heath Town masterplan will provide high quality mixed use 
development for a diverse community.  An Equalities Impact Assessment has been 
developed and this will be reviewed as the project progresses.

12.0 Environmental implications

12.1 The Heath Town estate is located with the Heathfield Park Neighbourhood. A 
Sustainability Appraisal has been prepared for the whole of the Neighbourhood Plan 
area. This will inform and influence the regeneration opportunities on the Heath Town 
estate and maximise sustainability. The newbuild housing created through the 
masterplan proposals will be of a high level of environmental sustainability, to meet 
modern standards.

12.2 The Investment Programme being delivered by Wolverhampton Homes includes a 
programme of environmental improvements across the estate to support and 
complement the refurbishment work they are delivering on the retained blocks.  

13.0 Human resources implications

13.1 The Heath Town Regeneration project work is being managed within existing resources.  
Investment Programme is being led and managed by Wolverhampton Homes within their 
existing resources.  Progress of both projects is monitored at the Heath Town Project 
Team meetings.

14.0 Corporate landlord implications

14.1 Corporate Landlord employees support the Heath Town Project Team and provide 
professional and technical support on the various aspects of the scheme in relation to the 
procurement, disposal and financial viability aspects of the development proposals.  

14.2 All commercial leases have been terminated in the shopping precinct and the GP has 
relocated to a nearby surgery. Residential tenants have been supported to find 
alternative accommodation and Chervil Rise is now vacant ready for demolition works.  
The block will undergo asbestos surveys before the enabling works commence.  

15.0 Schedule of background papers

15.1 Draft Heathfield Park Neighbourhood Plan and Heath Town Masterplan – 11 September 
– Cabinet Report

Page 130



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Heath Town Regeneration – 26 March 2014 – Cabinet Report

Seeking authority to declare property surplus to requirements and approval of the 
disposal strategies – 9 September 2014 – Cabinet Resources Panel

Heath Town Regeneration – Preparation for Procurement – 28 June 2016 – Cabinet 
Resources Panel

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



"© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100019537"; 1:3,500 ¯

Heath Town Masterplan
Appendix 1

Key
Site Areas
Tranche 3
Tranche 2

HRA:
Council
Shared Ownership

P
age 133



T
his page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet Meeting
26 April 2017

Report title Long Term Empty properties back into use – 
proposed pilot

Decision designation Amber
Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Peter Bilson
City Housing and Assets 

Key decision No

In forward plan No

Wards affected All 

Accountable director Lesley Roberts, Strategic Housing Director 

Originating service Housing

Accountable employee(s) Chris Hale
Tel
Email                                  

Head of City Housing
01952 551796 
christopher.hale@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Place Leadership Team
Strategic Executive Board

10 April 2017
11 April 2017

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

That Cabinet approve: 

1. The introduction of a 6-month pilot programme to further encourage the bringing back into 
use of long term empty residential properties.

2. The introduction of 2 pilot schemes of financial assistance

a. Scheme 1, being the conditional offer of up to £500 financial assistance for 
legal/agents’ fees connected with the sale of long term empty properties to 
encourage owners to sell

b. Scheme 2, being the conditional offer of up to £500 to incentivise owners of long 
term empty properties to participate in the Private Sector Leasing Programme

Page 135

Agenda Item No: 11



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3. Amendments to the Council’s private sector housing assistance policy to facilitate Scheme 1 
and Scheme 2.

4. The priority groups for this pilot programme being:
 Priority Group 1 - Unfurnished Properties listed as empty for more than 2 years.
 Priority Group 2 - Properties listed as empty for more than 2 years and furnished.
 Priority Group 3 - Properties Listed as being empty for between 6 months and 2 Years
 Priority Group 4 - Properties listed as empty with an exemption as the owner is either in 

care or probate has not been achieved 

5. That the financial expenditure and impact of the pilot is kept under review and agree to accept 
a future report to Cabinet on the impact and effectiveness of the Schemes.

Page 136



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To consider proposals for a pilot scheme to further encourage the bringing back into use 
of long term empty residential properties. 
 

1.2 To approve amendments to the Councils private sector housing assistance policy to 
provide assistance to facilitate the bringing back into use of long term empty properties.

 
2.0 Background

2.1 As at October 2016, there were 1,234 properties listed as long term empty (over 6 months) 
for the purposes of the Council Tax Base Return, 438 of which were listed as being empty 
for more than 2 years and subject to the 150% Council Tax charge with a further 88 being 
furnished and 854 properties being empty between 6 months and 2 years (December 
2016). A further 72 properties were listed as empty with an exemption as the owner was 
either in care or probate had not been achieved.

 
Length of time empty

Tenure < 4 
months

4-6 
months

6-18 
months

18 
month-
2 
years

2-5 
years

> 5 
years Total

All 
Props

% 
Empty

PRIVATE 
TOTAL EMPTY 780 205 610 121 357 59 2132 81845 2.6%
COUNCIL 
OWNED 
EMPTY 177 24 57 6 24* 0 288 26679 1.1%

TOTAL EMPTY 957 229 667 127 381 59 2420 108524 2.2%

* For redevelopment/regeneration purposes

3.0 Progress

3.1 The Council has been very successful in dealing with long term private sector empty 
properties bringing over 200 properties back into use each year reducing the total number 
of empty properties year on year. The number of chronically long term empty properties 
has been reduced from 330 in 2009 when the current Empty Property Strategy commenced 
to 59 (October 2016) – a reduction of over 82%. This is based on data provided over the 
period from the Council tax baseline data and provides an accurate evaluation of the 
position regarding empty properties. It should be noted however, that some unoccupied 
properties do not feature in the Council Tax records as they are considered to have exempt 
status for reasons such as the owner is receiving care elsewhere.  

3.2 It is not illegal to keep a property empty if it is well maintained. In such cases the Council’s 
ability to require it to be brought back into use is limited to encouraging and supporting the 
owners. There is a range of legislation that the Council uses to tackle empty properties, for 

Page 137



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

example building act notices, housing act enforcement, environmental protection action, 
enforced sale, compulsory purchase orders and other notices. The use of statutory powers 
such as CPO (Compulsory Purchase Order) is used in extreme cases but as a wide scale 
solution could prove problematic if not impossible. Undertaking a CPO can be a lengthy 
and complex process and should be used as a last resort.

3.3 However, the Council should consider its role in further encouraging owners of such 
properties to bring them back into use to contribute to the overall housing offer and have a 
potentially positive impact on New Homes Bonus payments. This report proposes a pilot 
programme to evaluate different approaches to incentivising owners to bring their 
properties back into use.

4.0 Pilot Programme Proposals

4.1 Due to the diverse nature of empty property owners and the wide range of reasons for 
properties remaining empty for prolonged periods, it is difficult to predict the take up rate 
and therefore likely success of any initiative. Any financial incentive needs to be effective 
in engaging with property owners without creating an incentive for leaving a property 
empty.  

4.2 An initial fund of £50,000 is suggested for pilot interventions which can be integrated with 
advice and assistance already delivered by the empty property team.  
It is recommended that the following schemes be implemented under the pilot through 
amendments to the Councils private sector housing assistance policy: -

4.3 Scheme 1  
A conditional offer of £500 financial assistance through a grant specifically for legal fees/ 
agents’ fees connected with the sale of the property which may prove sufficient to 
encourage the owner to sell.
The grant would be subject to the following Conditions 

 The property must be within the City of Wolverhampton Council area
 The property would not have normally have sold without the intervention of the 

Council
 The offer is on a “first come first” served basis based on the priority groups and 

subject to funding being identified and available
 The property must be sold within 6 months of being marketed to qualify
 The property cannot be sold to a relative of the current owner 
 Initial disbursements connected with the sale can be funded with any balance on 

completion of the sale, subject to the £500 maximum
 An agreement that any outstanding debts owing to the Council are be cleared 

from the proceeds of the sale 

4.4 Scheme 2 
Primarily targeted at owners of properties listed as empty for more than 2 years where the 
property is suitable for the Private Sector Leasing (PSL) Scheme (managed by 
Wolverhampton Homes) and the owner would rather rent than sell the property.
A conditional grant incentive of £500 would be offered when a property is taken on under 
the PSL Scheme. 

Page 138



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The grant would be subject to the following Conditions 
 The property must be within the City of Wolverhampton Council area
 The property would not have normally have been rented without the intervention of 

the Council
 The offer would be on a “first come first served” basis and subject to funding being 

identified and available 
 The lease must be signed within 6 months to qualify
 The property must be judged as suitable and sustainable for PSL by Wolverhampton 

Homes

A small capital grant secured on the property to improve it to a lettable standard for PSL 
could be considered. However, uncertainties arising from tying the owner into a lease prior 
to any works being completed could prove to be problematic and it would not seem 
appropriate for the Council to bear the upfront cost of repairs if the property is not to be 
used for long term housing provision at below market rent.  This option will be explored 
further with Wolverhampton Homes as part of the pilot.

4.5 Target Groups and Incentives
As funding for the pilot will be limited, it is proposed to prioritise those properties which are 
likely to benefit most from intervention. Schemes will be based around the following priority 
groups: -

Priority Group 1 
Unfurnished Properties listed as empty for more than 2 years. 
These properties will have hit the trigger for 150% Council Tax liability. Remaining empty 
at this stage suggests that the owners may require assistance to determining the future 
actions with respect to the property, including sale or making it available for let. It is 
proposed to test the effectiveness of any financial assistance and positive engagement by 
the empty property officers on this group.

Priority Group 2 
Properties listed as empty for more than 2 years and furnished.
Unlike the properties in Group 1 these do not attract a higher Council Tax charge after 2 
years. However, the incentives under the schemes could also act as a catalyst for the 
owner to sell or make the property available for let.

Priority Group 3 
Properties listed as being empty for between 6 months and 2 years
The majority of long term properties (854 as at December 2016) are from this group. Early 
positive intervention may assist in bringing about a resolution prevent deterioration of the 
property and subsequent detrimental impacts.

Priority Group 4 
Properties listed as empty with an exemption as the owner is either in care or 
probate has not been achieved.
While these cases would need to be approached with care, the prospect of financial 
assistance with legal costs to either settle probate or market a property for sale/ rent may 

Page 139



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

act as a catalyst for the owners or their representative to engage with the Council which 
may lead to a resolution.

4.6 Monitoring
It is proposed that the following criteria will be monitored to assess the effectiveness of the 
pilot incentives/ initiatives – 

1. Take up within each of the groups for each option set out above.
2. Number of owners positively engaged, negatively engaged or not engaged at all. 
3. Reasons that the options were not acceptable to owners within each group above. 

This monitoring criterion would show the effectiveness of the proposed interventions and 
inform the development of future initiatives aimed at minimising the number of empty 
properties across the City. 

4.7 Timetable
Should the proposals in this report be approved it is proposed that the following timetable 
will be implemented.

Revision to Housing Assistance Policy – April 2017

Implementation of Strategy – May 2017

Review and impact analysis – November 2017

5.0 Financial implications

5.1 The pilot scheme will be funded from the private sector housing capital programme. There 
is specific capital provision for the empty property strategy actions. The funding is also 
used to support voluntary and compulsory empty property acquisitions which are offset 
through the sale of such properties to new owners who undertake to bring them back into 
use. Funding the pilot programme will not adversely impact the acquisition actions under 
the Empty Property Strategy.

5.2 Bringing long term empty properties back into use or preventing empty properties being 
categorised as long term empty, will have a direct impact on the Council Tax baseline and 
the award of New Homes Bonus (NHB). The impact on NHB will be evaluated as part of 
the pilot scheme with any “additional” NHB generated being used to offset the scheme 
costs.
[JM/11042017/M]

6.0 Legal implications

6.1    The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002 confers a 
power on local authorities to improve living conditions in their area. It provides that 
assistance can be given for a range of matters including repairing living accommodation 
and the adaptation or improvement of living accommodation. Assistance can be provided 
in any form i.e. grant or loan and can be made subject to conditions. This power to provide 
assistance can only be exercised once a policy has been adopted and published thereafter 
the local authority can only provide assistance in accordance with that policy.
[TS/11042017/Y]

Page 140



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

7.0 Equalities implications

7.1 An initial equalities analysis has been undertaken indicating that there are no direct 
equalities implications. The bringing back into use of long term empty properties may 
provide additional housing opportunities in the City

8.0 Environmental implications

8.1 The bringing back into use of long term empty properties will have a positive impact on the 
city environment. 

9.0 Human resources implications

9.1 The pilot scheme will be undertaken within the existing resources available to tackle long 
term empty properties within City Housing. Should the pilot prove to be successful any 
resourcing implications will be considered as part of the review and any proposals to extend 
or expand the scheme.

10.0 Corporate Landlord implications

10.1 There are no direct Corporate Landlord implications

11.0 Schedule of background papers

11.1 Wolverhampton Empty Property Strategy

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet Meeting
26 April 2017

Report title Adult Social Care Peer Challenge – 
Improvement Action Plan 

Decision designation
Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Sandra Samuels
Adults

Key decision No

In forward plan No

Wards affected All

Accountable director Linda Sanders, People 

Originating service Adult Social Care – Older People, All Age Disabilities & Mental 
Health  

Accountable employee(s) Linda Sanders
Tel
Email

Strategic Director People
01902 553000
linda.sanders@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be considered 
by

Strategic Executive Board
Cabinet 

11 April 2017 
 26 April 2017

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Agree the finalised Peer Review Action Plan and the final implementation stages of 
the Peer Review. 

Page 143

Agenda Item No: 12

mailto:linda.sanders@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 For Cabinet to agree the implementation of the City’s adult social care Peer Review 
Improvement Action Plan and process for 2016-17. 

2.0 Background

2.1 Through the Strategic Director of People Services, the Council participated in the West 
Midlands Association of Directors of Adult Social Services regional sector led 
improvement programme of Peer Challenges as part of a collective commitment to 
continual improvement of adult social care services in the region.

2.2 A Report and Improvement Plan was considered and approved by the Cabinet 
(Performance Management) Panel on 13 June 2016.

2.3 Strategic Executive Board noted the initial monitoring of the Improvement Action Plan on 
26 July 2016 and People Leadership have maintained monitoring in the interim. 

2.4 Peter Hay, Strategic Director for People in Birmingham City Council visited the City of 
Wolverhampton on 24 March 2017 to complete the adult social care peer review process 
and the updated Action Plan monitoring, attached as Appendix 1, was presented and 
discussed.       

3.0 Progress, options, discussion, etc.

3.1 Mr Hay has written a formal letter (Appendix 2) to Linda Sanders which will complete this 
year’s process. The letter was shared with SEB on 11 April.  At the end of the review 
session on 24 March Mr Hay commented that the progress which had been made was 
“really impressive”.  He stated that that the Council had “embraced peer review and gone 
with it” and that it was “amazing to see the peer review so embedded.”

3.2 With regard to the detailed actions, Mr Hay drew particular attention to two. Firstly, in 
terms of the close working between the People and Place Directorates on the “Care and 
the Local Economy” theme, Mr Hay described this as “really powerful.”  It was 
acknowledged that a good structure had been developed from which to lead the steps to 
reduce the vacancy rate in the local care sector. Secondly, in terms of care practice he 
drew attention to the value of the case file audit process and welcomed the new Quality 
Assurance Framework agreed by Adult Social Care and the implementation plan.

3.3 In the light of discussion about joint work with the NHS in the City and the use of the 
Better Care Fund as a delivery vehicle for the Sustainability and Transformation Plans, 
Mr Hay suggested that the narrative could be strengthened to reflect the direction being 
given in the City to next steps on care and health partnerships. 

3.4 Of the sixteen actions identified in the Action Plan, three are rated as Amber and the 
remainder as Green. Work needs to continue most areas in the Action Plan such as 
embedding personalisation more securely in our practice. The WM ADASS sector-led 

Page 144



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

improvement process will continue in 2017-18 and the annual self-assessment element 
of the process gives added context in addition to the internal Adult Social Care 
Transformation programme.   

3.5 Overall, the very positive reputation of the City of Wolverhampton within the region and 
beyond was noted at the Peer Review meeting.  A small contribution to this was reflected 
in the fact that officers were advised that it is likely that the style of review and 
presentation of evidence adopted by the City of Wolverhampton will be recommended as 
a model for wider regional use going forward.     

       
4.0 Financial implications

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. Any costs from actions 
arising in this action plan will be met from existing resources. [GS/12042017/F]

 
5.0 Legal implications

5.1 The Peer Challenge Improvement Action Plan supports the Council’s continued work to 
meet its wide-ranging adult social care statutory obligations under the Care Act 2014 
such as market-shaping and the details identified in the Improvement Action Plan.
[KO/12042017/H]

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 The Peer Challenge Improvement Action Plan addresses wide-ranging activity. Some of 
the products of the Plan may require further equalities analysis which is otherwise not 
required at this stage.   

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 A key intention of the Peer Challenge Improvement Action Plan is to ensure sustainability 
for people needing support or care through sustainable resources management and 
service design to augment the assets which people bring in their lives.  Key activities 
identified in the Action Plan such as the development of an adult social care 
commissioning strategy will build-in environmental factors to their approach.   

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 Some organisational development activity such as the establishment of a single 
commissioning unit, has already been undertaken as a result of this Plan.  Further advice 
will be requested as required in respect of any other initiative. 

9.0 Corporate landlord implications

9.1 There are no corporate landlord implications at this stage.

Page 145



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

10.0 Schedule of background papers

10.1 Not applicable.

Page 146



wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our mission:

Working as one to 

serve our city

Adult Social Care Peer Challenge 
Commissioning for Better Outcomes
Peer Director Visit – 24th March 2017

Linda Sanders, Strategic Director - People

P
age 147



City of Wolverhampton – our place
• 254,406 population  …   Gender: 50.5% female; 49.5% male

• Average Age – 39 yrs.  

• 196,239 (77%) are 19+.   58,167 aged under 18.   6,000 85+

• Ethnicity - 64.5% white; 35.5% BAME.   42.7% of 5-17 years from a BME group

• About 31.5% of children and young people (0 – 17) living in poverty

• Unemployment rate double the national rate

• Life expectancy lower than England average, 20th out of 326 local authority areas 
in the Indices of Deprivation 2010

• 27,136 Carers (Census 2011) 

• 21% retired.      43,000 economically inactive of whom 11,200 are long-term sick

• 3,100 living with dementia 

• 850 working age adults with moderate to severe learning disability

• 5.2% have a long-term mental health problem  (GP Survey)

• 60% of people with a disability living in Wolverhampton are over the age of 60

• 104,000 dwellings (housing, flats, etc.) - 75,900 private dwellings (65,000 owner 
occupied, 10,900 privately rented;) 21,700 Council owned, 2080 Council owned 
with TMO; 4,320 rented from housing associations

P
age 148



P
age 149



Peer Review themes …

1. Shaping our Market 

a. Does our Market Position Statement provide a clear direction of travel 
for future commissioning and help to support service re-design? 

b. Are commissioning cycles and processes robust and do they help support 
financial efficiency 

2. Integrated Commissioning with Health 

a. Delivering the Better Care Fund 20/20 agenda through better 
partnership with Health Partners; is integrated commissioning working? 

3. Personalisation and Customer Engagement 

a. Does our commissioning provision enable maximum choice and control 
for the Service User and carers 

wolverhampton.gov.uk

P
age 150



Process / timeline

• 02/16  Case File Audit 

• 03/16  ASC Peer Review Team

• 20/04/16 Peter Hay’s Letter received

• 05/05/16 Feedback shared with Managers

• 24/05/16 Strategic Executive Board

• 06/06/16 Executive Team & 13/06/16 Cabinet 

(Performance Management) Panel

• 07/16 Strategic Executive Board - update

• 12/16 People Leadership Team

• 03/17 Peer Director Visit 03/17

wolverhampton.gov.uk

P
age 151



Internal communications

• Staff Events

– June 2016

– November 2016 (800 attendees)

• Management Event – 03/16

• Director’s Brief (monthly)

wolverhampton.gov.uk

P
age 152



P
age 153



P
age 154



P
age 155



P
age 156



P
age 157



P
age 158



wolverhampton.gov.uk

P
age 159



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



           This report is PUBLIC

   [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet Meeting
26 April 2017

Report title People Directorate Commissioning Strategy

Decision designation Amber
Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Sandra Samuels

Adults 
Key decision No

In forward plan Yes

Wards affected All 

Accountable director Linda Sanders, Strategic Director 

Originating service People

Accountable employee(s) Paul Smith
Tel
Email                                  

Head of Commissioning
01952 555310
Paul.smith@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Cabinet
Scrutiny Board
Adults and Safer City Scrutiny 
Panel
Children, Young People and 
Families Scrutiny Panel

26 April 2017 
30 May 2017
13 June 2017

14 June 2017
 

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Receive and comment on the attached draft People Directorate Commissioning Strategy 2017-
21, direct any required further actions; and approve the issuing for consultation and engagement 
with stakeholders prior to request for Cabinet approval of a final draft on 19 July 2017

Page 165

Agenda Item No: 13



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1  For Cabinet to note the content of the attached draft People Directorate Commissioning 
Strategy (Appendix 1)and advise on any point of content or process for completion of the 
strategy

2.0 Background

2.1 The attached Draft People Directorate Commissioning Strategy explains the overall
drivers, approach and content of the strategy for all parts of the service directorate.

2.2 The draft strategy is titled Shaping Futures, Changing Lives. It updates our approach in
two ways.

2.3 Firstly, by bringing together the wide-ranging activity already underway through
transformation initiatives in one place.

2.4 Secondly, it shapes the direction for the People Directorate in the next stage of
development in creating a single, simple narrative and model which will inform on-going
engagement, service transformation and planning as part of one council and with 
partners.

2.5 Updating a commissioning strategy also gives opportunity to incorporate developed
approaches such as our approach to de-commissioning. It gives new focus to other 
initiatives such as the HWBB priorities established in 2015/16. It also underpins the
way in which commissioning is being harmonised within the People Directorate.

3.0 Progress, options, discussion, etc.

3.1 There has been significant engagement across all sections of the People Directorate as
well as with colleagues in corporate procurement, finance, HR and workforce to develop the 
product to this stage. It may be that the content offers a template for application in other parts 
of the Council.

3.2 An early version of the draft was shared as evidence with OFSTED to support a positive
view of the “leadership” element of the 2017 inspection.

3.3 It is planned to share the draft Commissioning Strategy with NHS commissioning
colleagues in the context of overall work on care and health integration. The current stage 
of development and direction for care and health integration is reflected in the attached 
draft.

3.4 Best practice would suggest the need to engage with citizens and people using services
to support the development process of the strategy. It may be possible to link this to 
engagement activity being considered by care and health partners. A detailed plan is to be 
drawn up.

Page 166



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. Any actions arising
from the Strategy and the associated plans will be delivered from existing budgets.

4.2 A commissioning strategy and associated plans will be key instruments in managing 
the financial environment for the People Directorate over the coming period. 
[AS/23022017/B]

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 Details of law relevant to the development of a Commissioning Strategy are included 
in the draft strategy in Section 4.0 and include:

o The Health and Social Care Act 2012 section 192 (amending the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 section 116 (as amended 
by the Act – section 192) require a “responsible local authority” and each of its 
partner CCGs to prepare Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Joint Health and 
Well Being Strategies; and section 116A (as inserted by the Act – section 193); 
Section 196 provides that these functions are to be exercised by the health and 
wellbeing board established by the local authority.

o The Care Act 2014 –
 Section 3 establishes legal basis of integration of care and support with 

health services
 Section 53ff. establishes requirements relating to market oversight

o Children’s Act 1990 Section 22G creates a statutory requirement for a Sufficiency 
Strategy for accommodation of children looked after by the council under which is 
an important part of the commissioning

o Children and Families Act 2014 introduced new requirements including
 those on adoption, special educational needs or disabilities
 statutory requirements on integration with health and joint commissioning 

with health partners (Sections 25-26). [RB28022017/V]

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 The draft Commissioning Strategy is underpinned by population needs assessment 
analysis and market shaping activity. These strands provide a framework for action to 
support all parts of the community in the City of Wolverhampton to allow specific market 
shaping as needed.

Page 167



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 A key intention of the draft Commissioning Strategy is to ensure sustainability for 
people needing support or care through sustainable resources management and 
service design. This augments the assets which people bring in their lives. The 
development of neighbourhood and locality approaches support more sustainable 
approaches to personal support with potential positive benefit for the environment.

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 The Commissioning Unit has been re-organised and recruitment to vacant staff 
team roles is being finalised.

8.2. Any other activity which affects Council staff arising from this strategy will be 
managed through the relevant approved project plan and further advice sought 
as needed.

9.0 Corporate landlord implications

9.1 There are no corporate landlord implications at this stage.

10.0 Schedule of background papers

10.1 Not applicable.

Page 168



 

1 
 

 

          DRAFT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SHAPING FUTURES, CHANGING LIVES 

 

PEOPLE DIRECTORATE 

COMMISSIONING STRATEGY 

2017-2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 169



 

2 
 

x 

VERSION CONTROL 

30/01/17 V0.2 bc 

14/02 V0.4 BC 

20/02 V0.5 BC 

22/02 V0.6 post PD PLT BC 

09/03 V0.7 SEB BC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 170



 

3 
 

 

Contents 

 

1.0 People Directorate commissioning - Foreword  

1.1 Vision 
1.2 Commissioning – overall thematic approach  

 
2.0 Commissioning Intentions 

2.1 Commissioning Intentions 
2.2 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment   
2.3 Joint Health and Well Being Strategy 2013-18 
2.4 Market Position Statements 

 
 
3.0 Commissioning and People Directorate service areas 

3.1 Public Health and Well-Being 

3.2 Children and Young People  

3.3 Adult Social Care 

 

4.0       Commissioning contexts 

 

4.1     Commissioning and the corporate context 

4.2     Corporate Procurement links 

4.3     Commissioning and value for money 

4.4     Evidence-based commissioning 

4.5     Commissioning and the community context 

4.6     Commissioning and the legislative context  

4.7     Commissioning, engagement and co-production 

4.8     Commissioning, partnerships and integration 

4.9     Commissioning and workforce context 

4.10     Commissioning – quality and clinical governance context   

5.0 Commissioning Unit  

5.1 Commissioning Unit - functional design 

5.2 Analysis 

5.3 Planning 

5.4 The Commissioning Pathway and Unit Governance  

5.5  De-commissioning – our approach   

 
 
6.0 Endnotes  
 

Page 171



 

4 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 172



 

5 
 

1.0 People Directorate commissioning - Foreword  

Shaping Futures, Changing Lives – our title for this new commissioning strategy 

states what we are doing through this first Commissioning Strategy for the People 

Directorate.   Many factors influence the development of this new strategy: 

 Continued and growing focus on prevention, strengthening families and using 

the assets and strengths which individuals, families and communities bring to 

their experience of life to promote their wellbeing and when they need more 

support  

 Care Act 2014 statutory duty for market shaping and development  

 Renewed focus on collaboration rather than competition in NHS services 

 Co-production – extending new understanding and actions 

 Overall influence of changes in law such as the Care Act 2014 and the 

Children and Family Act 2014 SEND Reforms   

 On-going statutory requirement of the role of Director of Adults Social 

Services, Director of Children’s Services and Director of Public Health for 

commissioning 1 and 

 Local factors such as: 

 

o One Council approach in the service of people in the City 

o Outcome of 2017 OFSTED Inspection of children’s social care, our 

whole family approach and roll-out of Restorative Practice as an 

approach to working with families 

o Developing our local City of Wolverhampton Community Offer    

o People Directorate service re-design such as the Multi-Agency 

Safeguarding Hub (MASH) embracing a prevention and early help 

focus, revised early intervention model and specialist support service in 

children and young people’s services 

o Outcome of the Adult Social Care Peer Review of March 2016 which 

recommended a more thematic approach to commissioning 

o Strengthening public health influence in and beyond the council 

o Re-structuring of adult social care operations under one Service 

Director 

o Working with partners including in the voluntary and community sector 

so that the experience of people using health and care services is more 

integrated in our community based approaches    

o Updating of other related strategies e.g. workforce, quality strategies; 

and need for coherence across strategies e.g. children’s disability  

This new Strategy will drive the recently established People Directorate 

Commissioning Unit, capturing current activity and informing future priorities. 

1.1 Vision  

In this People Directorate Commissioning Strategy, on behalf of people living in the 

City of Wolverhampton: 

 We embrace a positive, asset-based approach  

Page 173



 

6 
 

 We are using our resources to shape and investing in a better future.   

 We know these are challenging times but we will not simply manage decline.   

 Individuals will be at the centre of the commissioning process - 

Commissioning is for people  

 We are working to ensure that people benefit from a well-shaped market 

where commissioned services are local, provide social value, high quality, 

capacity rich, citizen-led and cost effective 

 We recognize the contribution of the voluntary and community sector to the 

successful delivery of our vision 

 Our interventions are evidence-based and we will learn from best practice in 

other places 

 We focus on delivery of care to people in their own homes or as close to 

home as possible.   

 We will provide people with the skills to live safely and independently 

 We will co-produce with citizens  

 We will jointly commission with partner agencies where possible so that 

people’s experience of support and care is integrated 

In this strategy we adopt HM Treasury’s approach used in the context of “value for 

money” work as ‘…the optimum combination of whole-of-life costs and quality (or 

fitness for purpose) of the good or service to meet the user’s requirement.’ 2  In other 

words, we want to maximise synergies, shared learning and action of being a People 

Directorate ( examples include - telecare, work on loneliness, foster/shared care; ) 

ensuring waste is eliminated and we learn from each other in relation to what works; 

adopt a future orientated approach, and promote innovation as we take our 

relationship with citizens and communities across the City of Wolverhampton to a 

new phase through our Shaping Futures, Changing Lives model below for our 

commissioning strategy. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
After outlining our overall approach to commissioning, our strategy starts with our 
Commissioning Intentions which are the basis of a separate Action Plan.   The 
background local and national context follows.  

 
 
  

Page 174



 

7 
 

1.2 Commissioning – overall thematic approach  

The People Directorate has adopted the “analyse, plan, do, review” Institute of Public 

Care (IPC) “commissioning cycle.”  3  

 
Our understanding and approach to commissioning in the People Directorate is that 
it - 
 

 is everyone’s responsibility 

 is a process and continuum - it includes many contributors working together – 
at all or some stages - the person seeking support and colleagues working to 
support the person / citizen 

 requires agreed strategic frameworks such as Appendix 1 which shows our 
Commissioning Pathway 

 is not restricted to or identified solely with the functional activity of the People 
Directorate Commissioning Unit who lead work with stakeholders to agree 
strategic frameworks with operational services  

 allows practitioners freedom to focus on the assets of individuals, families and 
communities, applying the right intervention at the right level, purchasing 
services within an agreed strategic framework to meet need  

 Is underpinned by the values and principles espoused by the City of 
Wolverhampton Council, People services and care /health professions   

 promotes approaches which are preventative, asset-based, whole-family, 
personalised and focused on well-being and safety 

 acknowledges responsible use of resources for all citizens and communities 
in the City 

Page 175



 

8 
 

 must work closely with corporate colleagues in procurement and the Place 
directorate to ensure consistency and meet citizen need. 

 
Amongst the factors included which have influenced the development of this new 
strategy, the March 2016 Adult Services Peer Review proposed a more thematic 
approach to People Services commissioning.  
 
During 2016, the People Leadership Team led significant activity to embrace the 
opportunities offered by a thematic approach for People Services as a whole.   
Benchmarking was undertaken with a Council which had already developed a 
thematic approach.  Refection was undertaken about informing concepts such as 
whole-life approaches.   Local realities were also considered as a result of which five 
over-arching themes or categories were agreed:   

 

 Public Health 

 Early Intervention and Prevention 

 Personalised Support 

 Specialist Targeted Support 

 Long Term Support   
 
The rationale for these themes is underpinned by factors which include our overall 
commitment to prevention which the City Cabinet agreed is “everybody’s business;” 4 
strengthening families; supporting family, kinship or other forms of ‘informal’ care; an 
asset-based approach to individuals, families and communities; being effective and 
efficient in our use of resources including value for money; and using our staff 
resources to best effect. 
 
These themes determine our Shaping Futures, Changing Lives model above (see 
Section xx).              
 

This approach strengthens our overall analysis as we take a more sustainable, 

longer-term view of support and needs and how commissioning can best be used to 

shape markets to promote wellbeing, respond to demand from people for care and 

meet those needs for which the Council is responsible.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 176



 

9 
 

       2.0 Commissioning Intentions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.0 Commissioning Intentions 

2.1 Commissioning Intentions 
2.2 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment   
2.3 Joint Health and Well Being Strategy 2013-18 
2.4 Market Position Statements 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.0 Commissioning Intentions 

Page 177



 

10 
 

2.1 Commissioning Intentions  

2.1.1 Co-production – we will strengthen our approach to co-production including 

better use of social media through: 

 the recruitment of two Commissioning Support Officer posts in early 

2017 to work with corporate colleagues and all stakeholders 

 co-operating with new Council capacity to deliver stronger engagement     

 

2.1.2 Early Intervention and Prevention 

o Short Breaks-   New contracts for Short breaks for children with 

disabilities were awarded in in 2016.  It is our intention to conduct a 

review of the provision and the allocation of resource to ensure 

services are meeting needs.  This will include project management of a 

new facility within Wolverhampton to provide overnight short breaks 

o Domestic Violence - It is our intention to recommission accommodation 

based support for victims of domestic abuse and develop a city wide 

approach to commissioning that will look to draw funding from a wider 

range of sources including the Police and Crime Commissioners and 

DCLG.  

o Floating Support - Current provision is targeted at LD and MH.   It is 

our intention to commission generic floating support on outcomes 

basis. (New contract by May 17) 

o MH Preventative Service - Commission new range of preventative 

services – In place April 17 

o Advocacy / Information, Advice and Guidance - it is our intention to 

review existing disparate advocacy arrangement and develop strategy 

for Information, Advice and Guidance including advocacy.  April 18 

o Carers -   It is our intention to develop an implementation plan for the 

Carers Strategy 

o Young Carers-   Review of provision for young carers (particularly 15-

25) – recommendations on need and recommission.  Collaborative – 

funding from other sources 

o Telecare – CHECK  

o No Recourse to Public Funds  -Commission service to support NRPF 

by May 17 

o Reablement - To develop a comprehensive range of intermediate care 

services – linked to the BCF.  This will include outsourcing the current 

internal reablement service and developing a clear D2A process (linked 

to BCF) April 17 

o Review of Community Resources -    Review of community based 

assets and development of seed funding programme to meet identified 

gaps. April 17 

o Money Management Services - - Support with direct payments and 

welfare advice – guidance for self funders. 

o Community Equipment -   To Jointly commission a new Community 

Equipment service in partnership with the CCG. 

Page 178



 

11 
 

o Pathways to Support -   More info needed 

o Children’s EI&P work that is transferring from Carole.  CHECK 

o BCF - The SRO meetings are still taking place to agree the 

commissioning intentions for the following workstreams… 

o Dementia 

o Adult and Community 

o Mental Health -    Accommodation review 

o CAMHS -  Early intervention (T2) work. 

o Integration 

 
2.1.3 Specialist and Targeted 

2.1.3.1Children and Young People 
 

Preamble - Mindful of the balance between meeting the needs of children and 
families and getting the best value for money the Integrated Commissioning 
Team will commission the following over the next five years: 

 
Prevention –  Supporting the development of family based early intervention 
services that help to keep families together where it is safe and reasonable to 
do so including;  

 tendering for Therapeutic support services to support edge of care 
services and prevent children/young people coming into care  

 supporting micro commissioning for the Strengthening Families 
Partnership Hubs to enable them to respond quickly to need   

 tendering for tier 2 CAMHS services to augment the CAMHS 
Transformation Programme  

 supporting the development of solutions for families with No Recourse to 
Public Funds including the tendering of an accommodation framework    
 

Placement –  Ensuring that where children who must come into the care of 
the Council are in placements that most closely meet their needs including;  

 retendering MSW Children’s Home for Complex Needs 

 developing a Regional Residential Block Contract 

 reviewing options for future delivery of fostering services 

 reviewing options for the procurement of residential and fostering 
placements  

 supporting foster carer households in line with regulations  

 reviewing the effectiveness of the intensive support pilot delivered by 
Family Action 

 developing supported housing options with a view to tendering a range of 
services that meet identified needs and priorities  

 
Permanence –  Support the promotion of options for permanence where it is 
not possible to reunite children and young people with their families including; 

 establishing and participating in a Regional Adoption Agency 
 

Page 179



 

12 
 

Leaving Care/Transition – Supporting the development of services which help 
in: 

 returning young people home as soon as possible in the right 
circumstances 

 ensuring that when young people reach adulthood they achieve a 
successful transition to adult life 

 

2.1.3.2 Adults  

Preamble - Specialist and targeted services work with the client groups with the 

highest level of need due to their mental health, learning disabilities or other 

related social care needs.  Historically, many of this service user group would 

have been institutionalised in residential or hospital settings but it is now 

recognised that it important for the quality of life of these people that all efforts 

are made to ensure they are able to access the support they need in a 

community setting as soon as possible, where appropriate.   

 Promote and expand supported living arrangements and provision to enhance 

life choices and quality of life for service users.   

 We will be reviewing the current Supported Living Framework which will 

include reviewing current provisions and referrals, evaluating the reasons for 

any failures in the framework placements, liaising with providers, social 

workers, and family and carers and garnering feedback about what is 

currently successful.  Following the review a decision will be made about 

either extending the current contracts on the framework or going back out to 

tender for part or the whole of the Supported Living Framework. 

 

 extend our Shared Lives provision enabling more service users to live in a 

family setting and developing their life skills in the community.  This service 

will be going out to tender in 2017. 

 

 We are also working with residential care home and nursing providers who 

wish to deregister with CQC for this type of provision and register as 

Supported Living providers.  A number of providers have already an interest in 

going through this process and the Specialist and Targeted services 

commissioning team are supporting them with this endeavour. 

 

2.1.4 Long Term Support 

Preamble -  We are committed to delivering quality outcomes for people. This 
means changing the way in which we commission care and support for those 
people who need long term support.  The Council is committed to working 
with our partners to develop care and support that will deliver quality 
outcomes though truly promoting independence in a safe environment.  

 

Page 180



 

13 
 

 Childrens - shape the quality of provision in the local market through work with 

Providers to develop a new Quality Assurance process (short-term 

 

 Older People - New models of care provision – we will continue to develop 
more housing options for people so that they can age in the same place with 
increased levels of support available to them e.g. Extra Care Housing projects 
(“pipeline housing developments”) 

 

 Remodel the provision of long term support to enable people to achieve 
independence, choice and control  

 

 Reduce the number of residential placements and the proportion of spending 
on residential care. The reduction in residential care will enable the Council to 
divert resources to deliver personalised care such as supported and very 
sheltered housing. 

 

 Work with providers to develop a new business model that includes supported 
living, very sheltered housing and extra care models instead of residential 
care.  

 

 Provide Wolverhampton citizens who have long term support needs and who 
currently live out of the City, the opportunity to move back, into services that 
meet their individual neds and circumstances. 

 

 Support the development of a range of new housing and support options for 
people within the city for people who need long term support. 

 

 Workforce - As demographic trends indicate, people in the UK are living 
longer and their needs are becoming more complex. This need reinforces the 
growing demands on social care services and the changing expectations of 
service users who require a workforce which is highly skilled and supported, 
and able to work in flexible ways.  

 

o Commission services from organisations that evidence that they have 
an appropriately skilled and trained work force e.g. Through the Better 
Care Fund we are seeking to make sure that all staff have received 
dementia training at a level that is relevant to the job they are doing.  

 

 Dementia - Take an integrated approach across health, social care and the 
third sector to respond to the need for; appropriate information advice and 
guidance, early diagnosis, living well with the condition, support when a 
person’s needs change, access to quality secondary care and dignified end of 
life care. 

 

 Long term support needs – living with LTS should not mean living a poor 
quality of life. It is our intention to ensure that people live well, are active 
members of their community, maximise their independence and receive high 
quality services. 

 

Page 181



 

14 
 

2.1.5 Public Health and Well Being 

 The Healthy Child programme; 0-5 (Family Nurse Partnership and 

Health Visiting) and 5-19 (School Nursing) is currently out to tender and 

mobilisation will commence with the successful bidder from April 2017.  

The new service commences on 1 August 2017 

 Health Protection services; Tuberculosis and Infection Prevention. 

Planning commences between Public Health and Wellbeing and the 

CCG in February 2017.  Progress will be reported to the 

Commissioning Executive Board in June 2017 for further discussion 

around contract and procurement options. 

 A drugs and alcohol prevention, treatment and recovery system 

commissioning programme commenced in December with a scoping 

meeting held between Public Health and Wellbeing and the CCG.  A 

multi-agency steering group met for the first time in January.  

Engagement and consultation processes will run between March – 

June.  All drug and alcohol services commissioned by Public Health 

and Wellbeing and expiring in March 2018 are currently in scope.   A 

tender will be published during Autumn 2017 with a new service 

commencing in April 2018. 

  A registration process for revised Primary Care sexual health services 

ended in January (YEAR?) , a number of accredited practices will be 

offering contraception and screening services from 1 February 2017.  

Practices that were transferring to new organisational arrangements via 

practice groups or alignment with the Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust 

were given the opportunity to register an interest in delivering these 

services on a phased implementation so as not to disadvantage any 

interested GPs. 

 Joint / collaborative 

o Health Protection; Tuberculosis and Infection Prevention services 

will be redeveloped as a joint pathway with the CCG.  Currently 

both organisations commission elements of these pathways 

separately.  Alongside this arrangements for joint contracting and 

pooled or aligned resources will be developed. 

o Substance misuse services (drugs and alcohol) will be re 

commissioned during 2017.  This programme will require input 

across NHS, Council and Community and Voluntary sectors.  

Public Health and Wellbeing and the CCG are working 

collaboratively to ensure primary care, mental health and acute 

responses to substance misuse are developed to support earlier 

identification and reduce admissions.  Alignment with children, 

young people and family services are fundamental to this model 

and the multi-agency steering group includes representation from 

both Council and CCG on this area. Programme costs are being 

developed and a review of current investment to support joint 

resource planning is proposed. 

Page 182



 

15 
 

o The development of the children and families 0-19- Healthy Child 

Programme and SWITCH; Befriending service for women at risk of 

having children taken into care have been jointly undertaken by 

Public Health and Wellbeing and Children and Family services 

within the City of Wolverhampton Council.  This has led to the 

development of integrated models of delivery, featuring colocation 

shared infrastructure and joint pathways.  The perinatal mental 

health offer and a review of maternity pathways is also being jointly 

undertaken between Public Health and Wellbeing the CCG, Royal 

Wolverhampton NHS Trust and Black Country Partnership NHS FT 

in relation to mental health pathways. 

o The Infant Mortality Plan has initiated a number of collaborative 

commissioning arrangements with the CCG and Royal 

Wolverhampton NHS Trust.  This has focused on increasing the 

uptake of breastfeeding, and a successful, targeted neonatal 

programme [STORK] commenced in 2016 and is being continued 

and developed this year.  Smoking cessation activity within 

maternity has increased the numbers of women and families 

receiving support and pregnant women who misuse substances 

have a dedicated pathway and treatment programme between 

maternity and Recovery Near You.  Aligned to this is the 

distribution of healthy start vitamins for under 5’s supported by 

children’s centres, strengthening family hubs, the health visitor 

service, maternity, RMC and the healthy lifestyles service. 

o Migrant health needs have been a key focus for Public Health and 

Wellbeing, the CCG and RMC during 2016 17.  A number of joint 

initiatives have been collaboratively developed.  A new Public 

Health and Wellbeing service offer is now available to cover the 

enhanced aspects of clinical care of patients newly arrived in the 

Country and who register with Wolverhampton GPs. This service is 

also aligned to the Wolverhampton Refugee and Migrant Centre 

(RMC).  

o Public Health and Wellbeing contributes to the housing initiative 

‘Rent with Confidence’ scheme.  The scheme aims to transform the 

way the Council works with private sector landlords and tenants to 

ensure people have access to high quality, secure tenancies in the 

private sector.  Public Health and Wellbeing also adds value by 

helping to shape this support it so that people who may find it hard 

to access for a range of different reasons and/or vulnerabilities also 

are enabled to participate and inequalities in access are not 

widened. 

o Collaborative GP practice quality visits have been undertaken with 

the CCG since October 2016.  The Public Health and Wellbeing 

team are part of the review group and any relevant Public Health 

and Wellbeing service contracts are also quality assured at the time 

of the visit. 

Page 183



 

16 
 

2.1.6 Personalised Support 

 Care homes – we believe that there is an over-supply in the City and 
accessible at city border locations. We will  XXXX 

 Domiciliary support - xxxx   
 

2.1.7 Workforce   

 Ensure recruitment and retention to all posts, especially Social Work posts 

 Support continuing professional development of all staff to meet current 

and future needs 

 Work proactively through the Careers into Care partnership with the wider 

care sector to ensure sufficiency of supply of well qualified and skilled staff 

across all disciplines and sector serving Wolverhampton people 

2.1.8 Quality – anything specific not included above? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 184



 

17 
 

2.2 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment   

The IPC Commissioning Cycle begins with analysis.  The main source for such local 

analysis in the City of Wolverhampton is the process and product of the Joint 

Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA.) 5   Illustrative analysis includes: 

 
Moreover, the JSNA includes forecasts based on analysis which help us show what 
the City of Wolverhampton might look like in the near-future.   Issues include: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CITY OF WOLVERHAMPTON TODAY…  
 

 254,406 (2015 MYE) population     - Gender: 50.5% female; 49.5% male 

 Average Age – 39 yrs.  196,239 (77%) are 19+.   58,167 aged under 18.   6,000 85+ 

 Ethnicity - 64.5% white; 35.5% BME.   42.7% of 5-17 years from a BME group 

 About 31.5% of children and young people (0 – 17) living in poverty 

 About 20% of children are entitled to free school meals in primary and secondary 
schools  

 Population density (2011) increase to 36 people per hectare (PPH), (34 PPH in 2001) 

 Unemployment rate double the national rate 

 Life expectancy lower than England average, 20th out of 326 local authority areas in 

the Indices of Deprivation 2010 

 27,136 Carers (Census 2011)  

 21% retired.      43000 economically inactive of whom 11200 are long-term sick 

 3,100 living with dementia  

 850 working age adults with moderate to severe learning disability 

 5.2% have a long-term mental health problem  (GP Survey) 

 60% of people with a disability living in Wolverhampton are over the age of 60 

 4668 referrals to childrens social care (09/15-09/16) 

 631 LAC, 1235 CiN and 219 CP 

 104,000 dwellings (housing, flats, etc.) - 75,900 private dwellings (65,000 owner 
occupied, 10,900 privately rented;) 21,700 Council owned, 2080 Council owned with 
TMO; 4,320 rented from housing associations 

IN CITY OF WOLVERHAMPTON TOMORROW - THERE WILL BE… 

 More people overall - growth of 8.9% by 2037, to 273,300 

 more older people (aged 65+) 44.7% increase to 59,900 residents.  
 

 more younger people – U19’s increase by 7%.  
 

 fewer working age people. 
 

 more Dementia - 44% rise in next 20 years i.e. extra 75 people per year 

 

 impact of socio-economic factors on people’s health, resilience, family and 

community bonds  

 

 more people – young and old – living longer with complex conditions and 

disabilities 

Page 185



 

18 
 

The JSNA is more than data.  It is also a process.  This process incorporates the 
outcome of “softer” data available through engagement with the public and people 
directly using our support.  Some emerging issues based on this and wider  
analyses feeding into this strategy for the people of the City and its leaders therefore 
are:  

 
 
 

 

 

 People living for more years with significant health issues (“long term conditions”) and 

many conditions together (“co-morbidities”) requiring more complex support 

 Housing – sufficiency of nature and supply 

 Employment - effects of austerity or other issues on resilience of individuals and families 

 potential increased tax burden to support care provision and/or  
o individuals / families / communities to do more 
o market opportunity for private sector to deliver products and services  

 continued support for parents and carers under pressure 

 making the care system more flexible and integrated through personalisation and more 
outcome-focussed contracts  

 creating more options for people to meet their own support needs  

 Life expectancy is an overarching measure of health and wellbeing within the City and all 
commissioning activity should be aligned to identifying services with an ultimate aim of 
improving this measure. 

 Healthy Life expectancy is key summary measure of population health and all 
commissioning activity should be aligned to identifying services with an ultimate aim of 
improving this measure. 

 The relationship between personal wellbeing and local circumstances is complex and can 
influence health and social care outcomes. Commissioned services should consider how 
the overall wellbeing of the population can be improved through the services provided. 

 HRQoLis a multi-dimensional concept that goes beyond direct measures of population 
health, such as life expectancy and mortality, and focuses on the impact of health status on 
the quality of life. 

 Commissioned services should aim to assess how the service provided has improved the 
quality of the life of the service user. 

 Commissioned services should aim to assess how the service provided has have met the 
needs of the service user and how unmet needs can be identified and addressed. 

 Improving the risk factors through various commissioned services including  
- promoting early booking and attendance for antenatal care 

- preventing poor lifestyle choices including smoking during pregnancy, obesity and 
teenage conceptions  

- improving outcomes for premature births, low birth weight babies and babies from 
deprived areas of the City  

 Overall, premature mortality rates for the majority of conditions in Wolverhampton is worse 
than the England average. Lifestyle risk factors such as smoking, obesity and alcohol 
misuse are major contributors to the rate of premature mortality. Commissioned services 
need to focus on promoting healthier lifestyles and preventing the development of long term 
conditions that lead to premature mortality.  

 This can be achieved through training service providers to Make Every Contact Count 
across health, social care and the voluntary sector  

 

 

Page 186



 

19 
 

2.3 Joint Health and Well Being Strategy 2013-18 

The Joint Health and Well-Being Strategy (JHWBS) 6 is based on the wide analysis 
of the JSNA product and process.  Informing perspectives for the JHWBS included 
from the outset Knowledge‐led decision making; innovation; integration; being 
outcome focused; and value.     
 
Health and Well Being Board Key Priorities agreed in 2014 were re-focussed during 
2016 in an updated Mission and Vision and focus on three areas:   
 

 Childhood obesity 

 Mental health of children and young people  

 Dementia and care closer to home 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Each Service area within People Services has a Transformation workstream or 

Business Plan (outlined below – see pp xxx. )  These bring together its work on key 

improvement areas based on engagement with the public and people using our 

support, analysis, local and national policy and best practice requirements.   

Our Commissioning Strategy takes forward previously agreed delivery arrangements 
which are being updated as a result of this strategy.  
 

 

 

Page 187



 

20 
 

2.4 Market Position Statements 

Building on acquired previous experience in social care, the Care Act 2014 made 

market shaping a statutory duty for Councils.  Therefore, People Services 

commissioners have been working on “market shaping” activity for sometime.   This 

duty also builds on the responsibility of People Services through the statutory duties 

of the Director of Childrens Services (DCS) and those of the Director of Adult Social 

Services (DASS.)  In the City of Wolverhampton, these are combined in the post of 

Strategic Director:      

 The DCS is responsible for securing the provision of services which address 

the needs of all children and young people, including the most disadvantaged 

and vulnerable, and their families and carers…. The DCS is responsible for 

ensuring that effective systems are in place for discharging these functions, 

including where a local authority has commissioned any services from 

another provider rather than delivering them itself  7 

 (The DASS is) “…responsible for the management, welfare and professional 

development of all local authority staff involved in planning, commissioning 

and/or providing social services. This includes shared responsibility for staff 

appointed to jointly funded posts between the local authority and other 

agencies/organisations involved in adult social care or healthcare.” 8 

 [INSERT] DPH role 

 

People Services Commissioning Unit already have three Market Positon Statements 
either complete or in an advanced stage of development and available at: 
https://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/mps for: 
  

 children and young people 

 children and young adults 

 older adults  
 

The content of those documents is not repeated here but they are an important part 
of the “architecture” to make this Commissioning Strategy a success.   This strategy 
is initiating work to ensure that the Market Positon Statements are developed in their 
next stage to reflect the thematic approach to commissioning now being taken.  
 
This Commissioning Strategy will also inform the Children and Young People’s 

Services - Sufficiency Strategy.   The Sufficiency Strategy recognises 

commissioning as “ the process for deciding how to use the total resource available 

for children, parents and carers in order to improve outcomes in the most efficient, 

effective, equitable and sustainable way” states national guidance aimed at looked 

after children. 9  It is part of the wider commissioning approach with specific focus on 

looked after children.   In updating the strategy, there will be renewed emphasis on 

(1)  engaging service users / co-production in the strategy and commissioning 

services which prevent admission to care and promote placement stability and (2) 

Good use of regional and sub-regional framework agreements for residential and 

foster care and specialist support services.  

 

Page 188

https://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/mps


 

21 
 

3.0 Commissioning and People Directorate Service areas 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.0 Commissioning and People Directorate Service areas 

 

5.1 Commissioning for Public Health and Well-Being 

5.2 Commissioning for Children and Young People 

5.3 Commissioning for Adult Social Care 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   3.0 Commissioning and People Directorate Service areas 

Page 189



 

22 
 

3.1 Commissioning for Public Health and Well-Being    

The Public Health and Well-Being Service brings together a range of services 
including the statutory responsibilities of the Director of Public Health for the City of 
Wolverhampton. 

 
Analysis – The wider JSNA described above (cf p XX) impacts on the Health and 
Well-Being service area.  Some further, indicative items include: 
 

o infant mortality rate of 6.4 per 1,000 (2012-14) one of the highest in E&W 
compared to 4.0 per 1,000 for England and Wales.    

 
o statistically significant worse than average levels of obesity10: 

o In 15/16 the rate of obesity for children aged 4-5 years is 12.2% (Nat. 
Ave. in 14/15 was 12.3%) 

o In 15/16 the rate of obesity for children aged 10–11 years is 26.8% 
(Nat Ave 14/15 was 19.1%) 

 
o Under 18 conceptions age 15-17 years (2014) is 29.6 per 1,000 - a 6% 

reduction in the 2013 reported rate of 31.5 per 1,000 and consistent reduction 
since 2007 

 
Plan and Do -  
 

Using a whole-systems approach, we week to influence action across a range of 
factors in the life of individuals and communities through their whole life.  This 
encompasses prevention, accommodation and employment to those more traditional 
lifestyle aspects such as smoking or weight as shown in the “rainbow” diagram 
below.     
 
This approach supports our commitment to exploit synergies in the People 
Directorate and beyond to focus on vulnerable groups in more targeted ways through 
individual casework and whole-population interventions. 
For the Public Health and Well Being Service, the focus for this over-arching 
Commissioning Strategy is on the influence which the service can bring to bear on a 
range of activities undertaken by the Council and its partners to help improve the 
health of the City population   
  
The Service area has established principles of effective commissioning which are 
consistent with this over-arching strategy:   

 alignment of services to meet need  

 to achieve the best public health  outcomes    
from public health interventions  

Page 190



 

23 
 

and council services focused on improving wider determinants of health and 
reducing inequalities 

 impact on the delivery of public health outcomes framework,  

 
Moreover, for the Public Health and Well-Being Service, in commissioning the focus 
is on  

 outcomes and evidence based practice supported by strong information and 
intelligence systems.  

 joined up commissioning at a local level with the Wolverhampton CCG and 
other NHS services through the JSNA and health and wellbeing board  

 a business model used in collaborative commissioning which integrates 
stakeholder consultation, citizen involvement and empowerment into 
commissioning process.  

 
The vision for the Public Health and Well Being Service is to influence the whole 

Council, the NHS and other partners in transformation activity to bring about 

improved health and reducing inequalities.   

Overall, people in Wolverhampton are living longer than ever before and the gap 

between life expectancy in the city and the national figure is closing.  We know that 

socio-economic factors affect life expectancy. In Wolverhampton and similarly 

disadvantaged communities, the determinants of health such as skills, jobs and 

housing, are well below the national average.  

Knowledge of the six conditions which account for over half of the difference in life 

expectancy that exists between Wolverhampton and England informs our overall 

Page 191



 

24 
 

strategy.  These are: heart disease, stroke, infant mortality, lung cancer, suicide and 

alcohol. This is seen disproportionally in the most disadvantaged communities. 

Deaths due to alcohol and those occurring in infancy are the major reasons why life 

expectancy has not improved. 

Therefore, there will be a rigorous focus on public health and wellbeing strategic 

ambitions, local priorities and action to support people throughout their lives to 

ensure a preventive approach is embedded in the local system. 

The established Public Health Commissioning, Procurement and Project 

Management process (overleaf) is consistent with the IPC approach adopted through 

this Strategy.    

 
 
 

 
 
Figure X   Public Health Commissioning, Procurement and Project Management process 
 

 
 

Page 192



 

25 
 

The first focus of our Shaping Futures, Changing Lives model is prevention (cf. 

2014/15 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health – “Lifestyle Choices” – below 

right) is led by, amongst other contributions, continued public health focus on 

influencing the behaviour of the whole population as well as activity aimed at specific 

segments e.g. on smoking cessation, etc. 

 
Priorities for public health and well-being up to 2019 are:  
 

 embed public health into local authority organisation and embed processes that will 
ensure public health outcomes are in the centre of improving the wider determinants 
of health.  

 Focus contract monitoring and commissioning improvements on the services that 
perform significantly lower or worse than the England value as measured on the 
public health outcomes framework  

 Continue securing quality and performance of legacy and new public health contracts  

 To develop the future commissioning business plans for the big six priorities Healthy 
weight and keeping active, smoking, mental wellbeing, health inequalities and life  
expectancy, alcohol and substance misuse and sexual health  

 
A “Prevention Pledge” signed by the Health and Well Being Board in 2015 supports 
activity across all service areas to embrace a preventative,  asset-based approach 
(IS THIS RIGHT?)    To deliver its aims and transform activity through influence and 
direct delivery, the Public Health and Wellbeing portfolio has been assimilated into 
six core work streams covering the healthy child programme, health protection, 
drugs, alcohol and community safety, healthy lifestyles, sexual health and workforce.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 193



 

26 
 

3.2 Commissioning for children and young people     

Analysis – key facts on children and young people in the City of Wolverhampton 
include:  
 

o 58,167 children and young people under the age of 18 years live in Wolverhampton – about 
22.9% of the total population. 40,798 pupils on roll in 114 schools. 
 

o Approximately 31.5% of Wolverhampton’s children and young people (aged 0 – 17) are living 
in poverty 11; this rises to 50% in 10 Lower Super Output Areas.   
 

o Children and young people from BME groups account for 41.6% of all children living in the 
area compared with 21.5% in England.   Approximately 42.7% of children aged 5-17 are from 
a BME group compared with 24% in England.   
 

o 60 (53%) primary and secondary schools in Wolverhampton are in the most deprived quintile 
nationally as defined by Ofsted.  The proportion of children and young people with English as 
an additional language: (a) Primary schools - 27.2% (Nat Avge 20.1%); and (b) Secondary 
schools - 22.5% (Nat Avge 15.7%) 
 

o 6,935 pupils receive SEN provision of which 5,782 (83%) received SEN support, 972 (14%) 
received a SEN statement and 181 (2.6%) received an EHC plan in 2015/16.  851 children 
with SEN or EHC Plans have accessed social care services (04/15)  
 

o In 2014, significantly higher prevalence of moderate (59.2 per 1,000) and severe (5.34 per 
1,000) learning difficulties (England prevalence is 28.6 per 1,000 and 3.8 per 1,000 rsp.  
 

o 1,030 children and young people in Wolverhampton with learning disabilities (04/15)  

 
o 4668 referrals to childrens social care 19/15 - 09/16  – a 16.4% increase on the number 

received in 2015/16.  Prior to 2015/16 the number of referrals had remained relatively static 
over the past four years fluctuating by just 4.5%.  The increase in referrals coincides with the 
introduction of the MASH and will continue to be monitored. 
 

 Adoptions have increased by almost 30% in 2012-2015 to 137 in comparison to 106 in 2011-
2014. This is also an increase of 80% from 2010-2013 where just 76 adoptions occurred. 
 

 14% of the YOT caseload is looked after children 
 

 Numbers of children in need, those on child protection plans and looked after children are as 
follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 194



 

27 
 

Planning and Doing – In response to the overall analysis, our overall service model 
starts with a focus on early help and prevention.  We are ensuring families are 
strong, resilient and can create an environment in the home and community in which 
children and young people can flourish and be kept from harm.    

 

 
     Fig XXX xxxx 

 
 
The Children and Young People’s Service area has been very focused on delivering 
the right outcomes at the right cost to ensure that we provide good value for money 
with our commissioning and contracting arrangements within our overall service 
model. 
 
 
 
Our underpinning approach of restorative practice and our approach to thresholds 
(below,) is ensuring that preventative services are available to identify and support 
children and families early and reduce escalation into specialist support services. 
  

Page 195



 

28 
 

 

    Fig XXXXX XXXXXXXXXXXX 
 
In seeking to balance Cost and Quality, a “paying for what we need and getting what 
we pay for” approach is adopted. Current specific initiatives include: 

 A micro-commissioning framework for use by Family Support Workers in 
localities providing swift access to interventions as need arises  

 project on residential and fostering placements for looked after children, we 
are improving market shaping, getting a better understanding of need and 
business intelligence.  This enables improved matching and scrutiny of 
placements reducing unnecessary placement spend.  

 Our overall Sufficiency Strategy is an outcomes based action plan covering 
the main themes of residential, fostering, edge of care etc.  

 Regional and sub-regional framework agreements for residential and foster 
care have been reviewed and renewed and the sufficiency strategy 
implementation plan has recently been extended to include specialist support 
services. 

 New services have been commissioned to support both prevention of 
admission to care, e.g.  

o establishment of a short break residential service,   
o to promote placement stability, e.g. the introduction of Safe Haven, 

which is a specialist intensive support service to work with young 
people   

 planning for re-commissioning domestic violence service  

 currently procuring a single provider of therapeutic support for the specialist 
support service.   

 Analysis of the split between “internal” and “external” providers which varies 
across different service areas, for instance (September 2016 figures): 

o foster care placements ratio of 57.44% external, 42.56% internal  
o residential provision has been more evenly balanced over recent years 

but the review (and subsequent changes to “internal” provision means 
that in future the proportion of external residential placements may well 

Page 196



 

29 
 

increase (albeit against a background of falling proportions of LAC in 
this type of placement). 

 New services have been put in place to prevent admissions to care including 
the establishment of a short break residential service. 

 Possible use of an Outcomes Based Commissioning framework through 
Outcome based Tenders / changing relationship with partners 

 Regional and sub-regional framework agreements for residential and foster 
care have been reviewed and renewed and the sufficiency strategy 
implementation plan has recently been extended to include specialist support 
services. 

 Strengthen the capacity of Social Workers and other professionals working 
with families to ensure that they can access the right level and type of 
services at the right time 

 
The Transforming Children Services programme (below) seeks to ensure that there 
is a whole system approach.   Service re-configurations are key ways in which we 
seek to make the commissioning continuum better for children, young people and 
families more efficient  
 

 the establishment of the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) for children 
and young people in January 2016,  

 re-design of Early Intervention to support commissioning including use of 
locality budget.  

 the Specialist Support Service supported by the therapeutic commissioning 
framework 

    

We are using an integrated locality approach with staff deployed across 8 localities, 
co-located in multi-disciplinary teams -  social care, early intervention, police and 
health.  This provides the environment for effective joint case management across 
social care and early intervention and enables more effective application of “step-
up/down” processes   Successful delivery of the children’s transformation 
programme is underpinned by a stable and skilled workforce together with robust 
commissioning arrangements. 

Page 197



 

30 
 

 

Fig XX - XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 198



 

31 
 

3.3 Commissioning for adult social care  

Analysis: – key facts on adults in the City of Wolverhampton include:  
 

 The numbers of older people in the City Wolverhampton are projected to rise 
from 41,400 in 2012 to 59,900 in 2037, a net gain of 18,500 people, or 44.7% 
growth 
 

 Over 27,136 people in the City of Wolverhampton identified themselves in the 
2011 Census as “Carers” who provide unpaid care in the locality  
 

 3,100 living with dementia  
 

 850 working age adults with moderate to severe learning disability 
 

 5.2% have a long-term mental health problem  (Source: GP Survey) 
 

 60% of people with a disability living in Wolverhampton are over the age of 60 
 

 Nearly 10,000 City of Wolverhampton citizens have their ability to be more 
economically active promoted through their eligibility for the Disabled (Blue) 
Badge Scheme 
 

 Estimated 500 “self-funders”   
 

 2,895 people in the City of Wolverhampton have Personal Budgets paid 
directly to service providers for their social care.  
 

 644 Personal Budgets taken as Direct Payments in the City who may be 
buying in micro-enterprises to provide a service 
 

 About 800 people living in care homes supported by the Council   
 

 

Plan and Do  - a target operating model 12 for adult social care based on LGA 
approaches including Commissioning for Better Outcomes was agreed by the 
Council’s Cabinet based on a prevention approach at their meeting of 15 April 2015 
as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 199



 

32 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This model informs and shapes our approach to commissioning for adults.  Some 
key features of the “Promoting Independence” model informing our commitment to 
personalisation and commissioning encompasses duties for Councils to:  

 
o promote the well-being of individuals 
o provide a range of preventative services  
o provide adults and carers with information about care and support  
o ensure that the eligible needs of self-funders are met 
o integrate services with the NHS  

 
The model for adults starts with the positive principle that public services should 
support the individual citizen and communities in the responsibility which they have 
for their own lives, using individual strengths and assets as well as those of the wider 
community.  Mental capacity and safeguarding concerns are always paramount. 
 
The model requires on-going change to be led in the organisation and the wider 
community.  For instance, change is required to recognise that the role of adult 
social care has been changing from assessing and delivering services to one which 
supports individuals to meet their own outcomes, often without the need for publicly 
procured service provision using community-based solutions.  This has been a move 
away from assessment and care management to engaging in partnership roles with 
individuals, families and carers so as to best ‘promote independence.’    

Primary Prevention

(PREVENT need for

 social care support)

Secondary Prevention

(REDUCE need for

 social care support)

Tertiary Prevention

(DELAY need  for

 social care support)

Social work Functions
•Crisis Intervention
•High Complexity
•Best Interest Assessment
•Mental Health
•CHC Assessment
•MCA Assessment
•Forensic Social Work
•Court of Protection
•Safeguarding 
•Transitions

ReablementAdaptations

Equipment

Falls Prevention

Risk Stratification

Telecare

Universal Information and Advice

Community Based Suppport

Universal Services
A

ss
is

ti
ve

 T
ec

h
n

o
lo

gy

Libraries
Community

hubs

Page 200



 

33 
 

 
A Community Offer is being developed ranging from the provision of information 
through the Wolverhampton Information Network (WIN), community-based services.   
A wide-ranging Transformation programme is in place with a range of workstreams 
as follows 

Close work with the NHS in both commissioning and provision is key to adult social 

care as more integrated approaches are developed.  The Adult Social Care 

Transformation Programme incorporates the programme to develop the community-

based approach.  

The opportunities for people in the City are: 

 continued focus on assets, reablement and recovery, supporting people at 
home will lead to a reduction in people using Care Homes and long term care; 

 supporting the Promoting Independence agenda will result in reduction in 
dependency on care and support services; 

 ensuring a sustainable provider market and avoiding market failure; 13  

 encouraging providers to focus on quality and so help retain care workers  

 having an integrated commissioning approach will ensure resources are used 
effectively and will reduce or eliminate duplication of redesigns/provision  

 service design linked to ‘need and outcome’ rather than age specific 

 leading culture change in our own and partner’s services  
 

A continued shift to a clearer “community offer” is being made and further analysis as 

a basis for the next stage of planning and action has been made during 2016/17 by 

“impower” to support the next stages of transformation. 

Page 201



 

34 
 

 

       4.0 Commissioning contexts 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6.0 Commissioning contexts 

6.1      Commissioning and the corporate context  

6.2      Corporate Procurement links 

6.3      Commissioning and value for money 

6.4      Evidence-based commissioning 

6.5      Commissioning and the community context 

6.6      Commissioning and the legislative context  

6.7      Commissioning, engagement and co-production 

6.8      Commissioning, partnerships and integration 

6.9       Commissioning and workforce context 

6.10 Commissioning – quality and clinical governance context   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 202



 

35 
 

4.0 Commissioning contexts 

4.1 Commissioning and the corporate context  

Our People Services Commissioning Strategy is established within our overall local 

Democratic commitment – commissioning for and with people in the City of 

Wolverhampton represented by their Elected Members.  

The voice and leadership of Elected Members provides overall direction for 
this strategy as part of the Council’s 2030 Vision.     

 
The City of Wolverhampton “one-Council” approach provides a supportive and 
enabling corporate framework through which our People Services strategy is 
delivered.   

 
In taking its lead from the Council’s 2030 Vision, success will be based on 
collaboration across the city and beyond, using an approach which recognises that 
we are far more effective when we pool our resources, ideas and work together.   
 
The Council’s strategic approach to address its challenges is to: 
 

o Manage demand for core services by using early intervention to 
help families and individuals of all ages to live unsupported, safe, 
independent lives; 

o Improving educational attainment and skills; 
o Work together to make sure that every child in their early years has 

the opportunity to be the best they can be 
o Encouraging enterprise and business, and private sector 

employment; and 
o Stimulating economic activity through capital investment;  

 
People Services contributed to shaping the priorities of the Corporate Plan 
(HYPERLINK)  in collaboration with the Corporate Procurement function which 
include:- 

 
 Promoting and enabling healthy lifestyles - Tackling lifestyle 

issues will improve quality of life, reduce the time spent with 
illness and have a positive effect on life expectancy in the city. 

 
 Promoting independence for older people - Older people in 

the city are able to live full and active lives, with support where 
necessary to promote independence and choice. 

 
 Strengthening families where children are at risk - Targeting 

effective early help and support will strengthen families, keep 
children and young people safe and improve their life chances.  

 
 Enabling communities to support themselves - Supporting 

communities to develop local support will build resilience in the 
city. 

 

Page 203



 

36 
 

 Keeping the City Safe - A safe city creates a stable economic 
climate and a vibrant night time economy which improves the 
experience of residents, workers and visitors 

 
 Challenging and supporting schools to provide the best 

education - Raising expectations, securing swift school 
improvement and ensuring sufficient school places and resources 
to support children's learning is essential to providing the best 
education for our young people. 

 

 Adults and children are supported in times of need - 
Safeguarding people in vulnerable situations; and Strengthening 
families where children are at risk 

 
4.2 Corporate Procurement links - In this context, People Services strategy as 

part of the Council drives the process adopted for procurement.  People 
Services work closely with corporate procurement colleagues and a 
Corporate Procurement Plan 2015-2018 (HYPERLINK) sets the framework 
which is in turn driven by the commissioning strategy.   The Public Services 
(Social Value) Act 2012 and the Public Contracts Regulations 14 provide a 
significant element of the framework.  The organization commissioning principles 
(below) apply for the People Directorate as part of one Council.   Other strategies 
and principles which affect People Directorate practice at this time - such as 
integration between care and health and the context of the family and 
community offers of children’s and adult services -  all provide added context 
for service-specific development as outlined later in this document.    People 
Services and corporate procurement are using the opportunity of developing 
this strategy to work more closely together on specific issues e.g. contract 
management and engagement with citizens, providers and staff.   

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 204



 

37 
 

The structure of the corporate procurement team and the new People Services 

Commissioning structure (see below p x) are the practical arrangements for closer 

working.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 205



 

38 
 

4.3 Commissioning and value for money 

The City of Wolverhampton’s Corporate Procurement Plan states that “Achieving 

value for money and being able to demonstrate it are essential as the resources we 

have must be used in the most effective manner to provide high quality services.”  It 

includes a set of objectives / outcome through which we work as follows:  

 

Our commissioning intentions (see Section xx) include actions to address current 

known challenges across our service areas in terms of value for money.  

4.4 Evidence-based commissioning 

Knowing our challenges is key to our success.  Great leadership and management is 

being self-aware and knowing what our challenges are.   For that we use evidence 

and colleagues work closely across a range of activity to make this happen including:  

 Public health and wellbeing – provide whole population needs analysis and 

assessment.  This analysis and assessment supports improvement in 

evidence-based commissioning and co-ordination of activity for our whole 

family and prevention focus.         

 

Page 206



 

39 
 

 Business Intelligence – the provision of dashboards, performance reports and 

information governance / freedom of information advice are all key areas in 

which co-working on a range of commissioning issues is required  

 

 Finance Services -  our work on value-for-money is supported by the business 

partner model of the City which allows colleagues to work together on areas 

of shared interest.   Finance analysis and support is used for all 

commissioning projects.  The stated commissioning intentions (section xx) 

use financial data so that commissioning plans are rooted in available 

resources as part of our commitment to our values and principles.  

 

 Corporate procurement team – using frameworks and processes as outlined 

above promotes evidence based commissioning through the procurement 

element of the commissioning cycle (see section xx)  .      

 

 Workforce – ensuring all practitioners are skilled and have access to good 

evidence.  This also encompasses the role and contribution of the Principal 

Social Worker.  (see p xx on engagement) 

 

 

4.5 Commissioning and the legislative context  

 

Amongst the law relevant to the development of our People Directorate 
Commissioning Strategy are: 

 

o The Health and Social Care Act 2012 section 192 (amending the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 section 116 
(as amended by the Act – section 192) require a “responsible local 
authority” and each of its partner CCGs to prepare Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment and Joint Health and Well Being Strategies; and 
section 116A (as inserted by the Act – section 193); Section 196 
provides that these functions are to be exercised by the health and 
wellbeing board established by the local authority. 

 

o The Care Act 2014 –  

 Section 3 establishes legal basis of integration of care and 

support with health services 

 Section 53ff. establishes requirements relating to market 

oversight 
 

o Children’s Act 1990 Section 22G creates a statutory requirement for a 

Sufficiency Strategy for accommodation of children looked after by the 

council under which is an important part of the commissioning 

Page 207



 

40 
 

 

o Children and Families Act 2014 introduced new requirements including 

 those on adoption, special educational needs or disabilities 

 statutory requirements on Integration with health and joint 

commissioning with health partners  (Sections 25-26) 

 

o Health and Social Care Act 20XX  INSERT PHWB items c/o RJ 

 

o Public Contracts Regulations 2015 15 updated the context for 

procurement for Councils 
 

o Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 requires public authorities to 
have regard to economic, social and environmental well-being in 
connection with public services contracts and connected purposes 

 

o The Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment)  ( or “TUPE”) 

Regulations 2006 16 as amended by the "Collective Redundancies and 

Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2014" for business transfers and service provision 

transfers. 
 

4.6 Commissioning and the community context  

In March 2016, the Council approved the City of Wolverhampton Charter with other 

partners working in the City.17  This confirmed our joint approach to procurement and 

commissioning.   

This aimed to help “increase the levels of local expenditure with local businesses 

and other local agencies and to increase the impact of public expenditure on the 

Wolverhampton City Strategy priorities to increase local jobs, increase economic 

activity and employment, reduce child poverty and health inequalities.” 

 
The City of Wolverhampton Charter   

 
The Charter establishes five principles that will underpin the commissioning and 
procurement activities of key partners in the City. These are set out below along with 
the measures to be used annually by the City Board to monitor progress. The City 
Board have committed to using their commissioning and procurement processes to:  
 

Develop and grow a skilled workforce through: Creating employment and 
training opportunities for local residents including supporting people into work 
and providing work experience placements; mentoring and supporting 
personal development and, where appropriate incorporating provision within 
contracts to offer training and employment opportunities for local people  

 
Encourage healthy lifestyles and independence by: Encouraging the 
adoption of workplace health initiatives which keep people in work, reduce 

Page 208



 

41 
 

sickness and also create a workplace that is more conducive to good health. 
Promoting active travel such as walking, cycling and public transport use  

 
Support more people to be active within their communities by: Building 
the capacity of local voluntary and community organisations and schools 
through the provision of resources and expertise in areas with the greatest 
need e.g. mentoring and the provision of meeting facilities etc.  

 
Support business to develop and grow by: Having a preference to buy 
locally on the condition that a suitable supplier exists and that this provides 
value for money.  

 
Support the reduction to the carbon footprint and eliminate unnecessary 
waste by: Specifying good and services on the basis of whole life costing and 
which minimise the use of resources and the creation of pollution and 
greenhouse gases  

 
 

4.7 Commissioning, engagement and co-production  

Engagement with citizens, providers and staff are recognised as key activity in the 
JSNA, market shaping and subsequent commissioning so that current needs are 
understood, changing needs identified, and problems responded to.      
 
To take previous achievements forward into the next stage of development and 
building on best practice, the City of Wolverhampton agreed a new focus to 
engagement and co-production in December 2016.  This will be an important 
contributor to the success of our Commissioning Strategy.   
 

Some examples of activity which is informing our developing 
commissioning strategies across a range of groups include:  

  

 

 

 

 

 

people using 
services

all citizens

provid
ers

ELECTED MEMBERS – the Council’s Cabinet 

sets direction for policy.  Local democracy 

process ensures decisions are made through 

relevant Committee or Decision by Cabinet 

Members for People Directorate Service Areas   

 

 

 

Page 209



 

42 
 

 

 

 
 
The role and wider contribution of the voluntary and community sector in relation to 
engagement and consultation is valued especially the offering of Healthwatch 
Wolverhampton.   Collectively, they generate their own contribution to our knowledge 
for analysis of the City.    
 
Two Commissioning Support Officers are being recruited in early 2017 to develop 
the wider co-production process including use of social media to ensure increased 
consumer-driven responsiveness in the commissioning process 
 

 

PEOPLE USING SERVICES & CARERS / Citizens – Forums used to maintain dialogue 

with specific groups include  (1) Corporate Parenting group; (2) Over 55’s Forum; etc. 

Specific strategies in which engagement undertaken are: 
 

 Consultation on the draft Joint Autism Strategy 2016 – 2021   07/06/16 – 30/08/16   130 
engaged 

 Joint All Age Carer Strategy  2016 – 2020 Exec Summary identified themes to shape 
strategy 

 Consultation - proposed new service model/ options for Community Based Preventative 
Mental Health Services 05/05/16 – 28/07/16 -  Shaped the model.    419 engaged 

 Wolverhampton Children and Young People's Health Related Behaviour Survey 2016 
             HRBS 2016 was completed by a total of 7930 pupils 

 Consultation on proposed options for the future for Recovery House 11/15 – 02/16 -           
90 people engaged  

 Proposals: Regarding Services for People at Risk of Violence and Abuse 
11/08/16 – 03/11/16  75 engaged in shaping proposals 

 Redesigning Day Opportunities Review  11/15 – 03/16     92 engaged  

 Special Educational Needs 09/12/15– 14/02/16  Strategy amended as a result of 
consultation  

 
Planned events:  
Transition Board Events 2017 
Early Years Strategy Consultation Plan Jan-Apr 2017 
 

 

 

Staff – dialogue maintained by: 

 Supervision & line management 

 Service Area Events e.g. Childrens 

Services 

 Directorate Events (800 attendees 

11/16) 

 

CARE PROVIDERS 

Routine meetings bring care providers and 

commissioners together to maintain dialogue 

on issues of mutual interest.  

“Foster Talk” – nearly 500 contacts 

Page 210



 

43 
 

4.8 Commissioning, partnerships and integration  

The need and importance of local democratic leadership is reflected in many ways in 

the City of Wolverhampton e.g. through the Council’s Leader chairing the Health and 

Well-Being Board.  This shows how the Council is committed to act as a good 

partner to ensure that the Council represents the best interests of the citizens in the 

City of Wolverhampton in a variety of ways.    

 

The overall partnership environment shown above is the current way in which the 

Council acts in partnership with colleagues to ensure vulnerable people are kept safe 

and positive outcomes are achieved. 

 

Figure XX 

Page 211



 

44 
 

In order to ensure that local people benefit from closer integration of health and care 

commissioning and services, the Council has proposed the approach outlined in Fig 

XX above.  This has been developed through the successful experience of the Better 

Care Fund arrangements in the period leading up to the launch of this 

Commissioning Strategy.  It reflects an understanding where one partner is best 

placed for leadership on designated activity or for commissioning on a single agency 

basis.   The model assumes the benefit of pooling activity and interest where it is 

agreed that such pooling is required.  This may result in the use of a Section 75 

Agreement or other agreed approach e.g. budgets for the Better Care Fund or 

children with disabilities [CHECK]    

It is also important to note that XX% (CHECK) of the activity of public health and 

well-being services is dedicated to supporting NHS commissioning.   This reality 

supports all activity in which the Council exercises its statutory responsibility to 

improve the health of the local population and the CCG’s statutory responsibilities for 

the quality of health services.  This links to clinical governance responsibilities.  

In this context, People Services have worked closely with Wolverhampton CCG to 

define a person-centred model of delivery represented below.  This reflects our 

shared view that community assets best support many people in the first instance.  It 

supports our vision that expensive public sector resources are best provided within 

an overall asset-based, preventative approach.  Given a preventative approach, 

people should then be able to access services easily to step-up or step-down with or 

without support.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   Fig XXXX XXXXX 

A locality-focus is a key part of the model.  During 2016, based on the achievements of our 

Better Care Fund approach, a series of Workshops resulted in the formation of a Transitions 

Board to oversee a range of work programmes to support overall integration. Work clarifying 

how geography and estates will be best used is underway. 

Page 212



 

45 
 

4.9 Commissioning and workforce context  

 

Given the context outlined above, it follows that to some extent, commissioning is 

everybody’s responsibility.     

This is significant because 1369 people work within the People Directorate.  Types of 

role occupied by staff include: leadership and management; social work; family 

support; administration.  59% of staff in the People Directorate live within the City 

boundaries and therefore have an immediate investment in the improvement of their 

own local area through better support and commissioning.    

 
Our overall commissioning approach needs a well-skilled workforce for all people 
working in the wider sector.  In 2016, the Council undertook work under the heading 
of “Care and the Economy.” 18  This showed the economic contribution of the 
workforce within and connected to the People Services as part of the Council’s 
overall contribution to regeneration strategies.  This found that: 19 
  

o there are 8,190 businesses in the City  
o 80% of these businesses are “micro” i.e. with 1-9 employees 
o There are about 110,00 jobs in the City with approximately 16,300 of 

jobs in the care and health sector  
o Between 1996 - 2006, there was a 120% growth in “health and social 

work” reflecting changing patterns of commissioning and greater 
diversification in the social care sector 

o There are about 6,500 jobs in the adult social care sector in 
Wolverhampton where there are about 1500 vacancies (2016)  

o the wider children’s workforce who are strengthening families (in 
childrens centre, school class; nursery; pre-school playgroups; 
childminders; etc.) nationally amount to 350,000 in that sector (08/09.) 

 
Social Work recruitment and retention is a key activity so that the continuum of 

commissioning is effective.   Social Workers work at the cross-section of 

preventative and asset based work with individuals as well as commissioning 

specialist, targeted services. A Social Work Development Group (CHECK – LINK?) 

oversees recruitment and retention strategies and activity. A Principal Social Worker 

role has been established to support wider practice quality improvement.   The wider 

strategic commissioning framework needs to be supportive and responsive in this 

context as part of a mutual responsibility for excellence in practice.       

A partnership between the People and Place Directorate with local care and training 
providers has established a “Careers Into Care” initiative in 2016/ 17 to support 
recruitment into the wider adult care workforce.  Our Commissioning Strategy will 
add force to leadership on this important activity and will also use national tools. 20 
  
 

 

 

Page 213



 

46 
 

4.10 Commissioning – quality and clinical governance context   

An updated People Services Quality Strategy is giving renewed focus to quality.  

[INSERT LINK] 

That Strategy embraces the positive approach to quality adopted in the City of 

Wolverhampton as well as the requirements of external regulators and inspectors 

such as the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and OFSTED or the role of Public 

Health England (PHE.) 

For children’s services – (NB THEME LINK)  Quality Assurance and Compliance 
officers work in partnership with providers and stakeholders to ensure agreed 
outcomes are being delivered.  Levels of risk and quality of provision in care and 
support services for children and adults purchased by the council are monitored with 
the aim of: 

 monitoring the quality and compliance of care services in accordance with 
agreed strategies, priorities and systems;  

 inform commissioners and stakeholders of issues relating to services and 
make recommendations for improvement;  

 advise and support services to enable them to achieve required levels of 
quality.  

 
For adult social care services, likewise, there is a commitment to quality services 
and support through the responsibility of the DASS for the wider workforce and 
therefore, the quality of provision.   
 
At the strategic and monitoring level, we work with partners in the CQC and CCG to 
monitor quality of provision in care home and domiciliary care environments.  
 

For public health and wellbeing,  the council’s overall involvement and contribution 

to clinical governance  is a key issue. The link between NHS services and the role 

of public health and well-being is a vital connection in the local arrangements for 

integration. 

 Collaborative GP practice quality visits have been undertaken with 

Wolverhampton CCG since October 2016.   

 The Public Health and Wellbeing team are part of the review group and 

any relevant Public Health and Wellbeing service contracts are also 

quality assured at the time of the visit 

We use wider partnerships to maintain quality and appropriate sharing of information 

such as in our routine liaison with the Care Quality Commission. 

Likewise, the quality of the workforce in the Directorate and beyond is supported by 

our internal Quality Assurance Framework, routine liaison with partners such as the 

CQC and our “Careers into Care” partnerships through which we are promoting 

values-based recruitment cf. Section XX above.   

 

Page 214



 

47 
 

        5.0 Commissioning Unit 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.0 Commissioning Unit  

7.1 Commissioning Unit - functional design 

7.2 Analysing 

7.3 Planning 

7.4 The Commissioning Pathway and Unit Governance 

7.5 De-commissioning – our approach   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.0 Commissioning Unit  

Page 215



 

48 
 

5.1 Commissioning Unit - functional design  

A £2 million budget is allocated to the Commissioning Unit to develop and maintain 
the overall strategic framework for the People Directorate. 
 
Embracing the opportunities offered by a thematic approach and responding to other 
drivers such as the recommendation of the March 2016 Adult Services Peer Review, 
the Commissioning Unit has been re-organised on a thematic basis (see p.XX.)   
 
This supports leadership of a Families First and personalised approach, supporting 
individual and communities to improve their capacity and resilience with access to 
graduated levels of support linked to assets and needs.   The Commissioning Unit’s 
themed approach supports a preventative, whole-family and life-long approach.    
 
The Commissioning Unit restructure was undertaken with an objective of assessing 
the visible effectiveness, potential efficiencies available, value for money, resources 
available, and opportunities for collaboration and general approach to commissioning 
projects.   The intention is to remove areas of duplication, reducing waste and 
exploiting potential synergies across adults and children.    
 
The new model moves People Commissioning to a thematic model with lead 
commissioners for the following themes and service approaches:- 

 Public Health 

 Early Intervention and Prevention 

 Personalised Support 

 Specialist Targeted Support 

 Long Term Support   
 

It is further intended that all commissioning activity will be underpinned by a common 
set of principles:  personalisation; citizen led service design and co-production; 
maximisation of the use of Better Care technology; and Delivery of the corporate 
savings objectives  

For practical reasons, a functional design for staff who are delivering the strategic 
thematic element of the “analyse, plan, do, review” model is required to achieve  

success as shown right.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 216



 

49 
 

 

Fig X  Commissioning Unit Structure 

            

In terms of overall governance of commissioning a Commissioning Pathway Model 

is included at Appendix 1.  This is the basis for governance of the overall framework 

approach to the “analyse, plan, do, review” commissioning cycle.   It shows the way 

in which the Unit works to develop strategic commissioning frameworks which are 

required in support of People Services aims and objectives. 

As noted elsewhere (see p. XX) commissioning is everybody’s responsibility across 

a continuum.  The capacity of the Commissioning Unit is best used to provide the 

strategic framework activity required of People Services and partners work.  In this 

context, strategic commissioning is not the same as casework. 

5.2 Analysing   

The Commissioning Unit contributes to analysis and engagement which informs the 

overall JSNA product and process noted above (pp. xx and xx)   An indicative list of 

Page 217



 

50 
 

documentary sources of information and strategies for all thematic areas of the 

Commissioning Unit includes:   

 Law:  e.g. Care Act 2014, Children and Family Act 2014 SEND Reforms 
 

 Best Practice: 
o Local Government Association  - Commissioning for Better Outcomes21  
o Think Local ACT Personal  - TLAP Making it Real Plan  
o SCIE 

 

 External provided Data  
o POPPI and PANSI 
o National Minimum Data Set for Social Care - NMDS-SC 

 

 Internal – Council  
o Corporate Plan/Priorities  
o Finance information  

 

 Internal – People Services data and Strategies  
o JSNA 2016 – 2020 
o JHWBS 2013-17 
o All Age Disabilities Strategy 2013-2016 

o Early Years Strategy 2017-2021; 

o CYP  Sufficiency Strategy 

o Children, Young People & Families Plan 2015-25 

o Early Intervention and Prevention Strategy 

o Balancing Cost and Quality  

o Public Health Commissioning Strategy / Contracting Plan 2014 -2019 

o Children, Young People & Families Plan 2015-25 

o Refresh Joint Reablement and Intermediate Care Strategy 2014 -2016 

o Joint All Age Carer Strategy 2016 – 2020 

o Living Well In Later Life 2013- 2015 

o Joint Dementia Strategy: 2015-2017 
o All Age Autism Strategy 2016 – 2020 

o Joint Learning Disability Strategy 2011 – 2015 

o Obesity Call to Action  

o Prevention Strategy 

 

 Internal – Commissioning Unit  
 

o Market Position Statement for Care and Support for Adult Services in 
Wolverhampton 2015-2017 

o Market Position Statement for Adults with Disabilities and Mental 
Health 2015-17 

o Providers/Suppliers  
o Contract Finder 
o CM2000 – Electronic Home Care Monitoring system  

 

Page 218



 

51 
 

 West Midlands ADASS  
o Commissioning Network 
o Balanced Score Card metric for measuring progress with 

personalisation 
 
Co-production takes the task of analysis further in debating and coming to 
conclusions together with people using our support or services as well as the wider 
voice of all citizens in the City of Wolverhampton.   
 

5.3 Planning   

Opportunities created for people in the City of Wolverhampton across the thematic 

areas include the following:  

Early intervention 

 needs based interventions rather than service led interventions.  

 driving culture change through the Early Intervention focus  

 Co-produced commissioning with broad range of individuals, organisations 

and specific user groups.  

 For children and young people:  

o Developing a  family based approach.  

o Minimising / eliminating challenges at transition to adult services  

o Not replicating effort and money by addressing issues in themes    

Specialist targeted support  

 real improvements to communities and the lives of people most in need   

 The opportunity to identify and address deep rooted social issues that 

affect the majority of people who use our service in an efficient way rather 

than tackling them by client group. 

 (FOR TEAM) Increased learning and an enhanced collective 

understanding leading to improved skills and confidence of commissioners 

with regards to the development of generic commissioning skills. 

Long term support 

 whole city approach to the market,  

 ensuring equality of access regardless of a person’s needs. 

 enabling People Services commissioning work closely with council 

priorities such as regeneration, placing “pipeline” housing schemes into 

city wide housing developments context 

 Develop Extra Care schemes to respond to the needs of vulnerable, 

integrating disabled people into bigger extra care developments. 

 Use extra care schemes focus to achieve better use of residential and 

nursing market 

 engaging with the market to be solution focused  

 support a whole -family approach linked to the City’s regeneration plan 

 Develop integration with health colleagues 

Page 219



 

52 
 

 support engagement with the third sector 

Personalisation 

 continued focus on assets, reablement and recovery, supporting  
people at home will lead to a reduction in people using Care Homes 
and long term care; 

 supporting the Promoting Independence agenda will result in reduction 
in dependency on care and support services; 

 ensuring a sustainable Provider market;  

 encouraging providers to focus on quality and so help retain care 
workers  

 having an integrated commissioning approach will ensure resources 
are used effectively and will reduce or eliminate duplication of 
redesigns/provision  

 service design linked to ‘need and outcome’ rather than age specific 

 leading culture change in our own and partner’s services  
 

Public Health and Well-Being 

 Six health conditions account for over half of the difference in life 

expectancy that exists between Wolverhampton and England - heart 

disease, stroke, infant mortality, lung cancer, suicide and alcohol.  

 This is seen disproportionally in the most disadvantaged communities. 

Deaths due to alcohol use and those occurring in infancy are the major 

reasons why life expectancy has not improved. 

 People in Wolverhampton are living longer than ever before and the gap 

between life expectancy in the city and the national figure is closing. We 

know that socio-economic factors affect life expectancy.  

 

5.4 The Commissioning Pathway and Unit Governance  

To support overall governance and increased consistency of commissioning 

processes within the People Directorate as part of one Council, a “commissioning 

pathway” (see p. xxx) below establishes general guidelines for the commissioning 

cycle process.       

Some generic aims for the integration of the Commissioning Unit include:  

 Standardising commissioning approach e.g. contract monitoring   

 Understanding spend and making it smarter  

 Outcomes -based commissioning / impact  

 Smart PBR  

 Agreeing strategic approach to SIBs 

 Synergy with children’s and adult transformation programmes 

 Shared understanding of the model and alignment across themes  

Page 220



 

53 
 

 Stakeholders - communicating change externally: maintaining dialogue 

with those affected by our activity and sharing decisions with directorate 

and corporate Stakeholders  

 budgets/finance and thematic scheme synergy  

 Innovation, working differently  

 utilising/growing internal skills,  

 public health access to health (NHS) intelligence 

 Business intelligence gap; data management, monitoring and analysis is 

weak 

 Regional opportunities – making best use of wider frameworks and 
starting them where agreed helpful 

 Digital information and communications 
 

  

 

   Fig XXXX XXXXX 
 

 

5.5 De-commissioning – our approach   

Page 221



 

54 
 

 
The “analyse, plan, do, review” commissioning cycle approach is a dynamic process.   
It allows us to be more responsive to change.  Change may include:  

 

 developing needs and aspirations of people living in the City of 
Wolverhampton 

 overall direction determined by the Council’s Cabinet  

 responding to changes to the way other agencies deliver their services 

 improved ways of working e.g. through provision of new evidenced 
based approaches or more efficient process design 

 change in commissioning resource allocation  

 market failure 22 

 Council decision to terminate poor quality provision 

 provider decision to terminate local activity 

 overall analysis of population need e.g. JSNA 

 end of agreed contract 
 
Where such changes occur, it may be right to de-commission existing activity.  
However, the procurement and contract process allows some commissioned 
services to end naturally as the time period covered by the contract expires.  
 
Where appropriate, a key part of de-commissioning is the need for effective 
engagement, scrutiny and challenge.   Appropriate engagement with all concerned 
may be required given all the circumstances of the possible decision.  This will be 
determined in dialogue between all leaders and managers using the relevant 
procedures.     Where required, impact analysis will focus on professional judgement 
which weighs up various factors such as: 
 

o Defined need of individual or community 
o quality 
o Budget requirements 
o Statutory basis 
o Elected Member views and leadership 
o Staff deployment and views 
o Public perception 
o Media interest 

  
For example, a decision may be small from the perspective of budget allocation but 
high in potential impact on individuals or on the reputation of the council. 
 
Decisions will be made according to the agreed de-commissioning procedures as 
relevant to the circumstances with leadership from the Cabinet, engagement with 
Elected Members, people using services, members of the public, providers, partners 
and any other relevant stakeholder.  In particular, our de-commissioning processes 
will cohere with frameworks established by corporate framework which in turn will 
respond to practice realities.  De-commissioning procedures are available at: 
[INSERT HYPERLINK – DE-COMMISSIONING PROCESS..] 
 
         Deliberately blank 

Page 222



 

55 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Deliberately blank 

Page 223



 

56 
 

Endnotes  

1 Department of Health (2006) Guidance on the Statutory Chief Officer Post of the Director of Adult 
Social Services pp3-4 & Department for Education (2013) Statutory guidance on the roles and 
responsibilities of the Director of Children’s Services and the Lead Member for Children’s Services or 
local authorities   
2 HM Treasury (2006) Value for money guidance, p11.  http://www.hm-treasury.gov. 
uk/d/vfm_assessmentguidance061006opt. pdf  The quote continues: “Value for money is not the 
choice of goods and services based on the lowest cost bid.” 
3 http://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/ accessed 20/02/17 
4 City of Wolverhampton Health and Well Being Board July 2016 Making prevention everyone’s 

business 
5 Available at: http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/article/3647/Joint-Strategic-Needs-Assessment-JSNA 
6 Available at: http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=2944&p=0  
7 Department for Education (2013, April)    Statutory guidance on the roles and responsibilities of the 
Director of Children’s Services and the Lead Member for Children’s Services or local authorities   p.5 
para 1 
8  Department of Health (2006) Guidance on the Statutory Chief Officer Post of the Director of Adult 
Social Services  Para 18  p5 
9 Sufficiency Statutory guidance on securing sufficient accommodation for looked after children  - 
Department P.16  
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/273812/sufficiency_-
_statutory_guidance_on_securing_sufficient_accommodation_for_looked_after_children.pdf  
10    Wolverhampton Child Health Profile, March 2016 
11  Wolverhampton’s Child Poverty Strategy 2013-2018 
12  http://www.local.gov.uk/care-support-reform//journal_content/56/10180/6520234/ARTICLE            
and  LGA Commissioning for Better Outcomes 2015 
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/5756320/Commissioning+for+Better+Outcomes+A+route+
map/8f18c36f-805c-4d5e-b1f5-d3755394cfab  
13  https://www.adass.org.uk/ncasc-2014-market-oversight-and-provider-failure  
14 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/contents/made  
15 Available at: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/contents/made accessed 20/02/17 
16 Available at: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/246/contents/made accessed 20/02/17 
17 
https://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s22708/City%20of%20Wolverhampton%20Procu
rement%20Charter.pdf 
18 Available at: http://www.investwolverhampton.com/assets/pdf/care-and-the-local-economy.pdf  
19 From: “Care and the Local Economy” City of Wolverhampton Council 
20 For instance, Skills for Care’s Workforce commissioning – workforce shaping and commissioning 
for better outcomes at:  http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Documents/Leadership-and-
management/Workforce-commissioning/Workforce-shaping-and-commissioning-for-better-
outcomes.pdf accessed 20/02/17  
21 http://www.local.gov.uk/care-support-reform/- /journal_content/56/10180/6520234/ARTICLE 
22 ADASS & LGA -  Adult social care, health and wellbeing: A Shared Commitment - 2015 Spending 
Review Submission   September 2015  

                                                           

Page 224

http://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/
http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/article/3647/Joint-Strategic-Needs-Assessment-JSNA
http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=2944&p=0
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/273812/sufficiency_-_statutory_guidance_on_securing_sufficient_accommodation_for_looked_after_children.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/273812/sufficiency_-_statutory_guidance_on_securing_sufficient_accommodation_for_looked_after_children.pdf
http://www.local.gov.uk/care-support-reform/journal_content/56/10180/6520234/ARTICLE
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/5756320/Commissioning+for+Better+Outcomes+A+route+map/8f18c36f-805c-4d5e-b1f5-d3755394cfab
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/5756320/Commissioning+for+Better+Outcomes+A+route+map/8f18c36f-805c-4d5e-b1f5-d3755394cfab
https://www.adass.org.uk/ncasc-2014-market-oversight-and-provider-failure
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/246/contents/made
https://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s22708/City%20of%20Wolverhampton%20Procurement%20Charter.pdf
https://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s22708/City%20of%20Wolverhampton%20Procurement%20Charter.pdf
http://www.investwolverhampton.com/assets/pdf/care-and-the-local-economy.pdf
http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Documents/Leadership-and-management/Workforce-commissioning/Workforce-shaping-and-commissioning-for-better-outcomes.pdf
http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Documents/Leadership-and-management/Workforce-commissioning/Workforce-shaping-and-commissioning-for-better-outcomes.pdf
http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Documents/Leadership-and-management/Workforce-commissioning/Workforce-shaping-and-commissioning-for-better-outcomes.pdf
http://www.local.gov.uk/care-support-reform/-%20/journal_content/56/10180/6520234/ARTICLE


This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet Meeting
 26 April 2017

Report title Financial Support to Carers of Children Subject 
to Adoption, Special Guardianship or Child 
Arrangement Orders

Decision designation AMBER
Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Val Gibson
Children and Young People

Key decision Yes 

In forward plan Yes

Wards affected All

Accountable director Emma Bennett, Children and Young People

Originating service Looked After Children

Accountable employee(s) Alison Hinds
Tel
Email

Head of Service, Looked After Children
01902 553035
Alison.hinds@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

People Leadership Team
Strategic Executive Board

27 February 2017
14 March 2017

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Approve the updated policy for Financial Support to Carers of Children Subject to 
Adoption, Special Guardianship or Child Arrangement orders in line with the changes 
outlined within this report, and approve the implementation on 1 May 2017.

2. Approve the additional indicative cost which is estimated to be in the region of £440,000 
per annum for the period the allowance is granted for relating to Adoption, Special 
Guardianship or Child Arrangement orders.

Page 225

Agenda Item No: 14



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 Local Authorities are required to provide financial support where it is assessed as part of 
an overall support package for Looked after Children (LAC) who become the subject of 
Adoption Orders, Special Guardianship Orders, or Child Arrangement Orders (previously 
known as Residence Orders).

1.2 The requirement for local authorities to be responsible for this is underpinned in the  
following regulations and legislation

    
 Children Act 1989
 Adoption Support Regulations 2005
 Special Guardianship Support Regulations 2016

2.0 Background

2.1 The City of Wolverhampton Council (CWC) currently has an approved policy which 
details the criteria for financial support to be paid to carers to support permanence orders 
for LAC.

2.2     This policy requires review to ensure that it is not only compliant to changes in regulations 
but also that it is compliant with recent case law. 

2.3   The requirement to update this policy has also been prompted by a judicial review 
application which was received by CWC from grandparents who hold a Residence Order 
for their grandchildren. The grandparents claimed that they had been treated unfairly as 
they had only received a residence allowance for the children based on 50% of the 
fostering allowance paid to carers by CWC. Attention was drawn to case law in similar 
cases.

2.4     There is also a need to ensure that the financial support for permanence orders is in sync 
with the allowances paid to foster carers under the revised Fees and Allowances 
Scheme recently approved following review in November 2016.

3.0 Progress

3.1  A bespoke project scope was completed by Rebecca Godar from Policy Intelligence on 
behalf of CWC.

3.2  The project scope was to provide analysis of Wolverhampton’s current Special 
Guardianship and Adoption Allowance policy, and to  provide recommendations for a 
new policy including:

 a review of regulations and guidance
 a review of case law
 a benchmarking exercise with similar and nearby authorities.

Page 226



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The key questions for the review were:

 In what circumstances should CWC pay financial support to permanent carers?
 What amount should CWC pay in financial support to permanent carers?
 How long must CWC continue to provide financial to permanent carers for?

3.3 An initial project report was completed and following discussion with the Head of Looked 
after Children a proposed draft policy was produced incorporating information collated as 
part of the project.

3.4 The attached proposed draft policy is compliant with current regulations and guidance 
and has been checked against recent case law.  It has been reviewed and amended 
following advice form Counsel.

3.5 The policy sets out the arrangements for assessment and provision of financial support 
to permanent carers of LAC who subsequently become the subject of an Adoption, 
Special Guardianship, or Child Arrangements Order.

4.0     Proposal

4.1     The key proposed changes are as follows: (For the purpose of this report permanent 
carers are defined as carers who care for previous LAC who are now subject to an 
Adoption, Special Guardianship, or Child Arrangements Order)

Proposal Current
Financial support payments to all 
permanent carers are to be based on the 
core fostering allowance which is related 
to the child’s age.  The amount of the 
allowance paid is based on the 
Department for Education Minimum 
Fostering Allowances. The amount of this 
allowance is a reflection of the child’s 
allowance currently paid to foster carers 
approved by CWC. All core allowances 
will be means tested.

Currently for approved foster carers who 
become adopters or special guardians 
the child’s fostering allowance is reduced 
to reflect benefit entitlement for the child, 
it is not means tested 

The core fostering allowance will be the 
maximum amount that all permanent 
carers can receive.

Currently for carers who have not 
received an allowance before, the 
maximum allowance paid is based only 
on a maximum of 50% of the core 
fostering allowance for the child.

As part of transitional arrangements for 
foster carers already caring for the child, 
the payment of their fostering fee will 
continue for two years, but may be 
continued after that point at the local 
authority’s discretion.

This is in line with the current policy

The same criteria and level of financial 
support will be applied whether the foster 

Currently foster carers who are approved 
by independent fostering agencies, the 

Page 227



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Proposal Current
carer is a local authority mainstream 
foster carer, a carer provided through an 
Independent Fostering Agency, or if the 
carer is an approved family and friend 
carer.

allowance is based on the fee they 
receive as carers rather on the City of 
Wolverhampton rate for foster carers.

Core allowances will be paid until the 
child is 18 if the child remains living with 
the carer and in education.

This is currently paid up until 21 if the 
young person remains in education.

For children and young people who are 
subject to Special Guardianship or Child 
Arrangement Orders, at 18 they will be 
able to access Leaving Care services as 
a qualifying young person. In addition 
they will be able to request  the same 
support in  accessing Higher Education 
as  a Care Leaver.

This is not currently available as the 
carer would continue to receive the 
financial support in these circumstances 
post 18 and would be expected to 
support the young person financially.

Financial support to carers will cease if a 
young person between 16 and 18 
becomes financially independent, either 
through being in paid employment, or if 
they are eligible for benefits in their own 
right.

Currently allowances would continue to 
be paid to the carers in the above two 
scenarios until the young person reaches 
18.

Financial support is dependent on the 
carer’s financial circumstances. An 
annual review of the carer’s financial 
circumstances will be undertaken to 
ensure that the carer is still eligible to 
receive financial support and at what 
level this should be. If the outcome of this 
annual review is that carers are no longer 
eligible as a result of the means test 
application, the allowance will cease.

Annual reviews do currently take place 
but the new process will ensure there are 
systems in place for this to be  
implemented consistently.

Annually, carers will be sent a request for 
completion of a financial statement and 
supporting evidence will need to be 
provided in order that a new means test 
can be undertaken. Failure to return the 
financial statement with supporting 
evidence within 28 days will result in the 
termination of financial support 
payments.

Although annual reviews currently take 
place the proposed process will ensure 
that this is managed systematically in a 
timely way.

All permanent carers in receipt of 
financial support will be required to sign a 
financial support agreement.

Currently carers sign the agreement to 
financial support as part of a Special 
Guardianship or Adoption support plan. 
The agreement to receipt of financial 
support is not a stand-alone document.

Page 228



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Proposal Current
Any proposal for discretionary payment 
will be presented to resource panel for 
consideration and approval.

This is  currently approved by Head of 
Service

5.0 The Means Test;

5.1 The means test to be applied for eligibility for financial support can be determined by the 
local authority as long as it is clear in the policy what the means test calculation is and 
how it is to be applied.

5.2      A number of options for a means test were considered, including continuing to utilise the 
existing model but utilising 100% of the core allowance for all requests for assessment, a 
simplified calculation of entitlement which would have meant a potential increase to the  
total expenditure. 

5.3     The proposed model detailed in section six is deemed to be the most suitable model.  A 
test case sample of existing allowances have been recalculated utilising this model to 
ensure its potential effectiveness and efficiency.

6.0      Proposed assessment for calculating financial support

6.1 Applications for financial support would be treated in two ways:

1. If the applicant is receiving a means-tested benefit the recommended Age-related 
allowance minus Child Benefit is payable. 

2. If the applicant is not receiving a means-tested benefit, then means-test as 
follows:

 No financial support for those with capital of £16,000 or more. Use tariff income 
rules for capital over £6,000 (£1 for every £250 more than £6,000 as per Income 
Support rules);

 No financial support for those with annual income over the Relevant Income 
Threshold (RIT). The RIT is based on Universal Credit rates with a buffer at the 
Standard Allowance amount which reflects average earnings (see below); 

 100% of the Age-related Allowance used in all cases and for applicant’s who are 
former foster carers, the Fostering Fee is added for two years from date of Order 
(to provide transitional protection for former foster carers);

 Allow a 25% disregard on applicant’s (and their partner’s) monthly income and 
use just the basic national Income Support applicable amount (i.e. removing the 
25% buffer used under the current system); 

Page 229



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 If there is no disposable income available, Child Benefit and Child Tax Credit 
payable for that child is deducted from 100% of the recommended Age-related 
Allowance to arrive at the amount of financial support due;

 If there is a disposal income available, use 100% of the disposable income to 
determine the amount of financial support due.

This model provides specific targeted financial support to applicants however, full 
assessments will be required every 12 months and all relevant income and capital details 
will be required from all applicants (including supporting evidence).  

     
Calculation of Relevant Income Threshold (RIT) April 2017:

Income = 
 All non-means-tested benefits except Disability Living Allowance (DLA), Personal 

Independence Payment (PIP), Attendance Allowance (AA)
 Net Earnings (Gross earnings minus Tax, National Insurance and Pension 

Contributions)
 Other income e.g. rental income

Relevant Income Threshold is based on Universal Credit Allowances and Elements

(April 2017 rates):

Allowance Monthly 
Amount

£

Annual 
Amount

£
Couple 498.89 5,986.68
First child 277.08 3,324.96
Second and each subsequent child 231.67 2,780.04
Total RIT X 2 £24,183.36
Additional Elements (where applicable) Total RIT
Plus Disabled Child 372.30 £28,650.96
Plus Disabled Child & Carer 524.19 £30,473.64
Plus Disabled Child & Carer & Limited Capability 842.95 £34,298.76
Plus Carer 151.89 £26,006.04
Plus Carer & Limited Capability 470.65 £29,831.16
Plus Limited Capability 318.76 £28,008.48
Plus Limited Capability & Disabled Child 691.06 £32,476.08

7.0 Financial implications   

7.1 The total approved budget for permanency allowances for 2017-18 is £2.4 million.

Page 230



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

7.2 Achieving adoptions and other permanent orders such as Child Arrangement Orders and 
Special Guardianship Orders are a significant way of enabling children to cease being 
looked after and secure their long term care within a permanent family.  As such, a robust 
plan and focus on ensuring, where appropriate, permanency for looked after children has 
been a key element in reducing our Looked After Children.

7.3 In order to compare the impact of the proposed permanency allowances a typical week 
was extracted from the payments system Carefirst.  The data from the specific week in 
question showed that a total of 288 payments were made in relation to the above 
allowances. A random sample was then selected in order to use for the comparison.  The 
allowances used for the comparison were after discounting any discretionary paid 
allowances as this was considered to be a representative sample of the total allowances.

7.4 The costs associated with the implementation of the new policy are “in accordance with 
the fundamental underlying aim of the Children Act and other legislative provisions; to 
promote the welfare of children”. On this basis, any carer that currently receives a childs 
allowance of 50% would be eligible to have that allowance increased to 100%. From the 
sample referred to in paragraph 7.3 this currently equates to 165 carers. It is difficult to 
quantify the additional individual cost of the proposed uplift as the allowance is subject to 
a means test.  The worst case scenario has been calculated on the basis that everyone 
will receive the 100% allowance that currently receives the 50% allowance. 

7.5 In the short term there will be an additional indicative cost in the region of £440,000 per 
annum for the period the allowance is granted for. It should be noted that the provision 
for the above increased cost is not accounted for in the £2.4 million budget quoted in 
para 7.1.

7.6 In the longer term due to the changes in the proposed policy and the implementation of a 
more rigorous means test it is anticipated that that the £440,000 quoted in paragraph 7.5 
will be contained within the approved budget.

7.7 If the proposed policy is not implemented then the Council could be subject to legal 
challenge as carer’s should be receiving 100% of the childs allowance. This could have a 
much higher potential cost than that quoted in the above paragraph 7.4 as associated 
legal costs would be incurred.

7.8 Existing carers that currently receive a higher discretionary allowance that was agreed as 
per an order will continue to receive this amount as it is higher than the 100% childs 
allowance that is referred to in the above paragraph.

7.9 Any new carers approved going forward that receive an allowance under the new 
proposed policy will only receive the allowance for a period of two years unless a 
discretionary allowance is granted. Where this is the case, an allowance would only be 
paid until the child turns 18 and not the current age of 21 years.

7.10 Should a child that was previously subject to a Special Guardianship Order or a Child 
Arrangement Order (formerly Residence Order) go on to attend university, then an 

Page 231



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

additional allowance would be payable from the age of 18 until 21 years. Based on the 
current Financial Help for Care leavers at University policy, this would be up to a 
maximum of £500 per month towards accommodation costs along with reimbursement 
for travel costs to and from university each term. It is not possible to quantify the costs 
associated with this at this stage as it is not known how many children will go onto attend 
university. 
[NM/09032017/Q]

8.0 Legal implications

The relevant legislation is set out in the body of the report. In addition the principles from 
the applicable case law has been considered and applied in drafting the policy. Counsel’s 
advice has been sought in relation to the drafting of the policy and its implementation.  In 
terms of the implementation of the policy the focus needs to be upon ensuring that the 
implementation is “in accordance with the fundamental underlying aim of the Children Act 
and other legislative provisions; to promote the welfare of children”

           Advice has been sought from counsel who advises that in order to avoid the risk of 
challenge the new policy will need to be applied to all carers who are currently in receipt 
of 50% of the current fostering allowance under the old scheme/policy. Each carer will 
either need to be written to individually and advised about the new policy and that they 
are entitled to a re-assessment under the new policy if they choose, and that if they are 
assessed to be worse of they will remain in receipt of their current allowance but that the 
following will apply:-

a)  No reduction will take place for a period of time (say two years) in order for them to 
adjust

b) There will be a reduction but it will be staggered over a period to allow for transition
c) There will be no reduction, but also no future increase until such time as the ‘core 

allowance’ as set by the DfE has caught up and natural increases take place thereafter.

It is for the local authority to decide which of the above options they will consider 
however, counsel suggests that option c would be the safest option in terms of 
minimising the risk of challenge.

          
          Carers who are in receipt of an allowance that was agreed as part of care proceedings
          will have to remain in receipt of their current allowance as there is a risk of challenge by 
          way of breach of contract.
         [TC/07032017/T]

  9.0 Equalities implications   

Equality impact assessment has been completed

10.0 Environmental implications

10.1 There are no environmental implications.

Page 232



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

11.0 Human resources implications

11.1 There are no human resource implications

12.0 Corporate landlord implications

12.1 There are no corporate landlord implications

13.0 Schedule of background papers

13.1 Minutes from Pre-Scrutiny Panel on 29th March 2017 (Appendix 1)

 

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank



Financial Support to Carers Offering Legal Permanency to Children Policy

Cllr Val Gibson, Cabinet Member for Children and Young People, introduced the
report.

The Cabinet Member explained the reasons behind the need to review the current
policy towards the amount of financial support to LAC children who become subject
of adoption order, special guardianship orders or child arrangement orders.

The Cabinet Member advised the panel a review in the policy was needed to comply
with current legislation and in response to a judicial review application. A benchmark
review exercise was also undertaken with neighbouring authorities to check that the
level of proposed allowance for permanence orders was consistent.

Alison Hinds, Head of Service, Looked After Children, gave an overview of the main
report and added that the proposed changes would include a more stringent means
test. The Head of Service advised that this work had been based on guidance
provided the Welfare Rights Team in determining the eligibility criteria for financial
support.

The panel queried if option c as listed in para 8 of the report was the preferred
option. The Head of Service confirmed that this proposal was the recommendation
based on the legal advice from legal counsel to avoid the risk of legal challenge.
The panel queried how the plans for payment of allowances will take account of any
Universal Credit allowances paid to carers with reference to the proposed
assessment for calculating financial support detailed in the report. The Head of
Service explained the impact of the changes on applicant receiving either a 
meanstested benefit or those with incomes above the current threshold for eligibility 
for Universal Credit.

The panel welcomed the recognition of the proposals to support families willing to
care for family members. The panel queried the financial support that would be
available to people aged 18-21 who decided that not to go onto university and the
concern that this would put at risk or worse outcomes. The panel wanted
reassurance that young people in this situation would be given every opportunity to
progress.

The Head of Service advised the panel that young people in this situation would be
able to access additional financial support, which is updated annually.

Minutes

The panel queried the risks to the Council if the current policy was not revised.
Emma Bennett, Service Director, Children and Young People, advised the panel that
there was a risk that the policy could be subject to challenge, however changes were
needed to make the policy much clearer and consistent with the legal requirements
as regards the payment of allowances to carers currently in the receipt of a fostering
allowance.

The Service Director advised the panel the impact of the policy changes will be

Page 235



monitored and progress reported.

Resolved:

1. The panel supported the proposed changes to the financial allowances
paid to carers of children subject to adoption, special guardianship or child
arrangement orders.

2. The panel comments on the proposed changes to be included in the report
to Cabinet meeting on 26 April 2017.

Page 236



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet Meeting
26 April 2017

Report title Re-organisation of Educational Provision

Decision designation AMBER
Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor C Darke
Education

Key decision Yes

In forward plan Yes

Wards affected All

Accountable director Linda Sanders, People

Originating service School Planning and Resources

Accountable employee(s) Bill Hague

Tel
Email

Acting Head of School Planning and 
Resources
01902 555100
bill.hague@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by Education Leadership Team

Strategic Executive Board
20 March 2017
28 March 2017

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Approve the commencement of Informal Consultation on the proposed merger of Springdale 
Infant School with Springdale Junior School.

2. Delegate authority to the Cabinet Member for Education, in consultation with the Assistant 
Director School Standards, to consider the outcome of Informal Consultation on the 
proposed merger of Springdale Infant School with Springdale Junior School and to 
determine whether or not to proceed to Formal Consultation.

The Cabinet is asked to note:

1. The position at Christ Church CE Infant and Nursery School and Christ Church CE Junior 
School.

Page 237

Agenda Item No: 15



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To introduce the proposal to merge Springdale Infant School with Springdale Junior 
School and to seek approval to commence a period of Informal Consultation on the 
proposal.

1.2 To provide an update regarding the current position at Christ Church CE Infant and 
Nursery School and Christ Church CE Junior School.

2.0 Background

2.1 Strategic policy regarding the organisation of primary school provision in the City is 
outlined within the Council’s Primary School Organisation Strategy 2016-2018 (PSOS). 
This Strategy was approved by Cabinet in July 2016 following consultation with key 
stakeholders.

2.2 The PSOS recommends that, “… the Council invites responsible bodies (e.g. Governing 
Bodies or Trusts) to consider the merger or amalgamation of infant and junior schools 
whenever the Headship of a school becomes vacant. For mergers to be considered, the 
leadership of the establishment that is proposed for expansion must be at least ‘Good’.” 
(PSOS 2016).

2.3 The PSOS outlines a number of advantages of bringing infant and junior schools together, 
including:

 “Reducing the number of major transitions that pupils face
 Reducing the likelihood of lost learning at the beginning of Key Stage 2
 Increasing the opportunity for specialist teachers to work with a wider range of pupils
 Providing the opportunity for a consistent approach to the curriculum to be adopted
 Ensuring the continuity of teaching, learning and achievement
 Cost savings through economies of scale” (PSOS 2016).

2.4 The PSOS explains that, “The ‘merger’ of infant and junior schools is the process of 
joining the schools together by discontinuing one establishment and expanding and 
altering the age range of the other.” (PSOS 2016).

2.5 The PSOS explains that where intervention is required, “The Council will consider 
proposing the adoption of structural solutions (including both federation and sponsored 
academy status) in order to improve standards in underperforming schools” (PSOS 
2016).

Page 238



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3.0 Springdale Infant School and Springdale Junior School

3.1 Springdale Infant School is a mixed Community school that caters for children aged 
between 3 and 7 years, co-located with Springdale Junior School in Warstones Drive, 
Merry Hill Ward. The School currently offers 60 places in Reception and Year 2, operates 
a bulge class of 75 places in Year 1 and has a 60 place nursery.  

3.2 Springdale Infant School was inspected by Ofsted in January and February 2017 and 
was judged to be a school which ‘Requires Improvement’. The current school inspection 
dashboard lists weaknesses in progress and attainment for all children including 
disadvantaged groups in Early Years Foundation Stage and Key Stage 1. 

The School was categorised as B1 in September 2016 and moved from B1 to B2 at the 
end of the Autumn Term 2016. A pre-warning letter and re-categorisation to a C was 
issued following a Local Authority review of the school in early February 2017. 

3.3 Springdale Junior School is a mixed Community school that caters for children aged 
between 7 and 11 years, co-located with Springdale Infant School in Warstones Drive, 
Merry Hill Ward. The School currently offers 60 places per year group in Years 3 - 6 (240 
places in total).  The School was judged ‘Good’ by Ofsted in June 2014 and is an LA 
Category A school.

3.4 Representatives of the Education Department have recently brokered arrangements for 
the Headteacher of Springdale Junior School to support Springdale Infant School as the 
Interim Headteacher. 

3.5 Proposed Merger of Springdale Infant School with Springdale Junior School:

3.5.1 Cabinet are recommended to approve the commencement of Informal Consultation on 
the proposal to merge Springdale Infant School with Springdale Junior School to create a 
Primary School for children aged 3 to 11 years with effect from 1 January 2018.

3.5.2 When proposing to merge schools, Local Authorities must follow statutory processes and 
timescales as outlined in The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained 
Schools (England) Regulations 2013 and The School Organisation (Establishment and 
Discontinuance of Schools) Regulations 2013.  To enable the proposed merger;

 Springdale Infant School would be discontinued on 31 December 2017.
 The age range of Springdale Junior School would be altered from 7 to 11 years to 3 to 

11 years with effect from 1 January 2018.
 The recorded capacity of Springdale Junior School would be expanded to include the 

physical capacity of Springdale Infant School’s buildings with effect from 1 January 
2018.

3.5.3  The statutory consultation processes and the potential timeline for decision making can be 
found in Section 4 of this report.

Page 239



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3.6 Future Provision:

3.6.1 If the proposal to merge Springdale Infant School with Springdale Junior School is 
ultimately approved:

 All pupils on roll as at the 31 December 2017 would automatically transfer to the 
Primary School.

 The Primary School would have 60 places per year group in Reception to Year 6 with 
the exception of Year 2 (2017/18 academic year) which has 75 places (bulge class 
feeding through the school).

 Members of staff at Springdale Infant School would transfer to the Primary School 
(Teaching and Non-Teaching Trade Union Representatives will be fully engaged in the 
consultation process should Cabinet choose to proceed).

 The Primary School would be located in the existing buildings of Springdale Infant 
School and Springdale Junior School.

3.7 Action to Date:

3.7.1 In light of the position outlined above, representatives of the Education Department have  
met with Governors of both Springdale Infant School and Springdale Junior School to 
discuss potential options for closer collaboration and to outline the proposal.  

4.0 Potential Consultation and Decision Making Timeline

4.1 As indicated above, when proposing to merge schools, authorities must follow statutory 
processes and timescales.  Should the proposal proceed the following indicative timeline 
would apply:

8 May 2017 – 25 June 2017 (Stage 1 – Informal Consultation – 7 weeks)
 Informal Consultation with stakeholders including pupils, parents, staff and Governors.

July 2017
The Cabinet Member for Education in consultation with the Assistant Director School 
Standards, considers the outcome of Informal Consultation and determines whether or not 
to proceed to the next stage of the process.

11 September 2017 (Stage 2 – Publication)
If the Council decides to continue, a public notice would be published summarising the 
proposal.  A copy of the Full Proposal and the reasoning behind it would also be made 
available.

11 September 2017 – 8 October 2017 (Stage 3 – Formal Consultation – 4 weeks)
Formal Consultation period (Representation) – Offers stakeholders the opportunity to 
make formal comments or objections regarding the proposal.

Page 240



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

29 November 2017 (Stage 4 – Decision)
The Cabinet of the Council would consider the outcome of consultation and make a final 
decision on the proposals. This decision would then be subject to a four week appeals 
period.

1 January 2018 (Stage 5 – Implementation)
Subject to approval, proposals would be implemented as published.

5.0 Christ Church CE Infant and Nursery School and Christ Church CE Junior School

5.1 Christ Church CE Infant and Nursery School is a mixed voluntary controlled school that 
caters for children aged between 3 and 7 years, located in Shaw Lane, Tettenhall 
Wightwick Ward. The School offers 60 places per year group in Reception to Year 2 (180 
places in total) and has a 72 place nursery.  The School was judged ‘Good’ by Ofsted in 
March 2017. 

5.2 The Headteacher of Christ Church CE Infant and Nursery School is due to retire on 31 
August 2017.

5.3 Christ Church CE Junior School is a mixed voluntary controlled school that caters for 
children aged between 7 and 11 years, located in Woodcote Road, Tettenhall Wightwick 
Ward. The School offers 64 places per year group in Years 3 - 6 (256 places in total).  
The School was judged ‘Good’ by Ofsted in July 2013.  

5.4 In line with the Council’s strategic policy detailed within the Primary School Organisation 
Strategy 2016–2018, representatives of the Education Department in partnership with 
school leaders and Governors have reviewed the potential for future closer collaboration 
between the two schools. Having considered the arguments presented, Officers do not 
believe that implementing a structural solution (such as merger or amalgamation) at this 
time would support the success of the two schools. However, officers are happy to 
commend a federation between the Governing Bodies of Christ Church CE Infant and 
Nursery School and Christ Church CE Junior School. 

6.0 Financial implications

6.1 The proposed merger of the schools would provide opportunities for efficiency savings 
and maximise the use of school resources. The Local Authority schools funding formula 
includes a lump sum payment of £125,000 per school so the proposed merger would 
eventually release £125,000 of the Dedicated Schools Grant which would be available for 
allocation across the remaining schools in the city. In the year of conversion, the primary 
school would retain the full allocations originally made to the separate schools.   A 
transitional year then follows, where the primary school would receive a proportion of 
lump sum that would equate to £87,500, in addition to its own £125,000 lump sum. 
[DB/07042017/D]

Page 241



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

7.0 Legal implications

7.1 The legal implications arising from this report are stated in the body of the report.  In 
addition, any proposals to alter the structure of school provision in the area would need 
to comply with the detailed provisions in the Education and Inspections Act 2006 to 
ensure sufficient consultation is undertaken and that relevant stakeholders are notified of 
the proposal/decisions in a timely manner.
[RB/13032017/H]

8.0 Equalities implications

8.1 This report has equal opportunity implications as the contents have direct reference to 
educational provision for children and young people in the city.

8.2 Consultation would form part of the Equality Impact Assessment.  As part of this 
consultation the views of a range of stakeholders including; pupils, parents/carers, school 
staff, Headteachers, School Governors, Trade Union Representatives, Local Councillors, 
Members of Parliament and Diocesan Authorities would be sought. 

9.0 Environmental implications

9.1 There are no environmental implications to this report.

10.0 Human resources implications

10.1 The members of staff of the schools in scope are employed by the Local Authority, there 
would therefore be no transfer of employment and it is anticipated that terms and 
conditions of employment would remain unaffected. It may however, be required to 
review the leadership structures of the schools. The appropriate HR policy and process 
would be followed ensuring consultation with the affected staff, should the proposal be 
adopted. 

11.0 Corporate landlord implications

11.1 Given the nature of the buildings we would not expect to undertake any physical changes 
to the buildings as part of this proposal. Springdale Infants and Springdale Junior are 
already physically linked and share a reception point, parking etc. Subject to approval , 
the asset register would be updated to reflect the establishment change.

12.0 Schedule of background papers

 Christ Church CE Infant and Nursery School Ofsted Inspecion Report – 1 March 2017 
(www.ofsted.gov.uk)

 Christ Church CE Junior School Ofsted Inspection Report – 16 & 17 July 2013 
(www.ofsted.gov.uk)

 Springdale Infant School Ofsted Inspection Report – 18 January 2017 & 7 February 2017 
(www.ofsted.gov.uk)

Page 242



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 Springdale Junior Ofsted Inspection Report – 17 & 18 June 2014 (www.ofsted.gov.uk)
 Cabinet (20 July 2016) School Place Planning (Primary School Organisation Strategy 

2016 – 2018)

Page 243



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Outcome of Children's Services Ofsted Inspection and Ofsted Action Plan
	6 Outcome of the Local Government Association Corporate Peer Review
	Item 6 - Corporate Peer Review Appendix A
	Item 6 - Corporate Peer Review Appendix B

	7 Better Care Fund Section 75 Agreement (Pooled Budget 2017-18) & Additional Adult Social Care monies announced during the Spring 2017 Budget statement
	8 Connected Places Strategy Summary Document
	Item 7 - Connected Places Strategy v4 - Appendix 1

	9 Transportation Capital Programme - 2017/18 and future years
	10 Heath Town Regeneration Project
	Item 9 - Heath Town Regeneration Project Appendix 1

	11 Long Term Empty properties back into use - proposed pilot
	12 Adult Social Care Peer Challenge - Improvement Action Plan
	Item 12 - Adult Social Care Peer Review Appendix 1
	Item 12 - Adult Social Care Peer Review Appendix 2

	13 People Directorate Commissioning Strategy
	Item 13 - People commissioning strategy Appendix 1 (002)

	14 Financial Support to Carers of Children Subject to Adoption, Special Guardianship or Child Arrangement Orders
	Item 14 - Financial Support to Carers of Children - Appendix 1

	15 Re-organisation of Educational Provision

